A Practical Guide

to Compensation
Committee Service:
Lessons from the Field



A Practical Guide to
Compensation
Committee Service:
Lessons from the Field




© 2017 by Compensation Advisory Partners
1133 Avenue of the Americas 14th Floor
New York, NY 10036

www.capartnhers.com

Printed in the United States of America
Second Edition
ISBN 978-0-9861858-0-9



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 3

“A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the
Field”

Compensation Advisory Partners

Abstract: Compensation committees are increasingly under external scru-
tiny and shareholder pressure from Say on Pay. For new and incumbent
compensation committee members, it is more important than ever that
they get things “right.” For many directors, service on the compensation
committee may be somewhat foreign. While they may have interacted
with the committee occasionally as an executive, it is unlikely that com-
pensation was a primary area of their focus. In order to help committee
members learn from the experience of others, we have created this guide
to address key aspects of compensation committee service. The guide has
been developed based on interviews with current and former compen-
sation committee chairs at major U.S. public companies, as well as over
100 years of the authors’ combined experience as consultants advising
compensation committees on all aspects of their duties.

The focus of this guide is not on the technical aspects of executive com-
pensation design. Instead, our emphasis is on understanding how suc-
cessful compensation committees structure their activities to address
their responsibilities effectively. Not all of these committees use the same
process or approach, but there are key characteristics that they share.
In each chapter, we will reference real excerpts from our interviews and
our experiences as advisors to illustrate what committees need to do and
need to avoid in order to get it “right.”



4 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Eric Hosken, Partner
Lead Author and Editor
eric.hosken@capartners.com

Eric Hosken is a partner in Compensation
Advisory Partners LLC (CAP) in New York. He has
approximately 20 years of executive compensa-
tion consulting experience working with senior
management and Compensation Committees
on all aspects of executive compensation,

including total compensation review, annual
and long-term incentive design, performance
measurement and director compensation. He has worked with public
and private companies across multiple industries, including financial
services, manufacturing, professional services, pharmaceutical and
telecommunications. Eric is a frequent speaker on executive compensa-
tion topics and has written articles for numerous publications, including
CNBC.com, Executive Counsel, HR People & Strategy and World@Work's
workspan.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 5

Co-Authors:

Melissa Burek, Partner

Melissa L. Burek is a Partner in Compensation
Advisory Partners in New York. She has over 18
years of experience, consulting with CEOs,
boards, and company management. She has
significant experience in the insurance, auto-
motive and consumer products industries. She

consults in all areas of executive compensation,
including strategy, incentive plan design,
performance measurement linkages, governance/regulatory issues and
director compensation. She has overseen best practices studies with
Fortune 100 companies and is a frequent speaker on executive compen-
sation issues and trends.

Peter T. Chingos, Senior Partner

Peter T. Chingos is a nationally recognized
executive compensation consultant and is the
senior founding Partner of Compensation
Advisory Partners in New York. He consults with
CEOs, boards of directors, and company
management in all major industries on a wide

range of executive compensation and human
resources issues.



6 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Margaret Engel, Partner

Margaret Engel is a Partner in Compensation
Advisory Partners in New York. She has provided
board and management executive compensa-
tion consulting services for over 20 years.
Margaret has broad experience, with particular
experience in retail, consumer products and

telecom industries. She has consulted in all
aspects of executive compensation and
program design, including IPOs, mergers, spin-offs and other corporate
transactions.

Dan Laddin, Partner

Dan Laddin is a Partner in Compensation
Advisory Partners in New York, with approxi-
mately 20 years of experience consulting to
management and compensation committees,
prior to which he was a CPA. He works with
Boards and management, consulting in all areas

of executive compensation, including annual
and long-term incentive design, performance
measurement, target-setting, regulatory/compliance, as well as outside
director compensation programs. He has experience working with both
private and public companies across industries.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 7

Kelly Malafis, Partner

Kelly Malafis is a Partner in Compensation
Advisory Partners in New York. She has approxi-
mately 20 years of executive compensation
consulting experience working with compensa-
tion committees and senior management
teams. Kelly has worked with both large and

small publicly traded companies across a variety
of industries, consulting on all areas of execu-
tive and board of director compensation. Kelly has also provided advice
on compensation issues for privately-held companies and companies
with special circumstances such as spin-offs and IPOs.

Rose Marie Orens, Senior Partner

Rose Marie Orens is a Partner in Compensation
Advisory Partners located in New York. She has
consulted on executive and director compensa-
tion issues for over 20 years, with a focus on
tying executive compensation to business
strategy and enhancing the linkage between

performance measurement and rewards. She
specializes in working with company manage-
ment, compensation committees and boards across industries, with
particular expertise in the financial services industry.



8 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Table of Contents

1.

Introduction ... 11

Part 1. Committee Processes

NO TR NN

Joining the Compensation Committee......................... ... 19
The Compensation Committee Chair........................... .. 25
The Compensation Committee Charter ... ... 31
The Annual Committee Process ... 37
Committee Meeting Process ... 41
External AdVisors ... 49

Part 2. The Basics of Executive Compensation Design

8.
O.

10.
11.
12.
13.
14.

Compensation Objectives ... 63
Compensation Philosophy ... 65
Peer GroUPpS ...l 77
Annual Incentive Design ... 81
Long-Term Incentive Design ... 97
Executive Perquisites.................. ... 124

Executive Retirement Benefits ... 128



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 9

15.
16.
17.

18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.

Deferred Compensation........................................ 134
IRC Section 409A ... .. ... 138
Employment Agreements and Executive Severance ... . . 140
Compensation Policies that Support Good Governance ... 146
CEOPay. .. ... . 154
The Proxy Statementand CD&A ... ... 162
Director Compensation........................................... 166
Compensation Risk Review...................................... 174
Leadership Development and Succession Planning ... . 179
Conclusions ... 183






A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 11

Chapter 1. Introduction

The role of the compensation committee has been continuously evolving,
and the pace of change has only increased over the past decade. With
the bursting of the dot-com bubble in the early 2000s and the financial
crisis of 2008—-2009, increased attention has been paid to corporate gov-
ernance in general. Specifically, there has been a heightened focus on the
potential for compensation programs to create inappropriate incentives
for executive management to take on excessive risk or focus on short-
term performance at the expense of long-term returns to shareholders.

Corporate governance reforms legislated by Congress and enforced by
the SEC have changed the nature of the compensation committee. Since
the 2010 proxy season, companies have been required to disclose the
specific qualifications of board and committee members that make them
capable of fulfilling their board service role, as well as why they are quali-
fied to serve on particular committees.

The Dodd-Frank legislation of 2010 introduced several new rules that
have direct impacts on compensation committee members. Dodd-Frank
mandated that compensation committee members meet independence
criteria similar to those applied to audit committee members. Compen-
sation committees have also become empowered to hire their own advi-
sors and are responsible for reviewing specific independence criteria for
the advisors they employ. To date, however, the governance reform with
the greatest impact on corporate America has been the requirement that
management “Say on Pay” proposals be submitted to shareholders for in-
clusion in a company'’s proxy statement. Management Say on Pay provides
shareholders with the opportunity to vote “yes” or “no” on a company'’s
executive compensation program. While this vote must be held at least
once every three years, the majority of large companies have opted to
hold the vote on an annual basis. The vote is non-binding; that is, the
company does not need to make changes to its compensation program in
response to the vote. However, companies are expected to disclose what
response, if any, the company has made to the shareholder vote result.



12 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

And while the vote lacks any direct legal effect, failing to respond can cre-
ate reputational risks for board members.

In practice, companies that have received less than 70%—-75% support are
viewed by shareholder advisory groups (e.g., Institutional Shareholder
Services “ISS” and Glass-Lewis) as having fared poorly on the vote. As a
result, they are expected to make substantial changes to their executive
compensation programs, improve the pay-for-performance relationship,
adopt shareholder-friendly compensation practices (e.g., stock owner-
ship guidelines, anti-hedging policies, clawbacks), and engage in commu-
nications with major shareholders. If they are not viewed as adequately
responsive to a poor vote result, ISS and Glass-Lewis may recommend
“withhold” votes for compensation committee members at the next annu-
al meeting. More disturbingly, companies that have failed to gain majority
support for their executive compensation programs have in some cases
found themselves vulnerable to shareholder lawsuits (e.g., Beazer Homes
USA, Inc., Cincinnati Bell, Inc., and Jacobs Engineering Group, Inc.), where
plaintiffs have claimed that directors breached their fiduciary duties or
that the company provided inadequate disclosure for purposes of the
shareholder vote. While several of the lawsuits have been dismissed, other
cases (e.g., Martha Stewart Living Omnimedia, Inc., NeoStem, Inc., Applied
Materials, Inc., and WebMD Health Corp.) have been settled to avoid the
cost and nuisance of defending against a potentially embarrassing lawsuit.

In the past, compensation committees were criticized for lacking true in-
dependence and for being overly supportive of management. The public
perception was that CEOs were essentially setting their own pay levels by
packing the board with cronies who would rubber stamp any proposal
put before them. Highly publicized cases of poor compensation practices,
including the stock options backdating scandal (e.g., UnitedHealth and KB
Home), excessive incentive compensation prior to the financial crisis (e.g.,
Bear Stearns, Countrywide Financial, and Lehman Brothers), and excessive
pension payments and severance (e.g., Grasso at the NYSE) have rightly
contributed to shareholder skepticism about executive pay.

Consequently, compensation committees have become much more
skeptical of management recommendations on compensation. Manage-



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 13

ment now knows that any compensation program they propose will have
to pass muster with a more critically minded compensation committee,
flanked by independent advisors. As a result, many management teams
have become less aggressive in their proposals to committees, and most
committees find themselves balancing the objective of providing man-
agement with an effective compensation program with the need to ensure
that the provisions do not aggravate external and internal constituencies
(e.g., shareholders, employees, shareholder advisory groups, or the press).

To go along with the increased scrutiny is a steadily growing workload. As
the responsibilities of the compensation committee have grown in num-
ber, the demands on the committee's members in terms of time commit-
ment and workload have increased. The number of scheduled meetings
for a compensation committee may range from 4-6 meetings per year,
but it is our experience that the average length of a meeting has increased.
Additionally, more time-consuming than the meetings themselves is the
preparation for the meetings. Compensation committee materials have
become progressively more comprehensive and detailed over time as
committees have increased the rigor of their reviews. For highly regulated
financial services firms, compensation committee materials can include
hundreds of pages covering compensation risk assessments alone.

With this as background, one may ask “Why would | want to serve on the
compensation committee of a public company?” It is our view that com-
pensation does matter, and service on the committee does allow a mem-
ber to make a meaningful contribution to the company. Additionally, a
new compensation committee member can provide a fresh perspective
on existing practices. Certainly, the focus of shareholder advisory groups
and plaintiffs’ attorneys is often on all that can go wrong with execu-
tive compensation. But we believe that when compensation programs
are designed correctly, they provide the company with a valuable man-
agement tool that can help attract and retain top talent, drive long-term
performance, and effectively align the interests of management and
shareholders. While compensation committee members do not need to
be experts in executive compensation, they do need to apply their under-
standing of the company’s business model and its strategic objectives to



14 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

ensure that the compensation designs they approve serve to advance the
company'’s mission.

Compensation committees help ensure that the board of directors carries
out its fiduciary duty to shareholders to use their resources in an efficient
manner. The goal of the compensation committee is not to minimize the
cost of compensation to the company. Instead, the committee needs to
make sure that it uses compensation wisely. If it does, it will successfully
attract the right kind of executives and focus them on the activities that will
improve the performance of the company and lead to greater shareholder
value over time. Many compensation committees are also responsible for
leadership development and succession planning. A well-designed com-
pensation program can aid in leadership development by supporting the
attraction and retention of critical talent and by maintaining the flexibility
required to differentiate pay for employees with high, long-term value to
the organization.

The committee needs to be vigilant to ensure that the company’s execu-
tive compensation program is not going to expose the company to multi-
ple risks. When executive compensation programs go wrong, they can be
a source of embarrassment for management and board members. Com-
pensation scandals can turn into a distraction that diverts management'’s
and the board'’s attention away from running the business to addressing
the external criticism directed at the company by shareholder advisory
groups, the press, and/or plaintiffs’ attorneys.

We are writing this book to provide compensation committee members
with information that we think will help to make you more effective in
your role and make your job a little easier. We try to avoid going too deep
into the technical weeds of executive compensation (e.g., tax rules such
as 409A, 162(m), 83b election, 10b5-1, etc.). Instead, our focus will be on
the mindsets, activities, and processes that lead to the creation of suc-
cessful compensation committees. The first part of this book focuses on
compensation committee processes and requirements. The second part
provides an overview of the material that may come before the commit-
tee over the course of a year and identifies key questions that committee
members should have in mind when reviewing each topic. This section is



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 15

intended to serve as reference material, and we do not recommend trying
to wade through it in one sitting.

Our thoughts are informed by interviews with compensation committee
members that have particularly impressed us over the years, as well as
our experiences observing compensation committees in action as con-
sultants.

We asked these committee members to share the benefits of their experi-
ence with us by answering the following questions:

* What has worked well for you in your committee service?

* What do you view as the best practice for setting up the annual calen-
dar, prepping for a meeting, running the meeting, etc.?

* How should a committee structure its relationship with management?

* How does the committee deal with differing points of view within the
group?

* How does the committee evaluate its own performance?
* What were the most challenging aspects of committee service?

¢ How did the committee interact with shareholders?

We would like to thank Ed Campbell, Tony Coelho, Lewis Campbell, Peter
Haje, Gary Heminger, Charles Hinkaty, Jill Kanin-Lovers, Gil Ray, and John
McDonnell for sharing their perspectives with us on what makes com-
pensation committees most effective. We would also like to thank all of
the compensation committee members we have learned from over our
careers, as well as our past and present colleagues. For specific help in
putting together these materials, we would like to thank Lauren Peek, Mi-
chael Bonner, and Joanna Czyzewski for their research assistance, along
with other CAP staff members who contributed to the development of our
100-company research.



16 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field



PART I.
Committee Processes






A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 19

Chapter 2. Joining the
Compensation Committee

Joining the compensation committee is very much like taking on a part-
time job in a new professional field. Most compensation committee mem-
bers have been exposed to compensation as a topic over the course of
their professional careers — at the very least, as a participant in executive
compensation programs. In the case of CEOs or other managers, they
may have had more in-depth knowledge based on experience making
compensation decisions, but much of their exposure may be specific to
the context of their own companies.

Like anyone coming into a new role, new committee members will have to
educate themselves about their position. At the bare minimum, any new
member of the committee should do a thorough review of the company’s
proxy statement to get a baseline understanding of how the company’s
compensation program works and how the company describes its com-
pensation program to shareholders. Beyond the baseline understanding
of compensation, new members (particularly new board members) need
to make sure they have a clear understanding of the company'’s business
and business strategy. Only with this foundational knowledge can a com-
mittee member begin to assess if the compensation programs that the
company has are effective in supporting its business objectives.

However, only so much of director orientation can be accomplished by
self-education. Directors we spoke to said that there is, by necessity, go-
ing to be a period of acclimation upon joining the committee. “New mem-
bers need to get the lay of the land,” according to Jill Kanin-Lovers, who
chairs the compensation committees of Dot Foods and Heidrick & Strug-
gles. Even directors with extensive experience dealing with compensation
or serving on other committees need to get a sense of the new commit-
tee’s culture. Directors we interviewed highlight the importance of un-
derstanding the “unwritten rules” of how the committee operates. Does
the committee directly confront difficult issues with management in the
room, or does it wait until the executive session to address them? Does
the committee chair encourage free-form discussion among the mem-



20 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

bers or does he/she limit discussion to the specific agenda item? Where
do different committee members make the greatest contributions? Tony
Coelho, chairman of the compensation committee at Warren Resources,
emphasized that new directors “really need to listen and ask questions” as
they work to understand committee dynamics.

Two key points of contact can make the onboarding process run smooth-
ly: the head of human resources (or a designee from the compensation
function) and the compensation committee chair. It is critical that man-
agement assist in the onboarding process by providing new members
with background material and context on the executive compensation
programs and past committee meetings. Some companies will also set up
a meeting between new members and the committee’s external advisors.

Required Reading / Homework

When joining the committee, human resources should provide the new
member with the following information:

1. Company's Proxy Statement: Reading the Compensation Discus-
sion & Analysis ("CD&A") provides the new member with an overview
of the compensation program and a view to how the company de-
scribes the program to its shareholders.

2. Overview of Executive Compensation Program: Management should

have a summary document or documents that lay out the following
key pieces of information:

Compensation philosophy

Executive salary structure

Annual incentive design

Long-term incentive design, including termination provisions
Executive perquisites and benefits

Executive contracts

Change in control agreements

Stock ownership guidelines

Stock trading rules including anti-hedging

Se ~0 000w

Incentive compensation clawbacks

—



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 21

3. Summary of Executive Compensation Benchmarking: It is essential
to review the results of any external studies of the competitiveness of
the company’s executive compensation program relative to the mar-
ket, including information on the peer group.

4. Compensation Committee Charter: This is a publicly available docu-
ment that lays out the purpose, responsibilities, and functions of the
compensation committee.

5. Compensation Committee Annual Calendar: The calendar includes
the schedule of meetings and the key activities of each meeting.

The head of human resources should schedule a meeting with the new
compensation committee member to walk through the compensation
philosophy and program. Ideally, the management representative will be
a regular participant in compensation committee meetings so he/she will
be able to provide broader context on how the company arrived at the
current compensation philosophy and program.

Debrief with Compensation Committee Chair

Spending time with the current compensation committee chair prior to
the first committee meeting is a great opportunity to get a more prac-
tical understanding of how the committee functions. While the written
record of the committee minutes provides a high-level summary of what
the committee has been doing, the chair can supply a more comprehen-
sive context to the new member. Every committee has its own history and
dynamics. The chair can describe the main issues that the committee has
struggled with over time and provide an expectation of what topics the
committee will address in upcoming meetings.

Every committee has its own working style. Most committees have a sup-
portive and advisory relationship with management, but depending on
the history and the players involved, there could be a more confronta-
tional dynamic over compensation levels or the pay-and-performance
relationship. The company may have legacy compensation practices that
the committee is trying to move away from over time. The chair can give



22 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

the new member perspective on what the committee’s collective view
on the compensation program is. What works well in the compensation
program? What doesn’t work in the committee’s view? Where have they
heard “"noise” around the compensation program from shareholders and/
or shareholder advisory groups?

Committee Dynamics

The committee chair can also provide some basic background on how the
committee members interact with one another and with management.
Generally, the compensation committee chair is the point person for in-
teraction with management, the other committee members, the board,
and the external advisors. The chair is responsible for setting the agenda
for the year and each meeting and making sure that the committee moves
through the agenda in a timely manner during the meetings.

The chair has unique insights on the strengths and styles of the different
committee members (e.g., who is vocal, who reads the materials in ad-
vance, who has strong points of view, etc.). He/she can also let new com-
mittee members in on the meeting structure and dynamics. What does
the committee discuss in front of management and what do they reserve
for executive session? Do the external advisors participate in executive
session?

Formal Training

Some new committee members find it helpful to participate in formal
board education programs. Training for committee and board members
is provided by associations of directors (e.g., The National Association of
Corporate Directors or Corporate Board Member). Their training sessions
geared towards compensation committees are generally conducted by
seasoned compensation consultants, attorneys, and corporate heads of
executive compensation or human resources. These training programs
serve a dual purpose. First, they allow committee members to receive for-
mal education in the topic of executive compensation. And second, they
allow directors to network with compensation committee members from
other organizations to share their experience and best practices.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 23

Your Role on the Committee

Unless you are the compensation committee chair, you will not have spe-
cific responsibilities assigned to you on the committee aside from reading
the materials and actively participating in the committee meetings. Based
on our discussions with committee members and our own observations,
we would say that new members nevertheless have a unique opportunity
to contribute to the committee. A critical advantage that new members
have upon joining the committee is that they can provide fresh perspec-
tives based on their own experiences and points of view. A new member
will not be invested in the current approach to compensation and may be
more inclined to question the status quo.

Beyond a different perspective, each new member of the committee brings
unique experience. You need to figure out how you can best add value to
the committee. If you have a finance background, you may want to focus
extra attention on the company’s selection of performance metrics and
the goal-setting process. If you have spent time managing a large orga-
nization, you may offer a strong perspective on leadership development
and succession planning. If you have functioned as the CEO of a public
company, you may have ideas to offer up about differentiating individual
pay with performance. If you have industry expertise, you may be able to
offer up views about which compensation practices fit the industry best
or information about what the competition is doing. As Charlie Hinkaty,
chair of the compensation committee at Prestige Brands said, as a new
member you should be “willing to assert yourself, but with the support of
facts and data.”






A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 25

Chapter 3. The Compensation
Committee Chair

The best compensation committee chairs understand that while they are
in a leadership role, their job is not to make decisions on the compensa-
tion design for the committee as a whole. Instead, their role is to facilitate
the process around making those compensation decisions by ensuring
the committee has 1) the right information and external advice to make
informed decisions; 2) enough time to consider decisions; and 3) input
from all of the committee members.

Unlike other committee members who primarily participate at the meet-
ings themselves, the chair needs to be proactive in interacting with man-
agement and consultants throughout the year, establishing the commit-
tee’s annual calendar, and preparing for each individual meeting. Itis up to
the chair to determine what areas management will take the lead on and,
alternatively, where the committee will assert itself. The chair will decide
what analyses fall under management’s purview and what should be done
by the committee’s consultant or external legal advisor.

When special circumstances arise (e.g., a CEO transition, a merger, orama-
jor acquisition), it is up to the committee chair to schedule special meet-
ings to address the issue and to work with the committee’s advisors and
management to complete the required analyses. In the business-as-usual
mode, the workload of the chair may only be two or three times as heavy
as that of other committee members. However, when special issues arise
(particularly with a CEO transition), the workload of the compensation
committee chair can be very intense for a significant period.

Keys to Success for a Chair

Communicate Effectively with Management: While the chair needs to be
independent from management in his/her decision-making, it is import-
ant that the committee chair have open lines of communication with the
head of human resources and the CEO. Frequent communication with the
head of human resources is necessary to ensure that the calendar for the



26 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

year addresses the committee’s needs and that the agenda and materi-
als for each meeting are in place to support the committee’s activities.
Jill Kanin-Lovers pointed out that this can be a challenge for the head
of human resources: “The head of human resources is in a tough spot in
terms of being between their boss and the committee. They need to try to
be balanced in their views and objective.” Open communication with the
head of human resources about the committee’s expectations may help
to strengthen this relationship.

The committee may be solely responsible for approving the company's
compensation program, but it is critical to remember that the compen-
sation program is a valuable management tool to focus management on
achieving the company’s business strategy. If the committee chair does
not have adequate communication with the CEO, the compensation
committee may end up pushing for a compensation design that is ineffec-
tive in addressing the company'’s needs, or management may advocate a
compensation design that is going to be unacceptable to the committee.
In the best-run committees, the chair has frequent communication with
the CEO to understand how the CEO is trying to use compensation to
motivate and reward his or her team. Without this communication, the
compensation committee may be making its decisions in the dark.

Solicit Input from the Committee: Effective committees do not exist when
the chair functions as a near dictator and the rest of the committee blind-
ly follows the chair’s lead. “The culture on the board carries over to the
committee”, said Ed Campbell, former chair of the compensation and or-
ganization committees at KeyCorp. If the board is generally assertive in
challenging management when there is a difference of opinion, that will
likely carry over to the committee. If the board tends to defer to man-
agement, it is likely that the committee will tend to defer to management
on compensation issues as well. Still, according to Jill Kanin-Lovers, “The
committee chair has a lot to do with the culture of the committee.” The
committee chair can influence the culture of the committee by choosing
to be either directive or inclusive with other committee members in mov-
ing through the agenda and making decisions; our view is that effective
chairs lean more towards inclusivity.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 27

Effective chairs recognize the need to get input from all the members of
the committee. During committee meetings, the chair should pause be-
fore any votes or approvals to solicit input from members of the commit-
tee. While most committee members are not shy about expressing their
views, discerning chairs do not confuse silence with consent. Some mem-
bers of the committee are vocal and others are more withdrawn. The ac-
tive committee chair will work to ensure that each member has an oppor-
tunity to ask questions and provide opinions before a vote is taken. Gary
Heminger, former human capital and compensation committee chair at
Fifth Third Bancorp, said the committee chair can “draw people out” and
know where particular committee members are likely to be able to make
a valuable contribution to the discussion based on their experiences or
background.

For any decisions that are particularly difficult, it is generally a best prac-
tice to take the vote during executive session without management pres-
ent to facilitate an open discussion among the committee members. And
as Charlie Hinkaty emphasized, “On all important matters, keep talking
until the committee achieves unanimity.”

Complete Committee Self-Evaluations: As part of the annual process, the
committee is required to do a self-evaluation. The committee chair should
take advantage of this opportunity to understand the effectiveness of its
current processes and gain insight into ways that they could be improved.
A sample committee self-evaluation is provided on the following page.



28 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Sample Compensation Committee Self-Evaluation

Rating Scale: 1 = Strongly Disagree; 2 = Disagree;
3 = Neither Agree nor Disagree; 4 = Agree; 5 = Strongly Agree

Evaluation Statement Rating/Comments

1. The committee understands its role and
responsibilities.

2. Information provided by management, our
consultant, and our counsel allows the
committee to effectively make decisions.

3. The length and frequency of each committee
meeting allows the committee to meet its
objectives in a timely fashion.

4. The committee is comfortable with the
compensation committee charter.

5. The committee agrees with the actions taken
in the last 12 months.

6. The committee understands and is
comfortable with the compensation
philosophy.

7. The committee is comfortable with the
executive compensation program and
believes it will continue to attract and retain
top-tier talent.

8. The executive compensation program aligns
executive pay with shareholder interests.

9. The committee is comfortable with the type
and level of compensation and benefits the
CEO receives.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 29

Evaluation Statement Rating/Comments

10. Management, our consultant, and our counsel
keep the committee apprised of key legislative
developments and trends in executive
compensation.

Use the Consultant Effectively: Most compensation committees have a
consultant, but not all committees get the most out of him or her. Some
committee chairs use their consultant primarily as a source of market
data and technical knowledge about the arcane rules governing executive
compensation. Effective committees engage a consultant that they view
as a trusted advisor. Peter Haje, chair of the compensation committee at
Time Warner Cable, added, “The committee needs an independent advi-
sor with whom it can communicate well.” Most compensation committee
members are business experts with a broad understanding of manage-
ment practices. They may have had a career where they worked for sev-
eral different organizations across multiple functions. Despite all of this
business experience, however, few directors have knowledge of compen-
sation design and technical issues comparable to that of a compensation
consultant.

Compensation consultants have the advantage of spending almost all of
their time focused on the area of compensation. While committee mem-
bers may have experience with compensation programs at a handful of
companies, a typical consultant will have worked with hundreds of com-
panies over the course of a career. The chair should be willing to admit
where the committee may be out of its depth, and to ask the consultant
not only for information, but also for his or her opinion on issues under
consideration. Elevating the relationship to a more advisory capacity re-
quires a strong relationship of trust between the committee and the con-
sultant. If the committee does not feel it has this kind of relationship with
its consultant, it should address this immediately.

Prepare for Meetings in Advance: Effective committee chairs make it their
business to avoid surprises in committee meetings. The key to success is
ensuring that there is a clear and shared understanding between manage-



30 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

ment and the committee about what will be on the agenda in advance of
the meeting. These days, with few exceptions, chairs make sure that the
management team has walked them through the meeting materials be-
fore sharing the materials with other committee members. The pre-meet-
ing often includes the participation of outside advisors and ensures that
the materials will effectively address the agenda for the meeting and facil-
itate any required discussion or approvals.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 31

Chapter 4. The Compensation
Committee Charter

The compensation committee charter is a legal document that lays out
the responsibilities of the committee and is required under the listing
standards of the NYSE and NASDAQ (see the end of this chapter for an
example of a compensation committee charter). Companies are further
required to make the charter publicly available on the corporate gover-
nance section of their website.

At a minimum, the charter will need to address the following requirements
of the NYSE or NASDAQ (wherever the company is listed):

* The committee’s purpose and responsibilities, which, at minimum,
must have direct responsibility to:

= Review and approve corporate goals and objectives relevant to CEO
compensation, evaluate the CEO's performance in light of those
goals and objectives, and, either as a committee or together with
the other independent directors (as directed by the board), deter-
mine and approve the CEO’s compensation level based on this eval-
uation;

= Make recommendations to the board with respect to non-CEO ex-
ecutive officer compensation, and incentive-compensation and eq-
uity-based plans that are subject to board approval; and

= Prepare the disclosure required by Item 407(e)(5) of Regulation S-K;
* An annual performance evaluation of the compensation committee.

* The NASDAQ generally has the same listing requirements as the NYSE,
though it does not require an annual performance evaluation of the
committee.



32 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Additionally, while the document serves a legal function, it is also import-
ant from a practical point of view as it lays out the following for the com-
mittee:

* Purpose of the Committee: Generally establishes and outlines the
company’s executive compensation program, but in many cases also
includes other human resources functions (e.g., leadership succession,
talent management, and diversity)

* Membership Requirements: Sets the minimum number of members
and lays out the requirement that they be independent under the stan-
dards of the NYSE or NASDAQ. Also outlines the process for electing
committee members and the chair

* Responsibilities: Typically includes compensation levels for the CEO
and other executive officers, severance and employment agreements,
supplemental retirement programs and perquisites, CEO performance
goals and objectives, compensation risk, review of incentive compen-
sation and equity-based plans, compensation committee reports for
proxy statement, and director compensation. May also include review
of performance for other executives, leadership succession planning,
and other leadership development activities. For some of these items,
the committee may act in concert with other independent members of
the board

* Meetings: May describe the approximate meeting frequency and who is
typically expected to attend committee meetings

* Quorum/Voting Rules: Establishes how many committee members
need to be present to vote and how the committee can take a vote
(e.g., affirmative vote by majority of members, unanimous written con-
sent, etc.)

* Subcommittees and Delegation: Provides the committee with authori-
ty to delegate to subcommittees as it deems appropriate

* Authority to Retain Advisors: Provides the committee with the author-
ity to engage compensation, legal, or other advisors. Many companies



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 33

have added language to address the independence of advisors under
the new listing standards due to Dodd-Frank

* Committee Charter Review: Obliges the commiittee to review the char-
ter at least annually and to recommend changes to the board for ap-
proval

* Committee Self-Evaluation: Requires the committee to assess its own
performance annually

The compensation committee charter should also address the following
items: committee member qualifications;, committee member appoint-
ment and removal; committee structure and operations (including author-
ity to delegate to subcommittees); and committee reporting to the board.
Additionally, if a compensation consultant is to assist in the evaluation of
director, CEO, or executive officer compensation, the compensation com-
mittee charter should give that committee sole authority to retain and ter-
minate the consulting firm, including sole authority to approve the firm's
fees and other retention terms.

Most committee members do not depend on the charter to direct their
day-to-day activities on the committee, relying instead on the committee
calendar and the specific agendas for individual meetings as their guide.
The responsibility for ensuring that the committee is fulfilling its respon-
sibilities under the charter tends to fall on the committee chair with assis-
tance from the company’s legal staff, human resources staff, and external
advisors. An example, the compensation committee charter for the Co-
ca-Cola Company is provided below:

The Coca-Cola Company Compensation Committee Charter
(The Coca-Cola Company)

Purpose

The committee has overall responsibility for evaluating and approv-
ing compensation plans, policies, and programs of the company ap-
plicable primarily to the company’s Senior Executive Group, which



34 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

includes all officers of the company subject to Section 16 of the Se-
curities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The committee shall have the powers and authorities vested in it by
stock option, restricted stock, incentive, and other compensation
plans of the company. With regard to plans designed and intended
to provide compensation primarily for the Senior Executive Group,
the committee shall have the power to approve, modify, or amend
all non-equity plans, modify or amend all equity plans, and shall rec-
ommend adoption of equity plans to the board.

Committee Membership

The committee shall consist of no fewer than three members. Each
member of the committee shall meet the independence require-
ments of the New York Stock Exchange and the company’s corpo-
rate governance guidelines.

The members of the committee shall be established and removed
by the board. A majority of the members shall constitute a quorum.

Committee Authority and Responsibilities

The compensation committee will measure the chairman of the
board’'s and the CEO's performance against each of his or her goals
and objectives pursuant to the company'’s plans and, after consider-
ing the full board’s evaluation of his or her performance, determine
the compensation of the chairman of the board and the CEO. The
full board will review the compensation committee’s actions. In de-
termining compensation, the committee will consider the compa-
ny's performance and relative shareowner return, the compensation
of CEOs at comparable companies, the awards given to the CEO in
past years, and such other factors as the committee deems relevant.

The committee shall review and approve compensation of all Senior
Executive Group members at appropriate time periods. The com-
mittee shall take account of the CEO’s recommendation and eval-
uation of each individual's performance, the company'’s overall per-



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

formance and comparable compensation paid to similarly situated
executives in comparable companies.

The committee shall have the sole authority to retain, oversee, and
terminate any compensation consultant to assist in the execution
of the committee’s responsibilities, including without limitation, the
evaluation of the chairman of the board’s, CEQ'’s, Senior Executive
Group's, and other senior executives’ compensation, and shall have
authority to approve the consultant’s fees and other retention terms.
The committee shall also have authority to obtain advice and assis-
tance from internal or external legal, accounting, or other advisors.

Prior to the retention of a compensation consultant or any other
external advisor, and from time to time as the committee deems
appropriate, the committee shall assess the independence of such
advisor from management, taking into consideration all factors rel-
evant to such advisor's independence, including factors specified in
the New York Stock Exchange listing standards. The committee shall
ensure that any disclosure required by the rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission or the New York Stock Ex-
change related to the foregoing is included in the company’s proxy
statement.

The committee shall approve and review employment agreements,
severance arrangements, retirement arrangements, change in con-
trol agreements/provisions, and any special or supplemental bene-
fits or perquisites for Senior Executive Group members.

The committee shall review and discuss the Compensation Discus-
sion and Analysis ("CD&A") required to be included in the company'’s
proxy statement with management and, based on such review and
discussion, determine whether or not to recommend to the board
that the CD&A be so included. The committee shall also produce an
annual report of the committee for inclusion in the company’s proxy
statement.

35



36

A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

The committee shall annually review the potential risk to the com-
pany from its compensation programs and policies, including any
incentive plans, and whether such programs and policies incentivize
unnecessary and excessive risk taking.

The committee shall oversee the company’s (i) submissions to shar-
eowners on executive compensation matters, including advisory
votes on executive compensation and the frequency of such votes,
and (ii) engagement with proxy advisory firms and other shareown-
er groups on executive compensation matters. The committee also
shall review the results of such advisory votes and consider any im-
plications.

The committee shall review and approve the creation or revision of
any clawback policy allowing the company to recoup compensation
paid to employees.

The committee shall oversee the company’s policies on structuring
compensation programs to preserve tax deductibility where appro-
priate. To the extent the company provides for performance-based
compensation subject to the requirements of Section 162(m) of the
Internal Revenue Code, the committee shall establish and certify the
attainment of performance goals as required by Section 162(m).

The committee may form and delegate authority to subcommit-
tees, including management subcommittees, when appropriate, and
may require that any such subcommittee periodically present to the
committee a summary report of actions taken.

The committee shall make regular reports to the board.

The committee shall periodically review and reassess the adequacy
of this charter and recommend any proposed changes to the board
for approval.

The committee shall annually review its own performance.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 37

Chapter 5. The Annual Committee
Process

In order to ensure that the committee effectively executes its responsibil-
ities under the charter, it should establish an annual calendar outlining the
timing of key activities over the course of the year. The committee calen-
dar is typically a joint product developed by management and the com-
pensation committee chair, as the timing of committee decision-making
needs to fit into the annual compensation cycle of the company. The
compensation committee will typically have 4-6 scheduled meetings
over the course of the year, so part of the function of the calendar is to
logically allocate the committees’ activities across the different meetings.

The outline below lays out what the compensation committee calendar
could look like for a sample committee operating on a calendar fiscal year
and holding five meetings per year. There is a great deal of variation in
committee calendars across companies, depending on the number of
meetings held each year and the responsibilities under the charter. The
example below focuses on core activities that all committees will address
over the course of the year. There are other activities that the committee
will have more flexibility in scheduling, and these issues are typically as-
signed to meetings where the agenda is lighter (e.g., employment agree-
ments, the committee charter, the committee self-evaluation, the con-
sultant’'s evaluation, etc.). A best practice is also to include an executive
session of the committee at each meeting.



38 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Sample Committee Calendar

Meeting 1

Timing: January / February
Location: Company Headquarters

* Close out compensation for
prior year:

= Review financial perfor-
mance results for annual
and, if any, long-term incen-
tive plan cycles

= Approve overall annual
incentive plan funding and
individual payouts for select
executives

* Preliminary review of proxy
statement including the
Compensation Discussion and
Analysis (CD&A)

Approve program design changes
in annual incentive and long-term
incentive design

Meeting 2

Timing: February / March

Location: Company Headquarters

* Establish opportunities for
current year

o Approve individual salary
increases for executives

o Approve annual incentive
design including:

Individual incentive op-
portunities

Performance measures
and weightings

Performance goals

162(m) compliance

o Approve long-term incen-
tive design including:

Individual incentive op-
portunities

Vehicle mix

Design features (e.g.,
vesting, term)

Long-term performance
plan design:

o Performance measures
and weightings

o Performance goals

o 162(m) compliance

* Final review of proxy statement
and CD&A



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 39

Meeting 3

Timing: April/ May/ June
Location: New York City

* Review actual compensation

and performance for prior year
relative to the peer group

* Review pay-for-performance
relationship for prior year,
relative to peers

* Review compensation
philosophy

* Review Compensation
Committee Charter

* Review executive share
ownership vs. guideline
requirement

Meeting 4
Timing: July/ August / September
Location: Company Headquarters

* Review of executive
compensation trends

* Review compensation peer
group
* Receive update on financial

performance for in-progress
incentive plan cycles

Meeting 5

Timing: October/ November/
December

Location: Company Headquarters

* Review executive
compensation programs

= Competitiveness of pay levels
= Annual incentive design
= long-term incentive design

= Other program features, as
necessary (e.g., stock ownership
guidelines, clawbacks, executive
agreements, severance / CIC
arrangements, etc.)

* Review tally sheets

* Approval of base salary
increase budget for next year

* Risk assessment of
compensation programs

* Performance updates on
performance incentive plans

* Committee self-evaluation

* Annual review of external
advisors



40 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Committees try their best to plan in advance for all of the activities that
they know they will have to address over the course of the year. That being
said, it is important to leave room for time to cover unexpected events.
Changes in senior management, major transactions, and regulatory de-
velopments are just some of the unanticipated events that may need to be
squeezed into the committee’s calendar. While these issues are difficult to
foresee, it would be surprising if nothing unanticipated arose during the
year. A certain degree of flexibility is therefore necessary to address these
potential events. In some cases, the committee may need to convene for
additional meetings or conference calls to address special topics. It is also
important to give committees ample time to make decisions. The com-
mittee may react adversely when management is asking the committee
to approve major changes the first time a topic is presented to them at a
meeting.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 41

Chapter 6. Committee Meeting
Processes

While the processes for committee meetings tend to be more informal,
having effective processes in place is critical to the success of each meet-
ing. Without adequate preparation prior to each meeting, things can easily
go awry.

A best practice is for the compensation committee chair to review a draft
agenda developed by human resources well in advance of the meeting, ei-
ther by email or over a conference call. The objective should be to clearly
lay out the answers to the following questions:

* What is scheduled to be covered in the meeting according to the annual
committee calendar?

* Are there any additional topics that need to be discussed based on re-
cent developments (e.g., terminations, new hires, regulatory develop-
ments, etc.)?

* What is for review or informational purposes vs. requiring that the Com-
mittee take action?

* What will require formal committee action or approval?

* How much time should be allotted to each topic and for the committee
meeting in total?

Sample Meeting Agenda

Committee

Agenda Item Action

9:00 AM 1 Approve minutes of last compensation  Approve
committee meeting

9:05 AM 2 Review executive management Review
changes



42 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Committee
Agenda ltem Action
9:15 AM 3 Discuss executive compensation pay Review
assessment
9:45 AM 4 Review recent trends in executive Review

compensation
10:15 AM 5 Review potential peer group changes Review

10:35 AM 6 Review new hire and promotion equity = Review
grants below the CEO level

10:45 AM 7 Review annual status of employee Review
benefits plan

11:15 AM 8 Executive session

Committee Composition and Meeting Attendance

Fixing the composition of the compensation committee is an important
step toward achieving an effective committee. Compensation commit-
tees are typically composed of 3—-5 board members with different, yet
complementary, backgrounds and skills. The committee should also have
representation from an active senior executive, an academic, an industry
expert, etc., as appropriate. Some companies often include a current (or
recent) member of the audit committee on the compensation commit-
tee to provide additional perspective on financial goals and results. If the
compensation committee is composed of members with different back-
grounds, it will allow for more comprehensive and fully vetted discussions.

Compensation committee meetings typically involve participants from
management, external advisors, and all of the committee members. Man-
agement participants typically include 1-2 representatives from human
resources (e.g., the head of HR and/or the head of compensation and ben-
efits) and 1-2 representatives from legal (e.g., the general counsel and/or
the corporate secretary). The CEO will also frequently attend committee
meetings. Other members of management (e.g., CFO, chief risk officer,



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 43

business unit leaders, etc.) may join a portion of the meeting to discuss
specific topics (e.g., financial performance objectives, compensation risk
review, or talent reviews) on an as-needed basis. On occasion, additional
board members may be invited to attend compensation committee meet-
ings, but generally this is not the case. Also, in financial services, it has be-
come common to have at least one joint meeting annually between mem-
bers of the compensation committee and the risk committee to discuss
the risk implications of the company’s incentive compensation programs.

Most committees will have external advisors present for all or a portion
of the meeting as well. It is common for 1-2 representatives from the
committee’s consultant to participate in each meeting. If the committee
has engaged external legal counsel, they often participate in meetings as
well, particularly where a need for their specific expertise is anticipated.
Depending on the nature of the subject matter under discussion, the ex-
ternal advisors may take the lead in presenting material for portions of the
committee meeting, but their primary role is to provide perspective on
topics under discussion (e.g., market practices, effectiveness of different
approaches to meet specific objectives, or potential tax, legal, or account-
ing issues). In cases where management engages its own compensation
consultant, management’s consultant may also be invited for a portion
of the meeting to present to the committee, though it is less common
for management’s consultant to participate in the executive session of
the committee. Effective committees make it a practice to test ideas with
the external advisors and proactively ensure that the committee has ad-
dressed any potential issues with the topic under discussion.

Meeting Materials

Management and the committee’s compensation consultants work to-
gether to prepare meeting materials, depending on whether the agenda
items are the primary responsibility of management’s or the committee’s
consultant. Regardless of who is developing the materials, the goal should
be to review draft materials for the meeting with the compensation com-
mittee chair at least one and a half to two weeks prior to the committee
meeting date whenever possible. This timing is critical to ensure that the
meeting materials can be made available to committee members at least



44 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

one week before the meeting. In the past, paper copies of committee
materials were provided to committee members, but an emerging trend
is to deliver the materials electronically to dedicated iPads provided to
the directors. Electronic delivery allows the company to update materi-
als without having to physically redistribute them to committee members
and avoids encumbering committee members.

Given the busy schedules of committee members, providing them with
adequate time to review materials in advance of committee meetings
dramatically enhances the productivity of committees. Meetings can be
conducted much more effectively if all of the members have reviewed
the materials in advance. This allows for the scarce time available to the
committee to be dedicated to points of clarification and discussion of is-
sues, rather than reading through the written materials. In addition, Char-
lie Hinkaty shared that when committee members receive material late, it
“gives the impression that management is springing it on them.”

Based on our interviews with committee members and our experience,
meeting materials need to summarize a great deal of information effec-
tively. As Ed Campbell related to us, “"Management and the advisors can’t
just provide data to the committee — materials have to provide a conclu-
sion.” Ideally, the committee should be provided with an executive sum-
mary that concisely lays out the issue, findings, conclusion, and rationale
for the conclusion in 1-2 pages. The executive summary can be com-
plemented by a longer report with supporting data, but the expectation
should be that the long-form report will mostly be used as a pre-read and
the meeting will focus on the executive summary.

Meeting Management

At the start of the committee meeting, the chair will typically call the meet-
ing to order and begin by asking for approval of the minutes from the prior
meeting. The chair is responsible for ensuring that the committee works
through the agenda in a timely manner, that there is adequate discussion
of each topic, and that there is an opportunity for committee members to
gain clarity on the issues and voice their points of view. Lewis Campbell
believes it is important to hear each member’s viewpoint and will proac-



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 45

tively ask each member for his or her perspective to ensure an inclusive
discussion. The agenda will typically involve some materials which are be-
ing provided to the committee for review and discussion and other mate-
rials that require a committee vote. Depending on the preferences of the
chair, votes can be taken during the committee meeting or delayed until
the end of the meeting when the committee meets in executive session
without management present. Generally, when decisions are going to be
made about issues where the management team has a direct economic
stake, it is preferable to vote during the executive session so the members
have an opportunity to discuss without input from management.

The length of a committee meeting will typically vary with the agenda,
but also depends on the practices and approaches of different companies.
Some companies regularly address all required business in one-hour ses-
sions. Other committees we have worked with typically have three-hour
meetings. In most cases, the meeting length is a function of the working
style of the committee. Some committees delve deep into the issues in
each meeting, while others rely on a thorough pre-reading and count on
management and the committee chair to highlight any issues that require
longer discussion. In almost all cases, year-end meetings, where key com-
pensation decisions for the year are made, typically run longer.

Executive Sessions

Executive sessions are a critical part of any committee meeting. They al-
low committee members the opportunity to meet without members of
the management team present to discuss sensitive topics (e.g.,, CEO com-
pensation) and to conduct critical votes. At the beginning of the executive
session, members of the management team are typically excused from
the room. The committee members and their external advisors remain in
the room for the beginning of the executive session. The committee uses
this part of the executive session as an opportunity to ask the advisors if
they have any issues or concerns that they would like to raise relating to
any of the topics that surfaced during the meeting. If any compensation
decisions related to the CEO are up for discussion, they will receive input
from external advisors at this point. Once the external advisors have had
the opportunity to share their views, they are frequently asked to leave.



46 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Once alone, committee members will take the opportunity to review any
decisions made in the committee meeting, take votes on any decisions
that were pushed back to the executive session to allow for additional dis-
cussion, and discuss any upcoming issues that the committee may want
to add to its agenda going forward. The executive session is also the most
likely time for members to discuss their own performance evaluation, the
performance evaluation of the external advisors, and the possibility of
changing their external advisors.

In many committee meetings, the executive session may not seem neces-
sary due to the nature of the items under discussion. However, directors
we spoke with believe that the executive session is critical. As Peter Haje
said, “Always have executive sessions . . . if after a meeting, anything is
bothering one of the members, they will share their views in the execu-
tive session.” Executive sessions can serve a very real function by allowing
committee members an opportunity to raise concerns. Below are several
examples of issues that may come up in an executive session, but are dif-
ficult to discuss with management present:

* Concerns that management is trying to “force” the committee into
making a hasty decision without providing adequate opportunity for
the committee to discuss

* Concerns about the performance of the company or specific execu-
tives and potential implications for compensation

* Concerns that management may not be adequately sensitive to share-
holder concerns

* Concerns about executive retention

In fact, some committees will even schedule an executive session without
management present at the beginning of the meeting to allow commit-
tee members to air their concerns before reviewing issues with manage-
ment. While not all committees use this approach, those that do find that
it helps to ensure that the committee and management work through is-



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 47

sues during the course of the meeting and the committee does not have
to wait until the end of the meeting to find out about members’ concerns.

From a governance perspective, having an executive session at every
meeting helps to maintain a record that the committee members were
provided with an opportunity to express their views independent of man-
agement at each meeting. It also helps to avoid raising concerns among
management that “something is up” when committee members meet in
executive session because such conferences are outside the norm.

Post-Meeting Process

Following each committee meeting, the committee chair will typically
need to debrief with management (e.g., head of HR, corporate secretary,
etc.) to ensure that any topics discussed or decisions made during the
executive session are included in the meeting minutes. In addition, it pro-
vides an opportunity for management and the committee chair to make
certain that they have a shared understanding of the items approved at
the meeting and any next steps for additional work that were identified.






A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 49

Chapter 7. External Advisors

Under Dodd-Frank and the listing standards for the NYSE and NASDAQ,
compensation committees are empowered to hire external advisors to as-
sist them in managing their responsibilities. The legislation requires com-
panies to provide funding for the committee to pay an external advisor if
the committee decides to use one. Annually, the committee is required to
conduct a review of the candidate’s independence (if they use a consul-
tant).

Why Use a Compensation Consultant?

It is a testament to the complexity surrounding the issue of executive
compensation that the overwhelming majority of compensation commit-
tees use a consultant. On the surface, the decision on how much to pay
a company'’s senior executives may seem simple enough. However, there
are multiple advantages to including a consultant as part of the process:

* Third-Party Independence: If management is left alone to develop rec-
ommended compensation levels and design, their self-interest would
encourage them to propose relatively high compensation levels and
low performance standards. The use of a third-party advisor helps to
ensure that the information used as the basis for establishing recom-
mended pay levels and performance standards does not have a bias in
favor of management. Since consultants are engaged by the commit-
tee, their incentives tend to be more closely aligned with those of the
committee members.

* Experienced Advisory: Experienced consultants have worked with hun-
dreds of clients over their careers. It is likely that situations that may
be new to the compensation committee are familiar to the consultant.
A strong consultant will have learned from past experiences and can
share that knowledge with committee members to provide assurance
when making decisions.

* Competitive Information: Through past client exposure and firm re-
sources, consultants have the ability to provide detailed information on



50

A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

competitive practices to the committee. While competitive data should
not be the primary basis for committee decision-making, it is a valuable
input and can provide comfort to committee members that the designs
they are implementing do not deviate from common market approach-
es. In the words of Jill Kanin-Lovers, the consultant “needs to keep you
smart.”

Technical Expertise: The design of executive compensation programs
requires knowledge across multiple disciplines, including tax, account-
ing, SEC disclosure rules, and insider trading. In addition, it is critical
to have an understanding of the financial drivers of business success.
While compensation committee members may excel in understanding
of business strategy and financial performance, it is unlikely that they
will have adequate technical knowledge to navigate the intricacies of
executive compensation design on their own.

External Cover: The reality of the business world today is that there is
no shortage of external scrutiny of corporate decision-making. The
recently adopted “Say on Pay” proposals have served as the basis for
shareholder lawsuits, and executive compensation has long been a
popular topic for the business press. The use of a consultant allows the
committee to demonstrate to external critics that they tried to “cover
all bases” in developing the compensation program. In the event of a
lawsuit, if the committee has used a consultant, they can point to their
independent, third-party advice as an input into their decision-making.

Typical Consulting Arrangements

The nature of the arrangement with the consultant and the level of work-
load required factor into how much a consultant will be paid. In our expe-

rience, an annual consulting engagement with a compensation commit-

tee could cost as little as $50,000 if the role of the consultant is geared

towards simply reviewing and commenting on data and recommendations
developed by management (and/or its consultant) with occasional meet-
ing attendance. In other cases, the consultant reports to the committee,
but works with management to develop recommendations. In these cases,
fees can range from $100,000-5500,000 depending on the complexity of



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 51

the company’s compensation programs and decision-making processes.
Most consulting firms will charge clients based on the hours required to
complete the work and hourly billing rates of the consultants serving the
clients, similar to law firms. Consultants will generally provide an estimate
of fees for the year associated with anticipated work steps.

Consultant Independence

Over the past 5-10 years, committees have become more concerned
about the independence of their consultants. In the past, compensation
consultants were often engaged by management and would be brought
in to discuss management recommendations with the compensation
committee. As external scrutiny of executive compensation increased,
there was a push to make sure that the consultant reported directly to the
compensation committee — rather than to management — to reduce the
risk that the consultant would feel obliged to support management rec-
ommendations in order to remain engaged by the company.

Throughout the 1990s and into the 2000s, most executive compensation
consulting arrangements were with large, multi-service human resources
consulting firms (e.g., Towers Watson, which was created by the merger of
Towers Perrin and Watson Wyatt, Hewitt, and Mercer). Over time, share-
holder advisory firms, certain institutional investors, and the press raised
concerns about potential conflicts of interest for these firms. They posed
the question, “Would the compensation consultant with annual fees of
$150,000 really be willing to confront management on executive com-
pensation if it put annual pension benefit consulting fees of $3—$5 million
at risk?” The presumptive answer was that this was indeed a conflict. As a
result, over the past 5-10 years, many large companies have transitioned
from using multi-service consulting firms to working with boutique con-
sulting firms that only provide executive compensation consulting advice.

Concerns about consultant independence culminated in the Dodd-Frank
legislation, which requires committees to consider the following six inde-
pendence factors when engaging a consultant:



52 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

I

Does the consulting firm receive any revenue from
XYZ Company for services other than executive
compensation consulting?

What is the percent of revenue estimated fees represent
as a percent of the consulting firm'’s annual revenue?

Does the consultant have any personal relationships
with members of the board of directors or executive
officers at XYZ Company?

Does the consultant have any business relationships
with members of the board of directors or executive
officers at XYZ Company?

Does the consultant directly own any shares in XYZ
Company?

Does the consulting firm have a written policy for
managing conflicts of interests?

The committee is not required to hire an independent consultant. If the
committee does determine that a conflict of interest exists for the consul-
tant, the company needs to disclose how the conflict was addressed. To
avoid the perception of a conflict of interest, it is likely that most compen-
sation committees will avoid working with consultants that give unsatis-
factory responses for any of the six questions.

Single-Consultant vs. Dual-Consultant Model

Two compensation consulting models have developed that are common-
ly seen in the market: 1) a single consultant reporting to the committee
chair and working for the committee and with management; and 2) two
consultants, one directly engaged by the committee and one working di-
rectly for management.

Single-Consultant Model: In this structure, a single consulting firm ad-
dresses all executive compensation consulting needs. The consultant




A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 53

works with the human resources team, as appropriate, to ensure that the
compensation committee chair approves of any services performed.

Dual-Consultant Model: The management consultant works closely with

the human resources team and management to design incentive pro-
grams, benchmark the executive compensation levels for positions below
the most senior executives, assist with executive compensation disclo-
sure, and address the company’s other data needs. The committee con-
sultant’s responsibilities typically include attending committee meetings,
reviewing proposals prepared by management, benchmarking senior ex-
ecutive compensation, providing an overview of market trends, working
with the committee chair to ensure good governance, and considering
shareholder optics and best practices. There is significant variation in the
market in the division of responsibilities between the two consultants. The
table below provides a detailed breakdown of the work steps typically al-
located to each consultant.



54

A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Consultant to the Committee Consultant to Management

Advise on compensation philos-
ophy and overall positioning for
senior executives

Review recommendations on peer
groups

Prepare proxy data for CEO (and
possibly other NEOs)

Advise on amount and mix of pay
for CEO and prepare alternatives for
review by chair and/or committee

Review management’s recom-
mendations on compensation for
other executives in advance of
committee meeting and advise
chair and/or committee on ap-
propriateness of recommended
amount and mix of pay

Review management’s recom-
mendations on design of annual
and long-term incentive plans

Provide committee with an
assessment of covered executive
pay vs. company performance

Review tally sheets

Review proxy statement disclo-
sure (specifically CD&A) on behalf
of the committee

Advise on market trends related to
executive compensation

Advise committee on relationship
between executive compensation
and risk

Review and recommend board of
directors compensation

Attend compensation committee
meetings and executive sessions
as requested

Propose appropriate compen-
sation philosophy tied to related
business and talent objectives

Recommend peer groups based
on business and talent compet-
itors

Prepare proxy and survey data for
executives, excluding CEO

Support HR in crafting pay recom-
mendations for covered exec-
utives and senior management,
excluding the CEO

Support HR in developing pro-
posals on design of annual and
long-term incentive plans

Prepare tally sheets, if requested

Advise HR on amount and mix
of pay for executives below the
covered executive level

Research executive compensation
issues for HR

Support HR/legal as necessary in
drafting the proxy statement

Advise on non-executive compen-
sation issues

Conduct risk review on compen-
sation program



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 55

The dual-consultant model is relatively new and has mainly been adopted
by the largest companies with the greatest concerns about the perception
of a conflict of interest. For most companies, it is viewed as duplicative to
have two consultants work on the topic of executive compensation. The
table below summarizes key advantages of each of the alternative models:

Single-Compensation Consultant Dual-Compensation Consultants

Avoids concerns over “dueling Typically management's consul-
consultants” tant has limited interaction with
committee

Easier to manage limited resources Management would normally work
because one firm is less expensive with its consultant but actually

than two present the material at committee
meetings

Given the rise of boutique firms, In this case, committee’s consultant

avoids the perception of a conflict can develop more into an “auditor”

of interest role rather than a partner

One consultant can develop a more  Reduces possible perception of a

holistic view of the company, its conflict, provided the committee’s
strategy, goals, and culture, since consultant does not provide other
it interacts with all parties (the services to the company

compensation committee, senior
management, HR, and other support
functions)

What to Look For in a Consultant

Most consultants that you interview will have adequate experience to pro-
vide you with the technical advice that you require and will come from a
firm with significant resources to provide required market data. It is likely
that your final selection will instead come down to your views of how the
consultant will interact with the committee and management. The table
on the following page provides an example of the information typically
required by a request for proposal for an executive compensation con-
sultant.



56 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Topic Area and
Description/Rationale

Information Typically Requested

Company Experience

Allows the committee to
gain an understanding of the
consulting firm's experience,
philosophy, and resources

Consulting Team

Provides the committee with
information on the potential
consulting team to understand
the depth of experience of the
team

References

Gives the company and com-
mittee an opportunity to learn
about the consultant from
previous experience

Potential Conflict of Interest

Alerts the committee to any
potential conflicts of interest
prior to engaging a consultant

» Brief overview of the firm

» Description of consultant’s background
and experience as it relates to the work
being requested

» Current list of clients and industry
experience

» Description of the firm’s thought
leadership

» Experience in designing annual and
long-term incentive compensation
programs

For each member of the consulting team,
provide:

» Name

» Anticipated role

» Years of experience

« List of current clients
» Biography

Provide three compensation commit-
tee chair references with the following
information:

» Company for which the individual is
the committee chair

» Contact information: company (current
or former, if retired), contact name,
address, email, and phone number

» Summary of scope of work

» Length of relationship

» Highlight any potential conflicts of
interest that could result from this en-
gagement including the SEC factors

» Provide the firm'’s conflict of interest
policy



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 57

Topic Area and

Description/Rationale Information Typically Requested

Pricing Provide total anticipated consulting fees
for completion of the work steps outlined
in this request for proposal

General positives in a consultant will include the following:

* Willingness to speak up when consultant is uncomfortable with deci-
sions the committee is making or management is recommending

* Creativity in helping the committee consider solutions to difficult chal-
lenges

* Preparedness in advance of meetings sufficient to address issues effi-
ciently and anticipate committee questions

* Flexibility to think “on the fly” as new issues surface in the course of the
meeting

* Ability to engage different points of view while maintaining objectivity

* Proactivity in keeping the committee chair aware of emerging issues
between meetings

» Effectiveness in facilitating decision-making

Similar to the compensation committee chair, while part of the role of the
consultant is to provide information and expertise, it is also to facilitate
decision-making and bridge the gap between differing points of view. In
order to fulfill this role well, the consultant needs to be trusted by the
committee members and management, and has to be able to relate to
their concerns. Directors we spoke to indicated that one of the key chal-
lenges for a consultant is balancing the relationship between the commit-
tee and management. For example, Peter Haje said, “An open and candid
relationship between the consultant and people in the company is critical,
and it has not worked well when there was a poor relationship between



58 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

management and the consultant.” Consultants who fail to recognize the
importance of an effective working relationship with management may
find that their relationship with management quickly becomes adversarial.
For most committees, it is a much easier decision to change compen-
sation consultants than to change the management team. On the other
hand, if the consultant is perceived as being “too close” to management,
the committee may come to question whether or not the consultant is
providing objective, independent advice.

Much like management and directors, consultants will generally be most
effective if they always keep in mind that their ultimate clients are the
company's shareholders, and that all three key parties (management, the
board, and the consultants) should all be acting in their interest. As part of
the committee’s annual process, they should incorporate an evaluation of
the effectiveness of the relationship with the consultant.

Sample Compensation Consultant Evaluation

Rating Scale: 1 = Well Below Expectations;
2 = Below Expectations; 3 = Meets Expectations;
4 = Exceeds Expectations; 5 = Far Exceeds Expectations

Evaluation Statement Rating / Comments

Overall, how would you rate the consultant’s
relationship with the committee?

Did the consultant respond to your requests,
questions, and concerns effectively, and did he or she
do so in a timely manner? Were there any problems
and, if so, in what way?

Did the consultant communicate effectively during
the engagement? Did the consultant listen and

ask effective questions? How would you rate the
usefulness and quality of the consultant’s input? In
what ways could the consultant improve?



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 59

Evaluation Statement Rating / Comments

Does the committee feel the consultant made
appropriate use of market data? Did the data meet the
needs of the situation?

Does the consultant have a strong understanding

of your business, short- and long-term issues,
compensation philosophy, and programs? Were
recommendations presented with the business context
in mind?

Did the consultant provide the committee with a
proper context for any recommendations? Were
recommendations presented to include governance,
regulatory, and shareholder perspectives?

Were the work and recommendations presented
effectively? What can be improved?

Did the consultant interact with management (on the
committee’s behalf) effectively? Should any revisions
be made to how interactions occur going forward?

Legal Advisors

In many cases, the compensation committee does not view it as necessary
to have an independent legal advisor reporting directly to the committee.
Instead, the committee often relies on the company'’s internal legal staff
and management'’s external counsel to provide the committee with legal
advice. However, there are certain situations where it is critical for the
compensation committee to have its own advisors, and some committees
have determined that it is worthwhile to retain a legal advisor to attend all
committee meetings and serve as a sounding board between meetings.

Additionally, there are times when the compensation committee needs
to work on confidential projects and does not want to share information
with the management team. In particular, when recruiting a new CEO or
determining compensation arrangements for a departing CEQ, it is critical
to obtain external legal advice to ensure objectivity.



60 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field



PART II.
The Basics of Executive
Compensation Design






A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 63

Chapter 8. Compensation Objectives

In this part of the guide, we will provide an overview of the basic activities
that fall under the purview of the compensation committee. To assist you
in your role as a committee member, we have identified key questions that
you should ask or make sure have been addressed related to each topic.

Compensation Objectives

Most public companies share the same core compensation objectives in
some form or another:

* Align the interests of management with those of shareholders

* Pay for performance

* Ensure that compensation functions as an effective incentive

* Attract and retain required talent to execute the business strategy
* Manage the risk associated with compensation

Some companies may have additional stated objectives that complement
these four (e.g., manage compensation cost, ensure internal equity within
the company, etc.), but in most cases, compensation design is founded on
the objectives listed above.

It is difficult to argue with any of these objectives. What is important for
you to understand as a compensation committee member is that there are
tradeoffs among different objectives that make it a challenge to fully meet
all objectives at the same time within each element of the compensation
program. For example, the objective of aligning management’s and share-
holders’ interests can conflict with the desire to attract and retain required
talent. To enhance the alignment of management'’s interests with those of
shareholders, we ideally would tie a great deal of management’s compen-
sation to stock price movements over the long term. However, managers
will generally prefer immediate cash compensation over an equal amount
of long-term, stock-based compensation, as it is less variable and more



64 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

tangible. Said in other words, cash compensation tends to be most effec-
tive in meeting the objective of attracting top talent, while stock-based
compensation is most effective in aligning management'’s interests with
those of shareholders.

There is also often a similar tradeoff between alignment with shareholders’
interests and pay for performance. To meet the objective of pay for per-
formance, it is often preferable to pay management based on the financial
results of the company, which tend to be a “truer” measure of manage-
ment performance than stock price movements (especially over the short
term). However, paying management based on financial performance
rather than stock price can result in different outcomes for management
and shareholders. In an “up” market, stock price appreciation may outpace
financial performance, while in a “down” market, the reverse may be true.

Part of the role of a compensation committee member is to review the
compensation program holistically and ensure that it is effectively bal-
ancing the different compensation objectives. This requires a great deal
of judgment, as it is challenging to assess how effectively different forms
of compensation address each of the objectives, and it is not always clear
what the appropriate balance among objectives is.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* How do the designs help to align management with the interests of
shareholders?

* How do the designs impact the pay-for-performance relationship at
the company?

* How do the designs help us to attract and retain the talent we need?

* How do the designs affect the risk associated with our compensation
programs?



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 65

Chapter 9. Compensation
Philosophy

In order to help achieve companies’ compensation objectives, compen-
sation committees typically will develop a compensation philosophy to
guide their decision-making. The compensation philosophy describes
high-level principles rather than prescribing specific design details, but
does provide direction on key aspects of compensation design. This chap-
ter provides an overview of the main concepts discussed in a compen-
sation philosophy and how compensation committees establish them.
Those concepts are as follows:

* Target Pay Positioning

* Definition of Competitive Market

* Pay Mix

* Internal Equity

* Pay-for-Performance Relationship
Target Pay Positioning

A target pay positioning statement provides the compensation committee
with a guideline about how competitively to pay their executives. Com-
mittees can develop a target pay positioning for each element of compen-
sation (e.g., salary, bonus, and long-term incentives) or may just state a
target positioning for total direct compensation (i.e., the sum of base sal-
ary, annual target bonus, and long-term incentives combined). The target
pay positioning pertains to the target pay opportunity for the executive,
rather than the actual level of compensation delivered based on perfor-
mance results.

The most common approach is market-median target pay positioning: se-
lecting the level at which half of the competitive market provides a greater
pay opportunity and half provides a lesser pay opportunity. The rationale



66 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

for this approach is that if the competitive market is appropriately defined,
there is no need for the company to set target pay levels above or below
those of the typical competitor. It is critical to remember that the target
pay positioning relates to target pay opportunities, and actual pay realized
will vary from target based on the company’s performance. Executives
with target pay opportunities set at the market-median level will have the
opportunity to earn actual pay above or below that level based on perfor-
mance. In our CAP 100 database?, approximately 75% of companies target
total compensation at the median, with the remaining 25% of companies
targeting total compensation above median.

Target Total Compensation Pay Philosophy

At Median 75% of companies

Above Median 25% of companies

A minority of compensation committees will establish a premium pay
positioning (see above chart) under the compensation philosophy (i.e.,
target pay levels set above the median). Altria Group, for example, has a
premium pay positioning philosophy for executives. In 2016, the company
explained that “We design our executive compensation program to deliv-
er total compensation (salary, annual and long-term cash awards, equity
awards and benefits) upon attainment of performance targets at levels
between the 50th and the 75th percentiles of compensation paid to [peer
group] executives... We believe that this approach is critical to attracting
and retaining world-class leaders to pursue our Mission goals, particularly
given the unique challenges of our industry. We also believe this approach
contributes to low executive turnover across all of our businesses. Actual
total compensation can exceed the 75th percentile or be below the 50th
percentile depending on business and individual performance in relation
to performance targets.” Other reasons for a premium pay positioning in-
clude the following:
1 Compensation Advisory Partners ("CAP”) reviewed proxy disclosures for a
100-company subset of the Fortune 500 representing a cross-section of nine industry
groups. The industry groups included the following: automotive, consumer goods,

financial services, health care, insurance, manufacturing, pharmaceutical, retail, and
technology.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 67

* Challenges in Attracting Talent: The company may have difficulty at-
tracting the desired talent due to its geographic location (e.g., rural
area), challenging business conditions, or a difficult work environment.

* Requires Premium Talent: The company may feel that their current tal-
ent is superior to that of the market and that in order to attract and
retain that level of talent, they need to pay more than comparable firms
do.

* Firm Outperforms Market: The company may have demonstrated levels
of performance that consistently exceed the market. As a result, their
performance objectives may be set higher than their competitors’ ob-
Jectives, and target pay levels should be aligned with the targeted per-
formance levels.

Unsurprisingly, a premium pay philosophy tends to be popular with ex-
ecutive management. Unfortunately for executives, shareholder advisory
firms and some institutional shareholders tend to raise concerns when
they see companies set target pay opportunities above the market medi-
an. They will be skeptical of any rationale that the company uses to justify
a premium pay positioning and will closely examine the actual relationship
between pay levels and performance for companies with a premium pay
positioning. If, as a compensation committee member, you find that the
company needs to adopt a premium pay positioning, you should prepare
to be criticized by shareholder advisory groups.

Less common than the premium pay positioning is a company that has a
discount pay positioning — one that targets pay levels below the market
median. Where this is the case, the company may have a mix of pay that is
different from other firms in the market. For example, the firm may have
target base salary and bonus levels that are above market median and, as
a result, decide to have long-term incentives and total direct compen-
sation opportunities that are below median. Alternatively, the company
may provide a generous supplemental executive retirement plan (SERP)
and feel that target total direct compensation does not need to be com-
petitive with the market median because of this above-market retirement
benefit. In other situations — for example, a turnaround company with



68 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

near-term cash constraints — cash compensation for executives may be
positioned well below median with the company providing above-median
or top-quartile, equity-based, long-term incentive compensation to re-
ward executives for successful completion of the turnaround.

The target pay positioning report should generally be stated as the av-
erage the company expects to pay its executives. There are a number of
valid reasons why the pay levels for a given executive may vary from the
market median value:

* Any value within +/- 15% of the market median is essentially at the mar-
ket median from a statistical perspective. Market-median values are
drawn from the peer group or published survey data and can be ex-
pected to vary over time. It is an error to view this data with too high a
degree of precision.

* Executives may have responsibilities that are substantially greater (or
smaller) than those of the most relevant competitive benchmark posi-
tion (e.g., finance executive who oversees legal and human resources
vs. a finance executive without those additional responsibilities).

* Executives may have long or short tenure in the role.

* Executive may be a consistently high performer over a long tenure in
the role

* Position may be viewed as more or less important within the organiza-
tion than in the broader market.

* Committee may have retention concerns about the specific executive.

A compensation committee can tie its hands and limit its ability to exercise
judgment if the target pay positioning statement is too rigid or is applied
dogmatically. It should be viewed as a guideline rather than a hard-and-
fast rule. As Gary Heminger stated, “Don’t be so prescriptive that there is
no flexibility; give yourself an opportunity to adjust up or down” for spe-
cific circumstances that may not fit into a dogmatic approach to median
pay positioning.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 69

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Do we position pay at market median? If not, what is our rationale for
the current approach?

* Has our target pay positioning been the basis for external criticism? Do
our critics have valid concerns?

* Does our company conform to our target pay positioning on average or
are we systematically high or low relative to what we target? If we are
high or low, should we rethink our target pay positioning?

* Where individual executives’ pay differ from the target, are we comfort-
able with the rationale?

Definition of the Competitive Market

Closely related to the target pay positioning statement is the definition of
the competitive market. The target pay positioning statement provides a
guideline on where to position pay relative to the market, but the compa-
ny must determine what it views as its market for executive talent in order
to make the statement effective.

The most important step in determining the competitive market is iden-
tifying the type of companies with which your organization competes for
executive talent. Which kind of firms do you go to when you are looking
to recruit executive talent? What firms do you tend to lose executives to
when they decide to leave? For most roles, this will likely lead you to a list
of firms within your industry or in related industries.

For executive roles, it is important to think of firms with comparable scale
to your own firm. While Radio Shack may try to recruit retail manage-
ment from Apple, it is not appropriate to compare compensation levels
for senior executives across two organizations of such different scales.
The most commonly used measure of scale is revenue, which is a good
indicator when comparing firms within a single industry. However, across
industries, profitability and/or market capitalization should be considered
as well. For a very low margin business (e.g., a retailer or a wholesaler),



70 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

revenue may overstate the scale and complexity of executive roles. We
will address the definition of the competitive market in more detail when
discussing peer groups in Chapter 10.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Are these companies comparable to us in terms of size (e.g., revenue,
assets, profits, or market capitalization)?

* Are there criteria that are critical other than size (e.g. global, branded,
etc.)?

¢ Do we lose talent to/attract talent from these firms?

* Is there anything about the makeup of our competitive market that may
skew the pay data to be too high or low?

Pay Mix

Relatively few companies make an explicit statement about the precise
percentage of pay expected to be delivered as salary, annual incentive,
and long-term incentives. However, almost all public companies will state
that at-risk pay (i.e., annual incentive and long-term incentives) will be the
majority of pay for senior executives and will represent a higher portion
of total pay for the CEO and the most senior executives than for other
employees.

For the CEO, a market-median target pay positioning for each pay element
(salary, annual incentive and long-term incentives) will typically result in a
pay mix that results in more than 50% of total direct compensation deliv-
ered in the form of long-term incentives. In fact, for CEOs of large compa-
nies, the typical pay mix is close to 15% base salary, 20% annual incentive,
and 65% long-term incentives. Within the market, the mix of pay elements
will vary depending on the perceived importance of near-term and long-
term performance and the goals of the company.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 71

CEO Pay Mix CFO Pay Mix

Base
12%

LTI
58%

LTI
68%

Beyond the target pay mix across different elements of pay, the company
may have a philosophy about the mix between cash compensation and
equity-based compensation. While most public companies deliver 100%
of their long-term incentives in the form of equity-based compensation,
other companies either denominate or settle a portion of their long-term
incentives in the form of cash to address executive concerns about liquid-
ity and exposure to stock price volatility (i.e., emphasizing the objective of
attraction and retention of executives over alignment with shareholders).

Shareholder advisory groups have a high degree of interest in the mix
between performance- and non-performance-based pay. For exam-
ple, Institutional Shareholder Services (ISS) will tend to view salary,
time-vested restricted stock, and time-vested stock options as non-per-
formance-based pay. Their perspective is that an incentive plan needs to
require the achievement of explicit performance criteria in order to be
considered performance-based pay. Many companies will address this by
indicating which elements of the compensation program the compensa-
tion committee views as performance-based. In many cases, compensa-
tion committees view stock options as inherently performance-based, as
the stock price has to increase for the options to have any value.



72 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:
* How does our pay mix compare to market?

* To the extent it does vary from market, is the variance consistent with our
compensation philosophy (e.g., more/less pay at risk, more/less cash, etc.)?

Internal Equity

Internal equity is currently a hot topic among critics of executive pay lev-
els. Many observers have noted a significant disparity between the pay
levels of the CEO and other senior executives, and between the CEO and
rank-and-file employees. Because of these concerns about pay dispari-
ties, Congress added a requirement to the Dodd-Frank Act for companies
to disclose the ratio of the pay of the median employee to the pay of the
CEO.

As a practical matter, most compensation committees are more focused on
ensuring that pay levels are competitive with the external market than they
are with the relative levels of pay for employees that are fulfilling different
functions within the company. It is hard for committees to understand the
relevance of comparisons between the pay levels of a CEO and a bank teller
or sales manager. Each position requires fundamentally different skills and
experience, and as such, they are paid very differently in the labor market.

CEO Pay Ratio

Based on the final rules from the SEC to implement section 953(b)
of Dodd-Frank, companies will be required to disclose in their proxy
statement the ratio of the pay of the CEO to that of the median em-
ployee of the company. While most board members and compensa-
tion consultants view this ratio as a figure with very little relevance
to compensation decision-making, certain legislators and activist
investors pushed for its inclusion in Dodd-Frank and worked behind
the scenes to accelerate the SEC’s implementation of the rules for
the required disclosure. The stated rationale for the requirement is



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 73

that the ratio may be useful information for shareholders to assess
how the company pays its employees. However, it seems that the
underlying intent for the rule is to shame corporate boards for pay-
ing CEOs significantly more than they pay other employees and to
place the most scrutiny on the companies with the biggest discrep-
ancies between the pay of the CEO and that of the median employee.
In practice, numerous factors will influence the ratio that have very
little to do with how competitively a company’s employees are paid
(e.g., industry, company size, nature of workforce, degree to which
company outsources, geographical makeup of workforce, percent-
age of part-time employees, etc.). As a result, the CEO pay ratio will
consistently be hard to interpret.

Unfortunately, the CEO pay ratio will also be challenging to calcu-
late, as most companies have a limited ability to identify the pay level
of the median employee; this is particularly true for companies that
operate in multiple countries. The table below provides a summary

of the key provisions of the final rules.

Summary of Requirements

=N =

Employees All employees (includes part-time, temporary, non-U.S.,
Included etc.) employed at fiscal year end (potential to exclude
up to 5% of non-U.S. employees)

Definition of Companies have discretion to determine an approach
Compensation as long as it is a reasonable estimation of annual total
Used to compensation, as it would appear in the Summary
Identify Median Compensation Table (e.g., W-2 earnings, salary plus
Employee bonus, salary plus bonus plus long-term incentives, etc.)
Method for Companies can use the total population or

Calculating representative statistical sampling of the employee

Median population



74 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Summary of Requirements

R I

Annualized Companies can annualize pay for full-time workers
Compensation who are employed for only part of the year, but cannot
annualize pay for seasonal, part-time, or temporary

workers
Definition of Summary Compensation Table definition (includes
Compensation salary, bonus, equity awards, non-equity incentive
for Ratio compensation, change in pension value, and all other

compensation)

Where compensation committees do (and should) focus on internal eq-
uity is among members of the senior executive team. At times, positions
within your company may be difficult to benchmark externally because
of differences in your organizational structure from what is typical in the
broader market. In these cases, competitive data may be a less important
input into decision-making than the relative importance of the positions
to your organization. The compensation committee and executive man-
agement need to use their judgment to determine that certain jobs should
be paid comparably even when the competitive market pay data may sug-
gest that they should be paid differently.

A recent development in this area is that ISS has begun to incorporate
the ratio of the CEO's pay to the pay of the next highest-paid executive
into the compensation quadrant of its QuickScore governance tool. While
the results of this tool do not factor directly into ISS’s vote recommenda-
tion on a company'’s Say on Pay proposal, the results include an indicator
of concern about the compensation program. Shareholder advisors and
some institutional shareholders view a high ratio between the CEO’s pay
and the pay of the next highest-paid executive as a potential indicator that
there is not a strong successor in place.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 75

* s the ratio between our CEO’s pay and other senior executives’ (e.g.,
the CFO’s) pay comparable to the ratio in the competitive market? If
not, why?

¢ Are the direct reports to the CEO paid at similar levels? If not, why (e.g.,
differences in market data, differences in responsibilities, etc.)?

e Are executives with comparable responsibilities (e.g., business unit
leaders) paid at similar levels? If not, why (e.g., differences in scope of
business unit, additional responsibilities, etc.)?

Pay for Performance

Much like beauty, pay for performance is in the eye of the beholder. De-
pending on how performance is defined, how pay is defined, what is used
as the basis for comparison, and what time period is examined, people can
arrive at very different conclusions about the nature of the pay-for-perfor-
mance relationship. In the current environment, getting the pay-for-per-
formance relationship “right” is the most important aspect of the pay phi-
losophy and one of the most challenging areas of compensation design.

In terms of pay philosophy, most companies will simply state that they
intend to have pay levels move with the performance of the company (i.e.,
higher pay levels when performance is strong and lower pay levels when
performance is weak). Some companies will take this approach a step fur-
ther and add a component of relative performance (e.g., state that they
expect pay levels to be in the bottom quartile when performance is in the
bottom quartile and pay levels to be in the top quartile when performance
is in the top quartile). Most of the challenges related to maintaining the
pay-for-performance relationship come in its implementation, rather than
in the philosophy statement.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Have we committed to a pay-for-performance approach in our com-
pensation philosophy?



* Do we define performance on an absolute or relative basis, or some
combination of the two?

* Can we demonstrate that we are complying with our compensation
philosophy in how we set performance goals and determine actual pay
levels?



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 77

Chapter 10. Peer Groups

Building off the definition of the competitive market in the compensation
philosophy, most compensation committees use a peer group to bench-

mark pay and/or performance levels for the most senior executives in the

company (CEO, CFO, and three other highest-paid executive officers). The

peer group that the company selects is intended to reflect the competi-

tors for talent for senior executive roles, and also considers who the com-

pany competes with for customers and capital.

Most companies select peers based on comparability in terms of industry

and/or other business characteristics, along with business scope:

Industry Comparability: Companies look for peers that operate in the
same industry narrowly defined (e.g., auto manufacturing) or more
broadly defined (e.g., durable goods manufacturing). Global Industry
Classification (GIC) codes and Standard Industrial Classification (SIC)
codes are frequently used to help companies screen for peer compa-
nies.

Business Characteristics: When a company is challenged in finding
peers that are direct industry peers, or in a highly concentrated indus-
try, they may expand the search to companies that share key business
characteristics (e.g., consumer goods companies, global companies,
professional service firms, asset-intensive businesses, companies that
are highly cyclical or sensitive to commodity prices, highly regulated
entities, etc.).

Company Scale: Peer companies are typically targeted to be similar to
the company in size at median. A general rule is to look at companies
with revenue from 0.5x to 2.0x that of the company (or assets in the
case of financial services companies). Companies may expand beyond
this range to include peers that are viewed as particularly important
competitors for talent. Alternative and/or secondary criteria may also
be used (e.g., market cap or profit margin) to supplement revenue.



78 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

The peer group is important in that it serves as the basis for establishing
target executive compensation levels. It can also be used as way to test
the pay-for-performance relationship. If a company is going to get the
pay-for-performance relationship calibrated correctly, it is ideal to use a
single peer group for pay and performance comparisons. That way, the
company can demonstrate that the percentile positioning of its compen-
sation levels is aligned with the percentile positioning of its performance.
A key challenge is that sometimes the companies that are relevant for pay
comparisons may be less relevant for performance comparisons. In cases
where the use of multiple peer groups is required, the rationale for the use
of more than one peer group and how each peer group is used should be
clearly disclosed in the company’'s CD&A.

Companies are often criticized for “gaming” the makeup of their peer
group to try to increase target pay levels. This criticism often occurs
where companies include much larger companies (in terms of revenue or
market cap) in the peer group. At times, this criticism is well founded. Pay
levels systematically increase with company size. When developing a peer
group, a key principal to keep in mind is that the median revenue among
the peer group should be close to the revenue level of the company.

For companies that target pay levels above median, it can also be import-
ant that the range of size among the peers not be too large. Inclusion of
peers that are larger than 2x the size of the company may have a limited
impact on the median revenue and median compensation levels for the
peer group as a whole (particularly if the peer group also includes some
companies that are significantly smaller than the company). However, it
may have a significant impact on, for example, the 75th percentile com-
pensation levels.

Many times, management will feel that there are significantly larger com-
panies in the industry (e.g., more than 3x the company’s revenue) that
should be included in the peer group as they may be a source of talent
for the company or may potentially recruit the company'’s talent away. In
these cases, it may be appropriate to consider these companies for pur-
poses of assessing pay practices, but it can be problematic to use them
to benchmark compensation levels (though in isolated cases/industries,



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 79

there may not be a better alternative). While it is reasonable to be aware
of the compensation practices of larger companies, including them in the
calculation of summary statistics can skew the findings and may make the
company a target for external critics.

Another important perspective to understand on peer groups is that
the two largest and most influential shareholder advisory firms (ISS and
Glass-Lewis) each have their own approaches to defining peer groups for
your company. They will use the peer groups that they develop to conduct
their own assessments of the competitiveness of your company’s pay lev-
els and the alignment of the CEO's pay levels with the company’s perfor-
mance on an absolute and relative basis.

ISS peer group development continues to evolve from year to year, and
their current approach uses the company’s self-defined peer group as a
key input in their selection criteria. They tend to take a strict approach to
excluding any companies from the peer group that are less than 0.4x the
revenue (or assets for financial services companies) of the company or
more than 2.5x the revenue (or assets) of the company. ISS will select a
peer group that contains at least 12 companies (though a typical minimum
is 14) and up to a maximum of 24 companies.

Glass-Lewis's peer group methodology depends on the social networking
theory. They use a scoring methodology to identify which companies use
the target company as a peer and how many of the peers use one another
as peers. The companies identified as having the most and strongest con-
nections to the client are selected as the peers.

ISS and Glass-Lewis's peer groups will each overlap with your company's
self-identified peer group to some degree, but there likely will be differ-
ences. It is helpful to know the degree of difference in order to anticipate
where ISS and Glass-Lewis may identify misalignments between pay and
performance based on differences in the peer groups used.



80

A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Below is an illustration on developing a peer group:

Selection Criteria Peer Group Selection

==
=

Public Companies 10,000+ Companies
Industry Relevant ~ 600 Cos.

N2

0.5x — 2.0x Client
Revenues

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

Is our peer group comparable to us in terms of revenue? Is the answer
substantively different for other measures of size (e.g., market cap, net
income, EBITDA, etc.)?

Is the range in size among our peers wide or narrow (e.g., what is the
difference between the median and 75th percentile revenue?)?

Are there any large or small peers that may be skewing the competitive
findings? If so, how can we address this issue?

Are all of the peers equally relevant for financial performance compatri-
sons? Would it be helpful to look at a subset of our most direct compet-
itors for financial performance comparisons?

What is the degree of overlap between our self-defined peer group and
the peer groups used by ISS and Glass-Lewis?



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 81

Chapter 11. Annual Incentive Design

Annual incentive (or bonus) design is a complicated topic that could eas-
ily serve as the basis for an entire book on its own. For our purposes, we
will focus on the information that is needed to ask informative questions
about the annual incentive design to help ensure it does not raise any ma-
jor concerns. Our discussion focuses on the incentive plan primarily as it
relates to the most senior executives in the company.

Target Annual Incentive Opportunity

Most annual incentive plans will have a target annual incentive opportuni-
ty assigned to each executive (or employee) participating in the plan. The
target amount is expected to be earned if the company achieves its ob-
jectives at the planned level of performance and/or the individual meets
his or her objectives at the expected level of performance. The target an-
nual incentive opportunity is most often defined relative to base salary
(e.g., 50% of base salary), though in some circumstances it is a set dollar
amount (e.g., $50,000).

As discussed under the compensation philosophy, annual incentive target
opportunities are often established with reference to the market median
(e.g., the market-median annual incentive opportunity for a comparable
role or the amount of annual incentive required to result in market-medi-
an target total cash compensation). It is typical that the target annual in-
centive opportunity as a percent of base salary will be highest for the most
senior executives with the greatest ability to impact the overall financial
results of the company. The table below provides an illustrative scale for
annual incentive opportunities:

Incentive % of Base

Executive Level Base Salary Salary Annual Incentive $

CEO $1,000,000 100% $1,000,000

COOo $600,000 80% $480,000



82 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Incentive % of Base

Executive Level Base Salary Salary Annual Incentive $
EVP $450,000 70% $315,000

SVP $300,000 60% $180,000
VP $200,000 40% $80,000

It is critical to understand that the annual incentive target represents an
opportunity to be earned, assuming a given level of performance, but that
the actual payout is expected to vary from the target based on perfor-
mance outcomes.

A minority of companies (approximately 10% of the CAP 100)? has adopted
purely discretionary annual incentive designs without the concept of
an annual incentive target. This structure is most common in financial
services firms. In this context, companies and employees tend to look
back at historical average incentive payouts as the basis for establishing
expectations about the bonus opportunity.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:
* How do our annual incentive opportunities compare to market?

e If our annual incentive opportunities are significantly above/below
market, are our performance goals demonstrably more difficult/less
difficult than those of other companies?

* In the absence of target annual incentive opportunities, how do our
employees gauge how their performance will translate into compen-
sation outcomes?

Annual Incentive Payout Range



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 83

The annual incentive payout range is the range of potential payouts that
an executive (or employee) can receive based on performance. The most
common structure is as follows:

* Threshold Payout: 25%—-50% of target annual incentive opportunity

* Maximum Payout: 150%—-200% of target annual incentive opportunity

Maximum Payout as a % of
Target

Threshold Payout as a % of
Target

<25% 16% 100% < 150%
25% < 50% 26% 150% < 200% 13%
50% 55% 200% 73%
50% < 75% 0% 200% < 250% 5%
75 <100% 3% >250% 6%

The threshold payout level is established to indicate that below a certain
level of performance, no incentive payout is warranted. While a minori-
ty of companies initiate bonus payouts at 0% of target, many companies
have a threshold payout of 25%—50% of target to ensure that the incentive
paid is a meaningful amount of money.

Companies have annual incentive maximum amounts to help manage the
overall cost of the incentive program, limit the risk of a windfall due to
unanticipated events, and reduce the likelihood that executives will take
inappropriate risks in order to earn out-sized payments in a given year.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* How do our threshold and maximum payout levels compare to market
norms? If they are substantively different, what is the rationale?



84 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

* Are our performance objectives at the threshold and maximum levels
appropriately calibrated to the incremental decrease or increase from
the target annual incentive?



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 85

Performance Measures

Before diving into the role of performance metrics in the annual incentive
plan, it is worthwhile to briefly discuss the different categories of perfor-
mance measures used by companies:

¢ Operational/Strategic Measures: These tend to be measures of the
success of the company or individuals in achieving operational im-
provements (e.g., fewer product defects, higher levels of customer
satisfaction, less manufacturing downtime, etc.) or executing strate-
gic initiatives (e.g., implementation of an enterprise resource manage-
ment platform, completion of an acquisition/divestiture, new product
launch, etc.).

* Financial Measures: These include measures of top-line (e.g., revenue
growth) and bottom-line growth (e.g., earnings-per-share growth),
profitability (e.g., operating margin), financial returns (e.g., return on
equity or return on capital), cash flow, and economic profit.

* Stock Price Measures: These include stock price appreciation and total
shareholder return.

If we think of these metrics along a spectrum, the achievement of opera-
tional/strategic measures is expected to lead to improved financial perfor-
mance, which will, in turn, lead to improved stock performance. For annu-
al incentive plans, most companies use financial measures as the basis for
corporate and/or business unit performance measures and operational/
strategic measures as the basis for individual performance measurement
(where used).



86 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Annual Incentive Plan - Corporate Performance Metrics

33%

Revenue EPS Op. Income Cash Flow EBIT/ Return Net Income
EBITDA Metrics

* Other Profit Metrics include EBIT/EBITDA, Economic Profit/EVA, Net Income, and Pre-
tax income. ** Return Metrics include Return on Invested Capital, Return on Equity and
Return on Assets. Source: CAP 100

Why don’t companies use stock price measures in the annual incentive
plan? While these measures are great for aligning executives with share-
holder interests, they do not send a clear message to executives or other
employees about what the company needs to achieve on an operational
or a financial measure to drive increases in the stock price Also, an annual
performance period is difficult for setting a stock price objective and as-
sessing performance, as market volatility may have a larger impact on the
company'’s stock price performance over a single year than the results that
management achieves.

While stock price and/or total shareholder return are seldom used in an-
nual incentive plans, it should be noted that many external critics of ex-
ecutive compensation are frustrated when annual incentive payouts do
not decrease significantly in periods where the company'’s stock price falls
or significantly lags the broader market. It is important to keep in mind
that the annual incentive is only one part of the executive compensation
program, and there are other long-term elements of the pay program that
will be much more sensitive to the performance of the company’s stock.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 87

Financial measures are used as the basis for assessing corporate and busi-
ness unit performance because they are results-oriented metrics that,
over the long term, should lead to increases in shareholder value. They are
also measures that management can influence more directly than stock
price over an annual period. Management knows that they can increase
return on capital by increasing revenue, decreasing costs, or reducing the
amount of capital in the organization. But it is challenging to identify how
specific decisions or actions they take will move the stock price within the
course of a year.

Operational and strategic measures are less likely to be used at the corpo-
rate level for several reasons. Often, success or failure on these measures
is not necessarily a shared responsibility across all executives, but may
only be within the span of control of a smaller subset. In addition, corpo-
rate and business unit financial measures tend to be used as the basis for
funding incentives, while operational and strategic measures may be used
only for allocating incentives among different individuals in the plan. In a
sense, financial metrics are self-funding in that the incremental dollars of
profitability fund incremental incentive payments. With operational and
strategic measures, there is no guarantee that they will result in an im-
provement in financial results, let alone an increase in stock price. As a re-
sult, most companies are reluctant to base substantial amounts of annual
incentive funds on the achievement of operational or strategic measures
without the anticipated return.

With that as background, it is expected that the company will select per-
formance measures for the annual incentive plan that will translate into
increased shareholder value over time. Typically, the committee wants to
ensure that the performance measurement framework sends balanced
messages to management about what performance is important. For ex-
ample, if only a return measure is used, there may be an excessive focus
on cost and capital reduction as the way to improve performance at the
expense of top-line growth. As a result, many companies that employ a
return measure in their annual incentive plans use a revenue growth or
earnings growth measure as well to help reduce the risk that returns are
improved at the expense of growth. Ultimately, the measures selected



88 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

should be linked to the company’s business strategy and how value is cre-
ated in the business.

Practical considerations also factor into the selection of performance
measures for an annual incentive plan. In our experience, using more than
three or four measures in the annual incentive can dilute the message
about what performance is most important. A performance plan with ten
performance measures will have an average weighting for each measure
of 10% of the overall annual incentive. While this approach may give an
executive a clear checklist of performance requirements, it does not pri-
oritize the key results that will be most important from an investor’s per-
spective. By concentrating on a few key measures, the executive has some
leeway in determining how to achieve the result and can focus on the
activities that he/she feels will be most critical for that result.

Another practicality that factors into the annual incentive design is wheth-
er the measure fits the specific organization. A measure like economic
profit has a strong theoretical basis and advocates for the measure will say
that it is highly correlated the creation of long-term shareholder value.
And for most mature businesses, economic profit is a theoretically sound
measure of business economics. However, economic profit is a complex
measure to communicate and understand. Beyond that, many aspects of
achieving an economic profit result (e.g., capital allocation and capital
structure) may be out of the control of most annual incentive plan par-
ticipants. It may also be challenging to measure something like econom-
ic profit at the business unit level, particularly if some physical capital is
shared by different parts of the business. Similar arguments frequently ap-
ply to return measures like return on assets or return on invested capital.

To use certain measures, an organization needs to be committed to train-
ing and confident in the financial knowledge of their employees. If the
typical manager only impacts invested capital through working capital,
then using a working capital measure like working capital turnover in
combination with operating profit may be better than explicitly measuring
economic profit. The diagram below outlines some key questions to keep
in mind when considering alternative performance measures:



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 89

Is the metric complex?
Can business systems
capture the metric?

COMPLEXITY
ACCURACY FIT

How well does the metric Does the metric fit
capture business economics the planning process?
and shareholders’ expectation?
Performance
Metric

CORRELATION INDUSTRY

Does the metric correlate Does the metric capture
with shareholder interests? industry dynamics?
STRATEGY COMPANY
Does the metric capture Does the metric fit
the business strategy? the company culture?

It should also be noted that the financial performance measures used
for purposes of annual incentive plan calculations may vary from GAAP
measures disclosed in the company’s financial statements. The reason
for these adjustments is that there may be items that impact the finan-
cial statements that were either not anticipated in the budgeted numbers
used in the annual incentive plan or are viewed as one-time items outside
of the usual operations of the company. Below is a list of common adjust-
ments made to financial measures (e.g., EPS, free cash flow, and return on
net assets) in annual incentive plans:

* Any changes in accounting standards or treatments that may be required or permitted by
the Financial Accounting Standards Board and the Securities and Exchange Commission,
or adopted by the company after the goal is established

* Effects of changes in laws, regulations, or tax rules and treatments

* The gain or loss from the sale or discontinuance of a business segment, division, or unit
and its budgeted, unrealized operating income



90 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

* Restructuring and severance costs pursuant to a plan approved by the board of directors
and/or CEO

* Gains or losses from litigation, natural disasters, terrorism, or fraud/fraud investigations

* Results from an acquired business and costs related to the acquisition including earn-out
payments, interest expense, and the EPS impact from the issuance of stock related to the
acquisition

 Extraordinary items as defined by GAAP or non-recurring items

* Effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates from the rates assumed in the bud-
get

*  Write-downs or impairments of assets that exceed $

* Termination or loss of license, lease, or long-term contracts
* Stock-based compensation costs to the extent not included in the budget

* The EPS impact of unbudgeted share repurchases and other changes in the number of
outstanding shares and the corresponding impact those repurchases and changes have
on interest expense

* Unplanned capital expenditures that exceed § in expense

* Unplanned or out-of-period charges or credits

Deciding what exclusions should be made for purposes of determining
annual incentive performance is frequently a contentious area. Compa-
nies are frequently criticized for excluding items that adversely impact
performance while not setting aside positive impacts. In our experience,
the best approach is to agree in principle upfront on the types of items
that will be excluded from the calculation of the measure, with the in-
tention of making similar adjustments for both negative impacts (e.g., re-
structuring costs, asset write -down, etc.) and positive impacts (e.g., gains
on sale, legal settlements, etc.). In any case, the committee should reserve
the right to apply negative discretion in the event that they feel manage-



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 91

ment should be held accountable for an item that might otherwise be ex-
cluded from the calculation.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Are the performance measures appropriate for measurement over a
one-year time period, or are they better measured over the mid term/
long term?

* Do the performance measures provide us with a basis for assessing how
well we are doing in achieving our business strategy? Will they poten-
tially distract executives from achieving this strategy?

* Do the performance measures emphasize certain aspects of the strat-
egy at the expense of others (e.g., encourage inventory turnover at the
expense of increased revenue)?

* Are these measures long-term drivers of improvement in the stock
price or correlated with stock price movement over time?

e Are our financial measures calculated on a GAAP basis? If not, what are
the adjustments from GAAP accounting and why do we make them?

* Do the metrics in the annual incentive plan complement the perfor-
mance focus in the long-term incentive plan?

Performance Goals

Selecting the right performance measures sends a signal to executives
about which aspects of performance are most critical. Most companies
will establish a target level of performance that will correspond to a target
annual incentive payout. As a result, for appropriate pay-for-performance
calibration, it is critical that the target level of performance be set at the
expected level of performance (i.e., about a 50% chance of achieving
above that level and a 50% chance of achieving below that level).

The overwhelming majority of companies set their annual incentive per-
formance objectives based on the company'’s business plan. As a result,



92 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

the degree of rigor in establishing the business objectives will have a
strong impact on the company’s pay-for-performance relationship. If the
company sets an aggressive plan that is difficult to achieve, it is likely that
they will underpay relative to performance. If the company sets a relatively
conservative plan with a high probability of achievement, it is likely that
they will overpay relative to performance.

A key challenge in setting these goals is to predict the future, as there is
often a great deal of uncertainty around financial projections (e.g., macro-
economic factors, changes in the prices of production inputs, regulatory
decisions, etc.). As such, it is challenging to assess the accuracy of plan
goals at the time they are set. Companies that take setting goals seriously
should assess them from multiple perspectives (e.g., the company’s past
performance on the measure, industry peers’' past performance on the
measure, and analysts’ expectations for the company and its peers) to test
the difficulty of the plan. If the plan departs from historical performance
and analysts’ expectations, there may be reason for concern that the goals
are not well calibrated.

A minority of companies avoid the goal-setting question by assessing
annual performance on a relative basis vs. peers. Few companies go this
route because of three challenges:

Data Availability: Due to the timing of public disclosures of financial per-
formance information, it is challenging to calculate relative performance
within the timeframe required.

Performance Comparability: Comparing financial performance across
companies is challenging. Growth measures (e.g., EPS growth) can be
problematic due to scale issues (e.g., a $0.05 increase in EPS may repre-
sent a 5% increase for one company while it represents a 100% increase
for a company coming off a poor base year). Even return measures like
ROIC have challenges as companies may want to adjust for differences in
capital structure, goodwill, or non-operating items.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 93

Peer Relevance: It may be challenging to identify a group of companies
that are comparable in terms of business model and relevant for financial
performance comparisons.

Under today’s disclosure requirements, companies are expected to dis-
close their annual incentive performance goals and actual performance
results in the proxy statement’s CD&A as part of their explanation of how
the annual incentive payouts for the fiscal year were determined. Direc-
tors should anticipate external criticism from shareholder advisory groups
if the performance objectives do not appear to be robust (e.g., decline
relative to goals or actual performance from the prior year, significant-
ly lag competitor performance levels, etc.) or the performance goals are
achieved, but the company’s TSR or financial performance was weak on
a relative basis.

Historical Prospective
Total Shareholder Total Shareholder
Return Return

Industry Index s Cost of Equity
B B

S&P 500 Index Long-Range
o COMPANY R

GOAL 10%

Company Hist. Analyst Views
O, @




94 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* How do the performance goals compare to last year's performance? If
they are not an improvement over the prior year, why is performance
expected to decline?

* How do the performance goals compare to analysts’ expectations? If
there is significant variation from expectations, what is the reason?

* How confident is the company in achieving its business plan? Does the
company have a history of meeting its business plan and lagging peer
performance levels or missing its business plan, but exceeding peer
performance levels?

* If relative performance goals are used, are the financial comparisons
being done on an “apples-to-apples” basis? Are all of the peers equally
relevant for performance comparisons?

Performance Ranges

Most companies have a performance range around target that is used as
the basis for determining the actual incentive payout relative to the target
annual incentive payout. In the typical structure, a threshold performance
level and a maximum or superior performance level are established that
correspond to the threshold incentive payout and the maximum incentive
payout. The table and chart below describe the typical structure:

* Wide Performance Range: 80%-120% of planned performance level

* Narrow Performance Range: 90%-110% of planned performance level



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 95

Incentive Leverage Curve
25

15

Wide Range

Narrow Range

0.5

Payout as a Percentage of Target

0
60% 70% 80% 90% 100% 110% 120% 130% 140%

Performance as a Percentage of Target

For performance measures where a relatively low level of variability is an-
ticipated (e.g., top-line revenue), the threshold performance level should
likely be set relatively close to the target performance level (e.g., 97.5% of
plan); the maximum should be set close to target as well (e.g., 102.5% of
plan). For performance measures that are expected to be more variable
from year to year or in more volatile businesses, a much wider perfor-
mance range could be used (e.g., threshold at 70% of plan, maximum at
130% of plan).

An effective rule for establishing performance ranges is that the thresh-
old level of performance should be set so that the company expects to
achieve it 80%—-90% of the time and the maximum (or superior) perfor-
mance level should be achieved 10%—-20% of the time. It should be noted
that these probabilities are in themselves just the company’s best guess at
the range of outcomes. To the extent possible, analyses of the historical
variability of the company’s own and peers’ performance on the measure
can be used as an input in determining the performance range.

It is common to expect a symmetric performance range above and below
target. This makes sense if the variability in performance is similar above
or below the planned level of performance. If the performance range is



96 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

not symmetric, management should provide a sensitivity analysis to the
committee explaining why the asymmetry makes sense. As a committee
member, you should be skeptical if the performance range is wide be-
tween the threshold performance level and target performance level and
is narrow between the target performance level and maximum/superior
performance level, particularly if there is significant upside opportunity in
the payout.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* How variable has the company’s performance been over time? Out of
the past ten years, how many times has performance been either above
the maximum level or below the threshold level?

» If performance falls below the threshold level, will the company still
need to pay annual incentives at some level to retain key employees? If
so, would it be better to have a wider payout range?

* |s there anything about the current environment that indicates the fu-
ture performance may be more or less variable than historical perfor-
mance?



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 97

Chapter 12. Long-Term Incentive
Design

If annual incentive design could serve as the basis for a book of its own,
then long-term incentive design could be a multi-volume set. Long-term
incentive design raises complicated questions about accounting, tax
treatment, shareholder approval, plan administration, and governance.
Fortunately, compensation committees have the management team and
external advisors to help in addressing the technical aspects of long-term
incentive design. For our discussion of the topic, we will provide a brief
overview of the different vehicles and how they address the company’s
compensation objectives. We will have only brief forays into the more
technical aspects of long-term incentive design.

Long-Term Incentive Opportunity

Most companies have an overall target compensation structure composed
of base salary, target annual incentive, and an annual grant of long-term
incentives. As the base salary and annual incentive are generally denom-
inated in cash, it is straightforward to put a monetary value on them. For
simplicity, most companies will also establish a dollar value for long-term
incentives, often equal to a multiple of base salary (e.g., 150% of base sal-
ary) or a dollar amount (e.g., $500,000).

Similar to annual incentive opportunities, long-term incentives are often
tiered by executive level, with the most senior executives having the high-
est percentage of their total pay in the form of long-term incentives.

Base Salary LTI % of Base Salary LTI

$1,000,000 350% $3,500,000
COO $600,000 200% $1,200,000
EVP $450,000 150% $675,000

SVP $300,000 100% $300,000



VP $200,000 50% $100,000

Long-Term Incentive Mix

Among public companies, three long-term incentive vehicle categories
are in wide use:

* Stock Options or Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs): Provides value to
executives based on appreciation in the stock price, subject to vesting
criteria

* Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units (RSUs): Provides executives
with the full value of a company share, subject to vesting criteria

* Performance Plans: Function like an annual incentive plan, but with ac-
tual performance measured and/or award vested over multiple years.
Performance plans can be granted as performance shares with a target
opportunity denominated in shares or as performance cash/units, with
a target value established independent of the stock price

Most of the CAP 100 use at least two of the above vehicles, and 30% use
all three of them.

Prevalence of Typical LTI Vehicles Granted to Executives

39%

0% 1% 0%
Options/ Options/ RS/ Perf LTI Options/  Time-based Options
Perf LTI Time-based Perf LTI Only Time-based RS Only Only

RS/Perf LTI RS



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 99

The average mix of the three vehicles among CAP 100 companies is as
follows:

Executive LTI Mix

Stock Options
28%

Perf-based
LTI 53%

While stock options and performance shares are commonly used for se-
nior executives, lower level executives and individual contributors are
more likely to receive a higher portion of their LTIl in the form of time-
based restricted stock.

LTI Mix

Perfor- Stock Time-Based Restricted
Employee Level mance-based LTI Options Stock/Units
Executive Officers 59% 24% 17%
SVP 35% 30% 35%
VP 25% 30% 45%
Sr. Director 10% 25% 65%
Director / Manager 0% 20% 80%

Source: CAP 100 and CAP proprietary survey of general industry companies

Determining the Number of Shares to Grant



100 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

To determine how many stock options, restricted shares/RSUs, or perfor-
mance shares to grant to employees, the target LTI opportunity is typi-
cally first divided into component parts. For example, an executive with a
$1,000,000 annual LTI target opportunity and a vehicle mix of 25% stock
options, 25% time-vested RSUs, and 50% performance shares would ex-
pect to receive a grant value of $250,000 in stock options, $250,000 in
time-vested RSUs, and $500,000 in performance shares. The executive’s
target long-term incentive values then need to be converted into a num-
ber of shares for each of the vehicles.

Stock options are usually assigned a dollar value based on an option val-
uation model (e.g., Black-Scholes or binomial). This amount is typically
thought of as a percent of the current market price of the stock because
an option value will always be less than a price of the underlying stock.
Since the company has to account for stock options in its income state-
ment, most companies use the accounting value of stock options as used
for disclosure purposes in converting target option values into the number
of options to grant. For example, if the company'’s stock price on the date
of an option grant was $20, a representative stock option Black-Scholes
value could be $5.00 (or 25% of the stock price value on the date of grant).
In order to provide $250,000 in stock option value, the company would
need to grant 50,000 stock options.

Impact of Inputs to Option Valuation

Input Option
Change | $Value Explanation / Theory

Stock Price Higher stock price produces higher
T T option value, since it increases the
potential dollar gain for a given
percentage of stock appreciation.

Exercise The more one pays for the option, the

Price T ¢ lower the potential gain. If the stock
price is constant, a higher exercise
price creates a premium-priced
option while a lower exercise price
creates a discounted option.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 101

Impact of Inputs to Option Valuation

Input Option
Change $ Value Explanation / Theory

Dividend Theory says total shareholder

Yield T ¢ return (“TSR") equals stock price
appreciation plus dividends.
Therefore, the higher the dividend
portion of TSR, the lower the stock
appreciation and the lower option
value (since options typically do not
pay dividends). Payment of dividends
is viewed as a decrease to stock price.

Stock Price Volatility measures variation in

Volatility T T absolute movement in TSR. Since
options cannot be worth less than
$0, higher volatility provides more
upside opportunity with no additional
downside risk.

Option Term The longer the life of the option, the

to Exercise T T more time available for the stock

or Expected price to increase, making the option

Life more valuable.

Risk-Free The risk-free rate impacts the size

Rate T T of the “investment” necessary to pay

the exercise price. The higher the
interest rate, the lower the upfront
cost necessary to cover the liability of
the option exercise price at the end
of the term.

The accounting value for time-vested restricted stock is determined
based on the closing stock price on the date of grant. In order to provide
$250,000 in value with a stock price of $20, the company would need to
grant 12,500 shares of time-vested RSUs to an executive. To smooth out
stock price volatility, companies may use an average stock price over a
period of time (e.g., 10 trading days) leading up to the date of grant to de-
termine the number of shares. In these cases, the value used to determine
the number of shares to grant will not be equal to the accounting value of



102 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

the shares, and as a result, the value of the grant as communicated to the
employee may differ from the value disclosed to shareholders.

The accounting value of performance shares or long-term cash plans will
in most cases be equal to the target number of shares granted multiplied
by the closing stock price on the date of grant. This means that in order
to provide an executive with a target value of $500,000 at a stock price of
$20, the company will grant the executive 25,000 shares. It should be not-
ed that when the performance measure is based on the company'’s stock
price (e.g., in a performance share plan based on relative total shareholder
return), the determination of the accounting value will be more involved
and will likely be different than the closing stock price on the date of grant.

LTI Vehicles: Stock Options

Stock options used to be the most prevalent long-term incentive vehicle
and continue to be used by the majority of large companies as a long-
term incentive for senior executives. Why did stock options first become
a common form of long-term incentive? Investors viewed stock options
as a way to achieve the goals of pay for performance and alignment with
shareholders through a single, long-term incentive vehicle. Options are
inherently performance-based in that the executive can only realize value
from the options if the stock price at the date of exercise exceeds the
exercise price, which is typically set to be equal to the market price on
the date of grant. In other words, executives only realize gains from stock
options to the extent that they increase the stock price for shareholders.
Another practical advantage of stock options is that the company and the
board do not need to set specific goals for the executive and can therefore
avoid having to predict future results. The implicit goal is to increase the
stock price and the more it increases, the more value executives receive.
Through the bull market of the 1990s, stock options increased in prev-
alence and CEO compensation levels increased dramatically as a result.
Another historical advantage of stock options was that they did not im-
pact earnings on the income statement due to the accounting treatment
for stock options at that time. As a result, stock options were a LTI vehicle
that helped to align management with shareholders, pay for performance,
and avoid all accounting cost to the company.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 103

Why did companies move away from stock options in the late 2000s? Sev-
eral forces were jointly responsible. The bursting of the dot-com bubble in
the early 2000s started the move away from stock options. While options
were enormously popular in a bull market when stock prices were consis-
tently increasing, in the bear market that followed the bubble, many stock
options were underwater (i.e., the exercise price was well above the cur-
rent market price) and provided little or no motivational value to manage-
ment to increase the stock price. The trend away from stock options was
given another push in 2004 with the publication of accounting standard
FAS123R, now ASC 718, which required that stock options be expensed
on the income statement. Once stock options were put on an equal foot-
ing with other long-term incentive vehicles, it became less compelling for
companies to continue to use them to such a large extent.

Following both the dot-com bubble and the financial crisis of 2008—-2009,
critics of stock options raised concerns about the asymmetrical incen-
tives they created. Stock options align management and shareholders on
the upside, but an executive is less sensitive to incremental declines in
the stock price below the exercise price. In fact, when an option is well
underwater, executives potentially have incentives to take risks with low
expected returns, but high variability in results. As a result, shareholder
advisory groups view a LTI program that is overly dependent on stock op-
tions as potentially putting the company at risk of losses or, in extreme
cases, bankruptcy, by encouraging executives to take on risky strategies.

While it was not a major driver of the move away from stock options, the
options “backdating” scandal of the 2000s also harmed the reputation of
the vehicle. Many investors and other observers formed the impression
that executives were using options as a tool to line their pockets rather
than receiving them as a reward for performance.

Today, stock options continue to be used, in most cases in combination
with a performance plan or time-vested RSUs. Companies are more likely
to use stock options when the management team is optimistic about the
future stock price appreciation, the company has difficulty establishing
multi-year performance objectives, and the option cost is viewed as com-
parable to the perceived value of the award. Certain industries that are



104 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

viewed as high growth (e.g., biotechnology and software) may be more
likely to use stock options as a major component of the LTI program.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Would using stock options send a signal to shareholders that the
company is optimistic about the stock price?

* Do the management team and other LTI plan participants value stock
options highly or do they have concerns about stock price apprecia-
tion and/or volatility?

* Are a significant number of stock options from past grants underwa-
ter?

LTI Vehicles: Time-Vested Restricted Stock/Restricted Stock Units (RSUs)

Time-vested restricted stock continues to be used by the majority of large
public companies. It is frequently criticized as “pay for pulse” or a “give-
away,” as no performance goals need to be achieved in order for execu-
tives to realize value from restricted stock. This is largely a valid criticism.
If the compensation committee’s only goal was to ensure that the com-
pany has a strong pay-for-performance relationship, it is hard to argue
that restricted stock belongs in an executive compensation program. In
fact, unlike stock options and most long-term performance plans, grants
of time-vested restricted stock do not qualify for tax deductibility under
IRC Section 162(m) because the IRS does not classify them as perfor-
mance-based. As a result, when the restricted stock vests (or units are
settled), the company will not be able to deduct the value of the restricted
stock from its income to the extent that total non-performance-based
pay to the executive exceeds $1 million in the year of vesting/settlement.
To preserve tax deductibility under 162(m), some companies have estab-
lished a minimal performance-based hurdle for the vesting of what are
otherwise time-based restricted stock grants. In disclosing these grants,
the company may explicitly state that the performance hurdles are there to
address tax deductibility concerns rather than to bolster the pay-for-per-
formance relationship.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 105

Despite concerns about their efficacy from a pay-for-performance per-
spective, time-vested restricted stock is very effective in attracting and
retaining talent and is an excellent tool for aligning management with
shareholders’ interests. From the perspective of an executive, unvested
restricted stock sends a strong signal that if you stay with the company,
you will accumulate more wealth. The amount of wealth will move with
the stock price, but it is unlikely that it will decrease significantly unless
market conditions or company performance are very poor. Restricted
stock serves as a handcuff to keep executives with the company.

From a shareholder’s perspective, restricted stock has the advantage
of focusing management not only on increasing the stock price of the
company, but also on avoiding reductions in the stock price. This is a key
difference between stock options and restricted stock: restricted stock
encourages management to limit the downside risk to the company. Con-
cerns about risk mitigation, along with a desire to attract and retain talent,
can serve as the rationale for including restricted stock in the LTI program.

When companies use time-vested restricted stock, it is typically in three
different ways:

* Part of Annual LTI Program: Stock is included as part of the annu-
al LTI program (typically less than 1/3 of the total value provided to
executives) and vests over 3-5 years. For example, if a CEO receives
$3,000,000 of LTI value each year, 51,000,000 might be provided in the
form of time-vested restricted stock cliff vesting at the end of 3 years.

* Sign-on Grant Upon Hire: Stock is given as a special, one-time grant
upon hire to help attract the executive to the company and retain the
executive for a longer period. It often serves the dual purposes of mak-
ing the executive “whole” for forfeited equity from a prior employer and
providing the executive with an initial equity stake to encourage align-
ment with shareholders’ interests.

Restricted Stock vs. Restricted



106 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Stock Units (RSUs)

Some companies use restricted stock, while others use RSUs. What's
the difference and why would | use one vehicle rather than the oth-
er? Restricted stock is a grant of property, with restrictions on the
vesting of the property. RSUs are a promise to deliver property at
a future date in time. The key differences are that restricted stock
entitles the executive to the dividends on the shares and the right to
vote the shares during the vesting period. With RSUs, on the other
hand, the executive does not have the right to vote the shares or re-
ceive dividends during the vesting period, since no shares are issued
until the date of settlement (which may be different from the vesting
date). However, some companies will provide payment of dividend
equivalents (a cash value equal to the dividends paid on shares that is
typically accrued over the vesting or deferral period) when the RSUs
are settled. If they do not receive dividends or get to vote the shares,
why might executives prefer RSUs? The key advantage of RSUs is that
they provide flexibility to defer the receipt of shares (and taxation)
that is not feasible with restricted stock. In addition, the company
benefits because it can choose to settle RSUs in cash or in stock,
though there will be accounting implications for this decision.

* Special Grants of Restricted Stock: Some companies do not include
time-vested restricted stock as part of their ongoing, annual, long-term
incentive program. Instead, they use targeted grants of restricted stock
to support the retention of executives that are at risk of being recruited
away. Under this approach, restricted stock is typically an “add-on” to
an already market-competitive compensation program and can be the
basis for external criticism of the company'’s pay practices if used too
often.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 107

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Has the company been challenged in attracting executives to the com-
pany?

* Has the company had difficulty retaining executives? Has compensa-
tion been cited as an issue in any unwanted executive departures?

* In the event that the company'’s stock options are underwater and/or
one or more performance plan cycles are unlikely to pay out, does the
company have effective retention tools in place?

* Does the stock price tend to be volatile (e.g., in a cyclical industry) where
stock price movements are often driven by factors outside company con-
trol?

* Has the company been criticized by shareholders or shareholder advi-
sory groups for excessive use of time-vested restricted stock or a weak
pay-for-performance relationship?

LTI Vehicles: Performance Plans

Performance plans are similar to annual bonus plans, except that perfor-
mance and/or vesting is typically determined over a multi-year time frame
rather than within a single year. These plans have become increasingly
popular over the past 5-10 years, as they tend to be well received by exec-
utives and shareholders alike. Executives like performance plans because
they can be customized to the specific objectives of the company, and
shareholders like them because they have a more explicit pay-for-perfor-
mance structure than stock options or time-vested restricted stock.

Another reason for the attractiveness of performance plans is the flexi-
bility that they have in accommodating a multitude of design objectives.
Plan designs vary over the denomination of awards (cash vs. shares), per-
formance periods, performance measures, measurements (absolute vs.
relative), vesting periods, and the forms of payment. Companies can tai-
lor these designs to meet their specific strategic objectives and context.
While there may be some redundancy with the design decisions for annual



108 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

incentive plans, we will review the key design decisions involved in per-
formance plans and highlight the differences from annual incentive plans.

Denomination of Award

While annual incentive plans are generally denominated as a cash oppor-
tunity, performance plans can be denominated as a cash/cash unit tar-
get or a share/share unit target. Share/share units are the most common
design (approximately 80% of the CAP 100). Why use cash? Cash per-
formance plans focus the executives on the achievement of the specific
performance objectives identified under the plan, and insulate executives
from the impact of stock price movements. While this may not support the
objective of alignment with shareholders as effectively as a share-based
plan, cash payouts tend to be favored by executives as they do not need
to sell shares to realize value from these awards. Given the insider trading
rules that restrict an executive’'s ability to sell shares and the scrutiny that
investors apply to insider sales, a cash-based plan has obvious advantages.
Since stock options and time-vested restricted stock are both stock de-
nominated, performance plans are frequently the only cash-based, long-
term incentive for publicly traded companies. In addition, companies that
have had high levels of shareholder dilution from stock-based compen-
sation may prefer a cash-based, long-term incentive, as they do not need
shareholder approval to fund shares for awards.

Why use shares? Share-based plans are more common than cash-based
plans because denominating the award in shares helps to align executives
with shareholders while also encouraging pay for performance through
the plan design. While executives may generally prefer cash, denominat-
ing the plan in shares allows for greater upside opportunity as the exec-
utive can benefit not only from outperforming relative to the pre-estab-
lished performance criteria and thereby earning more shares, but also
from stock price increases. The same is true on the downside.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Do we have adequate shares available under our shareholder-approved
plan to fund awards if delivered in shares? Will it reduce the number of



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 109

years of long-term incentive plan awards that we can make under the
existing reserve?

* Are executive plan participants’ liquidity constrained? Would they ben-
efit substantially from a plan design feature that improves liquidity?

* Do executives have enough “skin in the game”?
Performance Period

The decision on the performance period is frequently intertwined with
the selection of performance measures. Approximately 80% of perfor-
mance plans use a three-year performance period. For companies that
use financial performance metrics, this usually aligns with the length of
time that the companies project future performance in their mid-term/
long-term financial plans. For companies that use stock price-based met-
rics (e.g., total shareholder return (TSR)), there is not an obvious reason
for a three-year performance period to be used, but it remains the most
common practice, and very few companies use performance periods that
extend beyond three years. For financial performance objectives, this is
likely due to the difficulty to make long-term projections. For stock-price
based measures, the performance period is likely selected to ensure that
the award feels tangible to executives. Given the diminished role of stock
options in LTI designs, there may be pressure over time to lengthen per-
formance periods for relative TSR plans given the emphasis most share-
holders place on long-term performance.

A minority of companies — approximately 10% — use a one-year or two-
year performance period and typically will have additional vesting of 2—-3
years on the award to ensure that executives cannot get paid until at least
three years from the grant date. The rationale for this approach is that
the companies do not have confidence in projecting out financial perfor-
mance objectives for three years. Additional vesting beyond the perfor-
mance period is added to assure shareholders that the award is intended
to reward for the long term, even if the performance objectives are short
term in nature. Shareholder advisory firms frequently prefer that compa-
nies commit to multi-year performance goals and view one-year goals



110 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

as problematic, particularly if they overlap substantially with the annual
incentive performance goals.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Does the company have a credible mid-term financial plan that can be
used as the basis for setting long-term performance objectives?

* What is the appropriate period of time for assessing whether or not
management is making progress in achieving its strategic objectives?

* Will the program be externally credible with the performance period we
have selected?

Performance Measures

In contrast to annual incentive plans, where companies rarely use stock
price as a performance measure, in long-term performance plans, relative
total shareholder return (TSR) is the most common performance measure
(used by 51% of CAP 100 companies). While many companies use TSR,
financial performance measures (e.g., revenue, EPS, ROIC) are the most
common category. Most companies use 2—3 performance measures in
combination with one another.

Long-Term Incentive Plan Metrics

51%

TSR Return Metrics EPS Revenue Cash Flow

* Return metrics include return on invested capital, return on equity and return on assets.
** Other profit metrics include EBIT/EBITDA, economic profit/EVA, net income, and pre-



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 111

tax income.

Companies that use TSR will, in most cases, establish performance goals
relative to other companies, as it is very difficult to predict what level of
absolute performance will be viewed as strong performance over a multi-
year period. Relative TSR plans tend to be well received by shareholders
because outperforming a group of competitors in terms of stock price
performance is an indicator that the company was a better investment
than alternatives over that investment period. From an executive perspec-
tive, relative TSR can be viewed positively as it helps to insulate manage-
ment from movements that affect all companies under comparison and
offers rewards for the company’s relative performance. While in an “up”
stock market, it may be harder to earn large payouts under a relative TSR
plan than under a stock option plan, in a “"down” stock market executives
can earn payouts in a relative TSR plan when stock options would likely
be underwater.

Accounting: Market Conditions vs.
Performance Conditions

For accounting purposes, a market condition is an award that de-
pends on stock price-based measures (e.g., stock-price appreci-
ation, total shareholder return) and a performance condition is an
award that is subject to internal financial performance metrics. These
awards differ dramatically in how they are treated for accounting
purposes. For a market condition, a model is used to determine the
probable payout of the award and hence its expected value at the
date of grant, not unlike a stock option. For example, to determine
the cost of a relative TSR performance share grant, a Monte Carlo
simulation model is used to determine the fair value based on the
expected value for the award. This value is “locked-in” as of the date
of grant if the award is settled in stock and cannot be adjusted based
on actual performance relative to the market condition. In contrast,
awards with a performance condition “lock in” the value per share on
the date of grant, but the number of shares expensed can be “trued



112 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

up” the number of shares actually earned based on actual perfor-
mance. Some companies find the fact that you cannot reverse the
expense for a market-based award if the award is not earned frus-
trating as they are recognizing an expense, when the participant re-
ceived no value.

The key challenge in implementing a relative TSR plan is identifying the
right group of companies to compare to. Since two of the main goals are
to reward executives for outperforming alternative investments and to in-
sulate management from external factors beyond their control, a natural
starting point is to identify companies that are viewed as viable invest-
ment alternatives or impacted by similar market conditions. Companies
that meet these criteria can be identified by looking at who investment
analysts compare the company to and by identifying which companies
have had stock price movements that are highly correlated with move-
ments in the company’s stock price. For companies with a clear set of
industry competitors or a well-defined industry index, this is likely the
best set of companies for TSR comparisons. Companies with few direct
industry competitors may either decide not to use relative TSR as a metric
or may select a broad market index (e.g., the S&P 500) as the basis for
comparison. However, some may criticize using a market index because
movements in stock price relative to the broad market can be driven by
sector performance, as opposed to company-specific performance.

Companies that use financial performance metrics in their long-term per-
formance plans will generally use the performance measures that they
view as most clearly aligned with shareholder value creation over the long
term. These performance measures will be embedded in the company’s
strategic plan and viewed as keys for long-term success. For capital-in-
tensive industries, a return measure like return on net assets or return on
invested capital may be used in combination with an earnings measure
like net operating profit or EPS. For high-growth industries, the perfor-
mance measures may be revenue growth and operating margin. Multiple
measures are often used to recognize that there may be tradeoffs be-
tween different objectives (e.g., growth at any cost vs. profitable growth).



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 113

The key advantage of using financial performance objectives over relative
TSR plans is that financial performance objectives are generally viewed as
being more within the control of management. A three-year EPS goal pro-
vides management with a clear message about what the compensation
committee is expecting from them in terms of performance. Management
can think through the specific activities that can contribute to improved
earnings. With a relative TSR plan, there is no clear goal. It is much more
challenging to identify the decisions and activities that will contribute to
outperformance in the stock market. As such, relative TSR plans are less
effective at driving management decisions and are better at aligning man-
agement pay with shareholder outcomes.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* What are the best measures of the company’s success in achieving its
mid-term business strategy?

* What measures do investment analysts focus on in evaluating our com-
pany’s performance?

* Do most senior executives understand how they can impact perfor-
mance on the measures under consideration? Are there alternative
measures that are easier to understand and still accurately capture the
economics of our business?

* |s there a credible basis for establishing mid-term performance goals
on performance metrics? If not, can we assess our performance relative
to peers?

Absolute vs. Relative Measurement

Similar to annual incentive plans, the majority of companies set long-term
performance plan goals to be equal to the performance levels in the com-
pany's mid-term or long-term business plan. Where companies have ex-
treme difficulty in setting multi-year goals, a few alternative approaches
are available:



114 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

* Use of a Performance Standard: Companies can base their perfor-
mance on growth from current levels using a long-term standard for
the industry (e.g., EPS growth of 10%) or based on a long-term indus-
try standard of performance (e.g., ROE of 12%). This avoids an internal
negotiation with management about the level of difficulty of the goal.
While this approach may be effective over a long period, it may be chal-
lenging for any one performance cycle because it does not take market
conditions into consideration.

* Relative Performance Assessment: Instead of establishing an upfront
goal for a multi-year performance period, the goal can be established
relative to other companies, a market index, or the companies that com-
pose the index. While this does not take into consideration the absolute
level of performance, it does implicitly correct for market conditions.

Relative performance measurement can be challenging for financial mea-
sures as it is sometimes difficult to provide apples-to-apples comparisons.
The most common financial measures assessed on a relative basis are fi-
nancial returns or profit ratios (e.g., return on equity, return on capital,
operating margin, etc.). As mentioned earlier, total shareholder return is
also frequently measured on a relative basis.

When TSR is measured on a relative basis, the majority of companies use
percentile rank among the comparable companies as the basis for the
comparison. This is a relatively straightforward approach, as the compa-
ny’s payout relative to target will be tied to the company’s relative perfor-
mance, as the table below demonstrates:

Percentile Rank Shares Earned as a % of Target

Below Threshold <25 0%
At Threshold 25t 50%
At Target 50t 100%

At Maximum 75t 150%



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 115

Percentile Rank Shares Earned as a % of Target

Above Maximum >75th 150%

Performance and corresponding payout levels are generally interpolat-
ed between threshold and target and target and maximum. A similar ap-
proach can be used for financial measures. A key issue in implementing
this approach will be the treatment of companies that exit the peer group
due to bankruptcy or acquisition. The “rules” for how to handle compa-
nies that exit from the peer group should be defined at the beginning of
the performance period to avoid any uncertainty or potential legal and
accounting issues.

An alternative approach, which can be difficult to calibrate and may overly
rely on large cap index constituents, is to set goals relative to the perfor-
mance of a market index itself (e.g., the S&P 500), rather than the compo-
nent companies of the index. This approach is much less common than
the approach discussed above. Below is an example of what performance
goals might look like for this approach:

Annualized TSR Shares Earned
Performance Performance vs. Index as a % of Target
Below Threshold 5% or more below 0%
At Threshold 2.5%—-5% below 50%
At Target 2.5% below-2.5% 100%
above
At Maximum 2.5%—5% above 150%

Above Maximum >5% above 150%



116 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Do we have a credible basis for establishing long-term performance
goals? Is there a risk that we will overpay or underpay if we do a poor
job of projecting market conditions?

* |s the preferred measure readily used for relative performance com-
parisons?

* Is there a good group of companies or a market index available to use
for relative performance comparisons?

* Should we use the same peer group for performance comparisons that
is used for pay comparisons?

Absolute Performance Goals: Performance Calibration

The challenges faced in setting performance goals for a multi-year per-
formance plan are similar to those for an annual plan, but are complicated
by the heightened degree of difficulty in projecting business conditions
over a multi-year period. Depending on the business environment, mak-
ing projections for business performance for one year may be difficult,
let alone three. Still, the clear message that multi-year business objec-
tives send to management about what the company is trying to achieve
is so compelling that a majority of companies with performance plans set
multi-year financial goals.

When looking at performance over a multi-year period, there are two
main ways to assess performance:

* Point-to-Point Growth: The company will establish a growth goal for
the three-year period. For example, if EPS in 2013 was $1.50, the com-
pany may say that they want to grow EPS by $0.15 per year to 51.95 by
2016. This approach effectively puts all of the focus on the final year
of the performance period and implicitly assumes that performance in
the intermediate years of 2014 and 2015 will be progressing toward the
2016 level. The downside of this approach is that performance in 2014



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 117

and 2015 could be poor, but the plan will pay out well so long as 2016
performance is strong.

¢ Cumulative Performance: In contrast to point-to-point growth, setting
a cumulative performance goal requires summing the goals for each
period in the plan to come up with a three-year total level of EPS (e.g.,
$1.65 + $1.80 + $1.95 = $5.40). In this structure, each year of the per-
formance period matters in evaluating three-year performance — not
just the final year of the performance period. The downside of this ap-
proach is that there may appear to be a pay-for-performance discon-
nect if performance is strong in the first two years of the performance
period and then declines in the third year. In this situation, there could
be a meaningful plan payout, even though performance looks average
in the final year.

Similarly, for multi-year measurement of a return measure (e.g., return on
equity), performance can either be assessed based on the level of attain-
ment in the final year of the three-year performance period or on the basis
of the average result on the performance metric over the full period.

Key Question for Committee Members to Ask:

Is it better to focus management on getting to an aspirational level of per-
formance by the end of the performance period or should we assess man-
agement based on their performance throughout the entire performance
period?

Form of Settlement

Most often, awards that are denominated in cash are settled in cash and
awards that are denominated in shares are settled in shares. However,
there are times when the form of payment will be different from the form
of denomination. For example, in order to facilitate executive compliance
with ownership guidelines or to conserve cash, awards that are denom-
inated in cash will sometimes be settled (or partially settled) in shares.
Alternatively, awards denominated in shares may be settled (or partially
settled) in cash in order to conserve shares or to facilitate the payment of



118 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

taxes. It should be noted that while the change in the form of settlement
will not have any impact on the incentives that the executive has while the
award is outstanding, it can have a meaningful impact on how the awards
are treated for accounting purposes.

Equity-Grant Accounting: Share-
Settled Grants vs. Cash-Settled
Grants

The accounting treatment for grants that are settled in shares is dif-
ferent from the treatment if they are settled in cash. This difference
applies not only to stock-settled performance shares vs. cash-settled
performance shares, but also to stock-settled RSUs vs. cash-settled
RSUs and stock-settled stock appreciation rights (SARs) vs. cash-set-
tled SARs. Share-settled awards are generally treated as a fixed-ac-
counting expense. This means that the company is able to “lock in”
the expense per share based on the stock price on the date of grant.
While the company may “true up” the expense for the number of
shares that ultimately vest due to a financial performance condition
or time-based vesting, the expense will not be changed for subse-
quent movements in the stock price.

In contrast, with a grant of cash-settled shares, the award is subject
to liability accounting. This means that the accounting expense asso-
ciated with the award will be “trued up” each quarterly reporting pe-
riod based on movements in the stock price and the ultimate amount
expensed will be based on the actual value of the award at the time
of settlement. This can create significant variability in the expense if
the stock is volatile.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 119

Examples of Performance Share Designs

* Financial Metric Performance Share Plan: Shares are earned based on
level of performance relative to pre-established financial goals over a
three-year period (e.g., three-year return on invested capital (ROIC)):

Performance Level 3-Year Average ROIC Payout vs. Target Shares

< Threshold <7.5% 0% of target
Threshold 7.5% 50% of target
Target 10% 100% of target
Maximum >12.5% 200% of target

Shares will be interpolated for performance between threshold and target and target and
maximum.

¢ Relative TSR Performance Share Plan: Shares are earned based on rel-
ative TSR performance vs. an index (e.g., S&P 500 index) or a custom
peer group:

Performance Level Performance Requirement Payout vs. Target Shares

< Threshold <25% percentile 0% of target
Threshold 25" percentile 50% of target
Target 50 percentile 100% of target
Maximum >75%" percentile 200% of target

Shares will be interpolated for performance between threshold and target and target and
maximum.

Termination Treatment of Long-Term Incentive Compensation

A fundamental characteristic of most long-term incentive awards is that
employees are supposed to vest in their awards over time. In fact, one of
the key objectives of a long-term incentive design is to encourage exec-



120 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

utives to stay with the company longer by making it costly for employees
to leave the organization or to be recruited away. If employees leave, they
will either walk away from any unvested awards or the company that re-
cruits the employee will have to make the employee “whole” for forfeited
awards through the provision of sign-on grants.

With that said, the treatment of vested and unvested long-term incentives
upon an executive's termination of employment often varies depending
on the circumstances of the termination event. Generally, companies
are more likely to have plan provisions that allow for continued vesting
post-termination, pro-rata vesting, or accelerated vesting when the rea-
son for termination is perceived to be less within the control of the em-
ployee. Conversely, they are more likely to call for forfeiture of unvested
long-term incentives when the decision to leave is more within the con-
trol of the executive or is due to an executive’s failure to perform.

In practice, this means that executives who terminate due to death, dis-
ability, or retirement are typically treated more generously than executives
who voluntarily leave the company or are terminated by the company
with or without cause. Treatment upon retirement may be less generous
in companies that provide for an earlier definition of retirement, as some-
one who retires at age 55 may be viewed as making a more elective deci-
sion to retire than an executive who retires at age 65.

When a company experiences a change in control, they tend to take a
more lenient view of accelerated vesting of equity. In the past, it was com-
mon for all unvested equity to become vested upon the completion of a
change in control. The rationale for this approach was that the change
in control was an opportunity for shareholders to liquidate their invest-
ment and that employees should share in that treatment. Also, for most
employees, the change in control falls into the category of an event that
is outside of the employees’ control. More recently, companies have been
under pressure from shareholder advisory firms and institutional investors
to move to a “double-trigger” approach for equity acceleration following
a change in control. That is, executives will receive accelerated vesting
on their unvested equity only if they are terminated (typically within 1-2
years following a change in control) or if the acquiring company does



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 121

not assume the unvested equity of the acquired company. Proponents of
double-trigger vesting argue that this more conservative approach to eq-
uity vesting makes the company more attractive to potential acquirers and
provides the continuing entity with a tool (in the form of unvested equity)
to retain employees following the acquisition.

The table below provides an overview of prevalent practices for the treat-

ment of equity upon termination:

Stock Options

Time-Vested
Restricted Stock

Performance Plans

Vested: Between
three years and
remaining term

to exercise

Death

Unvested:
Most common
to accelerate
vesting

Vested: Between
three years and
remaining term

to exercise

Disability

Unvested:
Most common
to accelerate
vesting

Vested: Between
three years and
remaining term

to exercise

Normal
Retirement

Unvested:
Most common
to accelerate
vesting

Most common
to accelerate
vesting

Most common
to accelerate
vesting or
provide
continued
vesting

Most common
to accelerate
vesting or
provide
continued
vesting

Mixed practice
between pro
ration and full
vesting; paid out
based on actual
achievement

Mixed practice
between pro
ration and full
vesting; paid out
based on actual
achievement

Mixed practice
between pro
ration and full
vesting; paid out
based on actual
achievement



122 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Time-Vested

Restricted Stock Performance Plans

Stock Options

Early Retirement Vested: One year = Mixed practice Mixed practice

to exercise between between pro
Unvested: Most forfglture, pro raFlon ?r\d
. ratlorj, and forfelture_, if pro
o continued rate, paid out
vesting based on actual
achievement
Involuntary Vested: Three Forfeit Forfeit
Termination months to
(without cause) exercise
Unvested: Most
common to
forfeit
Voluntary Vested: 1-3 Forfeit Forfeit
Termination months to
exercise
Unvested: Most
common to
forfeit
Involuntary Vested: Forfeit Forfeit Forfeit
Termination Unvested: Forfeit
(with cause)
Involuntary Vested: Either Accelerate Accelerate;
Termination cashed out or Mixed practice
(without cause) full remaining between paying
following a term to exercise based on actual
Change in Unvested: Most achievement
Control EEER e and target
accelerate performance

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* [s our termination treatment consistent with peer practices?



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 123

* Are our termination provisions viewed as “fair” by employees? By share-
holder advisory groups?

* Do our termination provisions undermine our ability to retain execu-
tives as they near retirement age?



124 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Chapter 13. Executive Perquisites

Perquisites

In the past, executive perquisites were viewed as an acceptable form of
recognition offered to the most senior executives of a company. Perqui-
sites signal to executives that they have “made it" and provide in-kind
compensation that makes an executive’'s life easier. Many perquisites pro-
vided to senior executives also serve legitimate business purposes that
benefit the company. For example:

e Company Car: Facilitates frequent travel involved in certain executive
roles; recognizes that a significant portion of the hours logged by the
executive will be in service to the company

* Personal Use of Corporate Aircraft: Supports executive security and
allows executive to work and travel more efficiently than with com-
mercial air travel; notably, is often limited to the CEO and the company
frequently has a security policy that requires the executive to use the
corporate aircraft for all travel (business and personal)

* Club Membership: Allows the executive to network with potential cli-
ents and/or business partners and could be beneficial to the company

* Tax Planning: Helps to ensure that the executive will pay taxes in a time-
ly manner and avoid any embarrassment associated with failing to file a
return or filing an inaccurate return

Despite these potential business rationales for the provision of perquisites,
many compensation committee members have concluded that for the
most part, they do not want to be in the business of providing perquisites
to executives. Perquisites are unpopular with shareholders and share-
holder advisory firms and can potentially be divisive within a company.
Shareholders view perquisites as a form of non-performance-based com-
pensation. Critics of perquisites wonder why rank-and-file employees are
expected to use their own funds to pay for certain services, but the most
highly paid executives in the company receive a subsidy.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 125

As a result of these criticisms, we have seen a dramatic decline in the
prevalence of perquisites over the past 5-10 years. Many major compa-
nies have eliminated some or all perquisite programs. Where companies
maintain perquisites, they are often legacy programs that the company is
required to maintain due to contractual commitments to current employ-
ees. In such cases, companies may “grandfather” the executives receiving
the perquisites and not provide them to new employees.

The practice of providing a “gross-up” payment to the executive to cover
the cost of taxes on perquisites is viewed as even worse than the perqui-
sites themselves by many shareholders. For example, ISS labels gross-up
payments as an egregious pay practice. As a result, very few companies
continue to gross up their remaining perquisites.

As companies have eliminated perquisites, they have often offset the re-
duction by providing a salary increase to executives. When doing so, the
company should not assume that they need to make up for the cost of
the perquisites on a dollar-for-dollar basis, as executives may value a cash
payment more than the lost perquisites, and increases to base salary often
result in indirect increases in target bonus and long-term incentive oppor-
tunities, as well as retirement benefits.

The table below provides data on the value of perquisites to CEOs and
CFOs among CAP 100 companies. Note that companies are required to
disclose the incremental cost to the company of perquisites unless the
total value to an individual is less than $10,000, an amount viewed as de
minimus. Where the total cost of perquisites exceeds $10,000, they must
be separately identified by type in the footnotes to the Summary Com-
pensation Table.



Perquisite Value

75th Percentile $259,437 $54,047
50th Percentile $122,896 $26,400
25th Percentile $51,531 $12,331

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:
* Do we still provide perquisites to our executives? If so, why?

* |s there a compelling business rationale for continuing to provide any
perquisites?

* [s there any reason why the company could not eliminate the perqui-
sites and replace them with a base salary increase?



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 127



128 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Chapter 14. Executive Retirement
Benefits

Most companies have qualified retirement plans to provide employees
with a source of income when they retire. These plans are “qualified” in
the sense that they receive preferential tax treatment that is not available
to other forms of compensation, provided IRS regulations are met. One of
the key requirements for qualified plans is that they be made available to
all employees. Another aspect of qualified plans is that there are limits on
the amount of money that can be contributed to the plan annually or be
counted towards determining the benefit accrued under the plan.

The two most common types of retirement benefits are defined contribu-
tion plans and defined benefit plans. A defined contribution plan is an ar-
rangement where employees are eligible to save a portion of their current
compensation for retirement and receive additional contributions from
the company. When people think of defined contribution plans, they pri-
marily think of 401(k) plans. Under a standard 401(k) design, the employee
is provided with the opportunity to contribute a percentage of salary and/
or bonus into their own 401(k) account. The company will typically make a
contribution into the account, often defined as a percentage match of the
employee’s contribution (e.g., 50% match of the employee’s contribution
up to a maximum match of 3% of the employee’s salary). In some cases,
companies will contribute on behalf of employees without requiring the
employee to make their own contribution to the plan.

Most companies will provide employees with a choice of investment op-
tions within the 401(k) plan, often consisting of an interest-bearing ac-
count pegged to a federal treasury rate, mutual funds, and/or company
stock. In the past, many companies directed their match into company
stock. However, following several high-profile corporate collapses (e.g.,
Enron), this practice is no longer popular. An important benefit of an ac-
count within a qualified plan is that, while the company is responsible
for administering the accounts, the funds in the accounts belong to the
employees (once vested) and are portable if/when employees leave the
company. In addition, the 401(k) assets are not treated as assets of the



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 129

company, and as such, they are not subject to creditor claims in a bank-
ruptcy proceeding.

A defined benefit plan is an arrangement that provides employees with a
pre-established amount of income after they stop working. Under such
a plan, the company bears the investment risk, making them potentially
more expensive than defined contribution plans. For example, if plan as-
sets do not appreciate sufficiently to cover the cost of the promised ben-
efits, the company will be required to increase contributions. Due to the
greater expense associated with defined benefit plans, many companies
have closed plans to new participants or terminated plans by ending fu-
ture benefit accruals. As a result, defined contribution plans have become
the core retirement vehicle for most employees.

In defined benefit plans, the amount of the annual benefit will be a func-
tion of three factors: the employee’s salary or annual cash compensation
over a period of time (e.g., last five years of employment), the number of
years of service the employee had with the company, and the age of the
employee at retirement. A typical formula might determine an employee’s
benefit as 1% of final average salary and bonus for each year of service
up to a maximum of 40 years of service. Final average salary and bonus
could be the average earned over the last 3—-5 years of service prior to
retirement. For a long-service employee, a retirement plan with this struc-
ture could provide the employee with retirement income equal to 40% of
salary and bonus.

If the employee retires early, the size of the benefit will be reduced to
reflect the additional years the employee will receive benefits and poten-
tially to penalize the employee for retiring before the full retirement age
under the plan. Defined benefit plans generally provide the benefits as
an annuity, with the payment of benefits ceasing upon the death of the
retiree (and his/her spouse if the plan provides a survivor benefit). This
effectively insures the employee against uncertainty over how many years
he/she will survive beyond the retirement date. Alternatively, some com-
panies will provide a “lump-sum” option that provides the employee with
the option to receive the actuarial present value of the retirement benefit
upon retirement. In this case, employees are responsible for investing the



lump-sum value during retirement and they bear the risk of outliving their
funds. Amounts in qualified defined benefit plans are not subject to forfei-
ture in the event of a bankruptcy and are generally insured (within limits)
by ERISA.

As mentioned earlier, there are limits on qualified plans to ensure that ex-
cessive benefits are not provided to high-income employees. At present,
the maximum annual contribution for a defined contribution plan like a
401(k) is $18,000, with an additional “catch-up” contribution of $6,000
available to participants age 50 or older. The maximum compensation in-
cluded in a benefit formula for a defined benefit pension plan is $270,000.
Because of these limits on qualified plans, many companies have added
non-qualified plans targeted at the executive population called supple-
mental executive retirement plans (SERPs). SERPs provide benefits to
high-income employees beyond the qualified plan limits. These plans can
serve either one of two purposes:

* Restoration Plans: Mirror the qualified plan that all employees of the
company receive, but provide for the continuation of benefits beyond
the caps on contributions/benefit formulas under the qualified plans

* Supplemental Benefits: Provide special benefits to executives beyond
the benefits provided to other employees at the company

While SERPs are frequently criticized by shareholder advisory firms, the
rationale for providing a restoration plan to executives is sound. The ben-
efits provided under restoration plans simply maintain the same structure
as the qualified plan, as if the qualified plan limits on maximum contribu-
tions or allowable compensation did not exist. In this sense, these plans
are not really providing executives with something extra that is not avail-
able to other employees. Instead, restoration plans put them on similar
footing relative to other employees, but recognize their higher income
levels.

Criticism of SERPs may be more justified, however, when special benefits
are made available to executives that are not available to other employees.
Several varieties of these arrangements exist:



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 131

* Additional Service Credit: At times, senior executives that join a com-
pany later in their careers may be credited with additional years of ser-
vice under the SERP. Generally, the rationale for providing the addition-
al service credit is to make up foregone benefits from a prior employer
or as a carrot for recruitment. Additional service credit can be very valu-
able to an employee and can lead to large changes in pension values,
which are reported by companies in the Summary Compensation Table
(SCT).

* Enhanced-Benefit Formula: When the company has a more generous
benefit formula for executives under the SERP than employees receive
under the qualified plan, it has adopted an enhanced-benefit formula.
For example, an executive could receive 1.5% of compensation for each
year of service under the SERP vs. 1% of compensation under the qual-
ified plan.

* Enhanced Contributions: Companies may make larger contributions
on behalf of executives than for employees under the qualified plan.

* Frozen Qualified Plan/Unfrozen SERP: In some cases, to manage plan
costs, companies may freeze the qualified plan so that new participants
are not allowed to enter the plan or to limit future benefit accruals for
existing participants. Disparate treatment exists when, under these cir-
cumstances, the company nevertheless allows executives to continue
to accumulate benefits under the SERP.

* LTI Included in Benefit Calculation: In rare cases, companies will in-
clude the value of long-term incentive cash payouts in the definition of
compensation for purposes of calculating the pension benefit.

From the perspective of committee members, SERPs can be challenging
to manage. The value of a SERP can be substantial; many examples of
SERPS valued in the tens of millions of dollars exist for CEOs with signif-
icant years of service. The methodology used to determine the present
value of the benefits relies on actuarial calculations that can be volatile
from year to year. At times, executives with large SERPs may appear over-
paid due to changes in the discount rate used to calculate the pension



132 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

value, rather than the accumulation of incremental benefits. In addition,
the value of SERP benefits is somewhat difficult to benchmark because
the values for different CEOs will depend on their specific circumstances
including age, tenure, and compensation, as well as on the differences in
the designs of the SERP programs.

We recommend caution when implementing any new SERP arrangement
with executives. SERPs are generally viewed by shareholder advisory firms
and shareholders as a form of non-performance-based pay that insulates
executives from performance accountability. Where long-term executive
retention is the goal, the use of long-term, equity-based incentives, rath-
er than a SERP, is preferred by committees and shareholders. In addition
to the concerns already raised, SERPs constitute deferred compensation
subject to complicated tax rules under IRC Section 409A. SERPs also are
subject to greater risks because unlike qualified plan assets, assets held in
a SERP will be subject to general creditors in the event of a bankruptcy.

If your company has an active SERP program, it is critical to understand
how changes to the compensation of senior executives will impact the
value of the SERP. Because SERPs often depend heavily on final compen-
sation, changes in that compensation can have a very large impact on the
present value of the SERP.

Beyond SERPs, other forms of executive benefits include supplemental
life insurance, supplemental health insurance, supplemental disability in-
surance, and executive physicals. Most forms of supplemental executive
benefits have fallen out of favor and, in most cases, compensation com-
mittees will be better off if executives purchase these benefits on their
own. The lone exception is the executive physical, which is a relatively
low-cost benefit that can contribute to the health of senior executives by
encouraging physical exams at regular intervals.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Do our SERPs restore benefits to executives beyond qualified plan limits
or provide benefits beyond what rank-and-file employees receive? If
so, why?



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 133

What forms of compensation are counted towards retirement benefits
under the SERP? How will changes in compensation impact the present
value of the SERP benefits?

For new hires, is restoration of SERP benefits from their prior employer
necessary? Could we replace the value of the SERP with a different,
more performance-based form of compensation?

Are any other executive benefits provided? What is the business ratio-
nale? What is the value of these benefits?



134 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Chapter 15. Deferred Compensation

Traditional deferred compensation arrangements provide executives
with an opportunity to defer taxation on a portion of compensation for a
pre-established period of time. In order for compensation to be deferred,
the executive may not have “constructive receipt” of the compensation
and the compensation must be subject to a “substantial risk of forfeiture.”

In layman’s terms, constructive receipt means that the compensation is
available to the executive without meaningful restrictions. Similarly, a sub-
stantial risk of forfeiture exists when the compensation is contingent on
future service, dependent on the occurrence of an event, or if the deferred
compensation plan is unfunded and unsecured. In short, this means that
there must be some meaningful risk to executives that they will not be
paid. For example, if the deferred compensation plan is unfunded and un-
secured, any assets would be part of the general assets of the company,
subject to the claims of creditors. In turn, the executive would be a general
creditor of the company in the event that the company became insolvent.
So while deferred compensation is inherently at risk, executives may not
view the risks as greatly concerning unless insolvency is a real possibility.

There are several reasons that executives defer compensation. First, com-
panies credit deferred compensation with interest and may allow the
executive to choose from a broad choice of investment vehicles within
the plan. Executives can benefit from interest compounding on pre-tax
amounts since income taxes are not paid until the end of the deferral peri-
od. In addition, executives may defer compensation because they expect
to face a lower marginal tax rate when they receive the deferred funds
at some time in the future. Lower tax rates could result from anticipated
changes in the tax regime or differences between the executive’s current
and future income levels. Finally, some executives defer the receipt of
non-performance-based compensation (e.g., base salary or time-vested
RSUs) to avoid exceeding the 162(m) one million-dollar limit on deduct-
ible compensation.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 135

In order to implement a deferred compensation plan, your company will
have to establish administrative policies covering multiple aspects of the
program that address key issues, including:

* Eligible Executives: Decide how eligibility for the plan will be estab-
lished. Determine if the plan will be limited to executives with a certain
level of annual income or to a particular employee salary grade or level.

* Eligible Compensation: Establish what compensation can be deferred
(e.g., up to 50% of salary, 100% of annual incentive, RSUs, PSUs).

* Investment Options: Determine how deferred funds will be invested.
Alternatives are for interest credits to be pegged to a market interest
rate, to the performance of company stock, investment options under
the 401(k), or credited with a fixed rate of return.

* Election Timing: Set up processes around deferral elections by type
of vehicle (e.g., timing of deferral election, deferral form, differences
across vehicles, etc.).

* Payment Timing: Identify the timing of the payment of funds that are
deferred (e.g., fixed number of years after employment ends, upon ter-
mination of employment, a specified date, etc.).

* Form of Payment: Establish whether deferred amounts will be paid in
cash or paid in shares of company stock (particularly for share-based
deferrals of RSUs and PSUs).

* Funding: Determine a strategy for funding the deferred compensation
obligation by setting aside funds for the plan, funding with compa-
ny-owned life insurance, or using a “pay-as-you-go” approach. Note
that assets earmarked to pay for deferred compensation must remain
general assets of the company subject to the claims of creditors to
avoid current taxation of deferred compensation.

* Executive Protection: Decide if the company will use a “rabbi trust”
or “springing rabbi trust” to ensure that the company funds deferred
compensation payments in the event of a merger or acquisition of the



136 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

company. Assets deposited in a rabbi trust will be paid to deferred com-
pensation plan participants by the trustee, protecting the executive
from the risk that the company reneges on the promise to pay deferred
amounts. A springing rabbi trust is an arrangement pre-funded with a
minimal amount of cash prior to a change of control. Upon a change
of control, the trustee is instructed to deposit a larger amount (i.e., the
money “springs” into the trust) sufficient to pay at least 100% of the
deferred compensation obligation.

From the company’s perspective, deferred compensation has benefits and
costs. On the positive side, the company preserves cash in the year of
deferral and can use those funds for other purposes (or to fund future
deferred compensation payments). However, the company delays tak-
ing a tax deduction, thereby increasing current taxes, until the deferred
amounts are actually paid out. Additionally, if the company chooses not
to fund deferred compensation balances, there may be large cash require-
ments triggered by the retirement of key executives. Finally, there will be
some administrative costs involved in managing the program.

Shareholders generally do not object to deferred compensation arrange-
ments where the major objective is beneficial tax planning. However,
shareholders will often object when deferred compensation arrange-
ments are used to provide supplemental compensation to executives by
paying above-market interest or by making company contributions to ex-
ecutives’ deferred compensation accounts. Above-market interest is re-
ported in the Summary Compensation Table of the proxy statement and
company contributions are reported on the Nonqualified Deferred Com-
pensation Table in the proxy.

Even in cases where deferred compensation consists solely of amounts
that would have been paid currently if the executive had not elected to
defer, there can be a degree of sticker shock when an executive leaves
the company with a large deferred compensation balance. In these situ-
ations, it is critical to clearly disclose that these amounts were earned by
the executive over a number of years and do not reflect severance paid
at termination. Even with clear disclosure, the company runs the risk that
deferred compensation balances will be described by others as a form of



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 137

executive severance. We recommend that the committee include the full
deferred compensation balance in a tally sheet that is reviewed at least
annually, in addition to proxy statement disclosure of non-qualified de-
ferred compensation to avoid surprises. Finally, deferred compensation
arrangements are subject to IRC Section 409A, which is such a complex
topic that it requires its own chapter.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* What are the financial implications of our deferred compensation pro-
gram? What is the anticipated size of the long-term liability?

* What investment options will be made available to executives partici-
pating in the plan? Will any “above-market” interest be paid?

* |s the design unnecessarily complex? Are there aspects that could be
simplified?



138 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Chapter 16. Internal Revenue Code
(IRC) Section 409A

No discussion of deferred compensation would be complete without
touching on IRC Section 409A, which governs the treatment of deferred
compensation. This provision was developed in response to Enron'’s bank-
ruptcy, one of the largest corporate bankruptcies ever. In the Enron case,
the company dismantled a deferred compensation plan, making payouts
of large cash balances to participating executives right before the com-
pany'’s bankruptcy filing. Meanwhile, rank-and-file employees were hurt
badly when the stock price cratered.

Section 409A was enacted to try to prevent similar situations by limiting
the ability of executives to access deferred compensation balances. Since
it became effective in 2005, implementing a deferred compensation pro-
gram has become much more complicated and the risk to executives of
unintentional noncompliance is now much larger. The bottom line is that
if companies fail to comply with 409A, all deferred compensation can be
subject to current taxation along with penalties and interest for late pay-
ment of the taxes. In addition, an executive can be penalized with a 20%
non-deductible excise tax on the deferred compensation, which is due in
addition to regular income and payroll taxes. As a result, with any form of
deferred compensation (which can include non-qualified deferred com-
pensation plans, SERPs, restricted stock unit plans, phantom equity plans,
and long-term cash plans), the company should conduct careful analysis
to identify whether the award will be subject to 409A and, if so, whether
the award design and payment timing comply with its requirements.

Key things to keep in mind for 409A compliance include the following:
» Stock options and restricted shares are generally exempt from 409A.

* Performance plans that pay out before the 15th day of the end of the tax
year are excluded from 409A due to the short-term deferral exception.

* Deferral elections generally need to be made prior to the beginning of
the year of the award.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 139

* Executives are limited in their ability to modify any deferral elections;
re-deferrals must extend for at least five years beyond the originally
scheduled payment date.

Under the new 409A regime, effective plan administration has become
critical to ensuring that employees who participate in deferred compen-
sation schemes are not subject to tax penalties. Attorneys practicing in tax
law can point to numerous cases where 409A has been violated due to
administrative errors in implementing the design. Simplicity of design and
of processes can make administration easier. In reviewing these plans, it is
critical to make sure that all parties agree that the company will be able to
administer the design effectively.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:
* Is this compensation arrangement subject to 409A?
* Have appropriate legal/tax professionals reviewed the arrangement?

* Has the company ensured that the terms of the award and deferral
elections comply with 409A?



140 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Chapter 17. Employment Agreements
and Executive Severance

The employment of many senior executives is governed by an employ-
ment agreement. Employment agreements normally define the terms and
conditions governing an executive's employment, including:

* Term of employment and contract renewal provisions
* Position, title, and reporting relationship

* Minimum compensation opportunities, including base salary, target
bonus opportunity, and eligibility for long-term incentives

* Vacation, executive benefits, and perquisites
* Severance protection in the event of termination

When an executive is hired, the terms of an employment agreement may
require extensive negotiation. This often results in locking the company
into commitments that are difficult to unwind. If the company unilateral-
ly eliminates certain benefits or otherwise changes the terms of employ-
ment, the executive may be eligible to receive severance from the compa-
ny by triggering the agreement’s “good reason” termination provision (i.e.
the executive can claim that the company effectively terminated his or her

employment by materially changing employment terms).

Another issue with individual employment agreements is that they can
result in disparate treatment among the executive group based on the
timing of when they join the company, as well as the individual execu-
tive's aggressiveness in negotiating the terms of employment. Provisions
that may be acceptable to the company for one executive may become
problematic if provided to many executives. However, once one executive
establishes the precedent for a particular provision, other executives will
likely negotiate for similar treatment. This is especially true because em-
ployment agreements with executive officers are required to be filed with
the SEC, making the terms public knowledge.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 141

For these reasons, we suggest that companies avoid entering into employ-
ment agreements with executives whenever possible. Instead, a preferred
approach is to use an executive severance policy to cover all similarly sit-
uated executives under comparable terms. The most critical protection
that an employment agreement provides is protection in the event that
the employee is terminated or constructively terminated through a mate-
rial reduction in responsibilities or compensation. Severance policies pro-
vide this protection to senior executives, but give the company flexibility
to change the program without obtaining the consent of participants. A
severance policy also reduces the likelihood of executives negotiating for
concessions at termination. Shareholder advisory groups and other ex-
ternal observers tend to be highly critical when companies make special
payments to terminated executives.

Another approach is to have a standardized employment agreement that
provides a consistent, basic level of protection for all executives at a par-
ticular level within the company. This can allow the company to avoid
negotiating unique provisions. In addition, if the employment agreement
is structured so that it expires after a fixed term or contains a notice pe-
riod that allows the company to revisit the terms, the company retains a
degree of flexibility.

Executive severance benefits are typically provided in two scenarios: (i)
termination by the company or by the executive for good reason, or (ii)
actual or constructive termination in connection with a change in control
(CIC). Severance is generally not provided if the executive resigns without
good reason, retires, dies, becomes disabled, or is terminated for cause.

Executive severance benefits that apply in the cases of termination by the
company or by the executive for good reason frequently include the fol-
lowing components (Source: CAP Change-in-Control / Severance study):

* Cash severance paid in regular payroll installments, which is typically
equal to the employee’s base salary, but can be increased to include
target bonus or a multiple of salary in the case of the CEO

* Actual bonus prorated for service during the year of termination



142 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

* 12 years of benefit continuation, normally limited to health and life in-
surance coverage for a period that frequently matches the cash sever-
ance period

Companies frequently include various covenants that limit the executive’s
ability to compete or solicit employees and customers after termination.
Common covenants include confidentiality provisions, non-compete and
non-solicitation provisions, non-disparagement clauses, and agreements
by executives to participate in investigations for fraud or other malfea-
sance after employment ends. Finally, companies require the executive to
sign a personal release before severance is made available to reduce the
likelihood of litigation.

Executive severance benefits that apply in connection with a change in
control (CIC) are often more generous for senior executives, on the theory
that shareholders may be receiving a premium in the transaction and that
the executive is losing his/her job through no fault of his/her own. Typical
components include (Source: CAP Change-in-Control / Severance study):

* Cash severance paid in a lump sum, which is usually 3x base salary plus
target bonus for CEOs and 2x—3x base salary plus target bonus for oth-
er named executives

* Actual bonus pro-rated for service during the year of termination
* Accelerated vesting of equity and other long-term incentives

* 2-3 years of benefit continuation, or the cash equivalent for a period
that frequently matches the cash severance period

CIC benefit payments are known as “golden parachutes.” Under Section
280G of the IRC, parachute payments include all payments made within
one year of a change of control that are contingent on or accelerated by
the change in control. If the total parachute payment is more than 2.99x
an executive's base salary (five-year average W-2 income), the payment is
an excess parachute payment according to the IRS. Any excess parachute
payment is subject to a 20% nondeductible excise tax, in addition to reg-
ular income and payroll taxes. Payments triggered by the change in con-



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 143

trol can include not only cash severance, but also the value of the bene-
fit, from accelerated vesting of equity or long-term performance plan to
benefit continuation. There is a complicated methodology that the IRS
requires be used to calculate the value of such parachute payments.

In order to insulate executives from the cost of the excise tax penalty, an
additional payment was often promised to the executive to pay for the ex-
cise tax and incremental excise and income taxes on the payment. These
“excise tax gross ups” can be very expensive for companies. For example,
if an executive is subject to a 40% income tax and a 20% excise tax, then
the payment required to fully gross up an executive will be 2.5x the value
of the 20% excise tax.

Shareholder advisory groups have strong views about severance pay-
ments, often viewing them as non-performance-based pay or “pay for
failure.” Largely because of input from the shareholder advisory firms,
companies have been reducing CIC severance and eliminating practic-
es that are viewed as unfriendly to shareholders. Practices that are being
phased out include the following:

* Cash severance triggered solely by the occurrence of the change in
control without a termination of employment (i.e., a “single-trigger”
benefit)

* Cash severance pay multiples that include any form of long-term in-
centive compensation in the definition of pay (e.g., 3x (base salary plus
target bonus plus cash LTI target))

* Excise tax gross ups
* Additional service credit for retirement benefits

In the past, it was common to provide an excise tax gross up as part of
the CIC severance benefits for senior executives (see discussion above for
more detail). Excise tax gross ups are unpopular with shareholder advisory
groups. For example, ISS has made it part of its “Say on Pay” voting pol-
icy that they will recommend against the pay plan of any company that
puts an excise tax gross up in a new or materially modified contract. While



144 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

many companies still have grandfathered contracts or severance arrange-
ments with excise tax gross ups, very few companies incorporate them
into new arrangements.

In place of the excise tax gross up, many companies have moved to an ap-
proach where they give the executive a choice. The executive can opt to
take the entire parachute payment and pay any excise taxes due without
help from the company, or he/she can cap the payment just below the
level that triggers the excise tax gross up if that maximizes the payment’s
after-tax value. This approach optimizes the after-tax payout to the ex-
ecutive and reduces the risk that the company loses its tax deduction on
severance pay.

Another approach, which is seen less frequently, is for the company to
employ a hard cap and limit the parachute payment to avoid the excise
tax. This approach guarantees that any severance payments will be tax
deductible to the company, but is much less generous to the executive.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Are any of our executive officers covered by employment contracts? If
so, is there a standard form, or do the contracts vary by executive?

* Inthe absence of employment contracts, is an executive severance pol-
icy in place? What benefits are provided?

* |s it possible for the company to unwind the employment contracts
over time without triggering a severance payment for “good reason”
termination under the agreements?

* Do any of our employment contracts or severance arrangements pro-
vide for excise tax gross up?

* Do any of our employment contracts provide for cash severance pay-
ments of more than 2.99x pay?



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 145

* Are we doing anything more for the executive than what we are con-
tractually obligated to do? If so, do we have a strong rationale for why
it is in the interests of shareholders?



146 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Chapter 18. Compensation Policies
that Support Good Governance

Since the financial crisis began in 2008, US public companies have made
great efforts to improve corporate governance. The corporate gover-
nance reforms included in the Dodd-Frank Act of 2010 accelerated this
movement by requiring shareholders to approve executive compensation
on a non-binding advisory basis, beginning in 2011. Companies worked to
strengthen their compensation policies as a way to increase shareholder
support for Say on Pay proposals. Certain executive compensation pro-
gram elements quickly evolved from “nice-to-have” status to “expect-
ed.” In this section, we summarize five common policies that enhance
the alignment of executives with shareholder interest and support strong
governance.

Stock Ownership Guidelines

CEOs and other senior executives receive the majority of their compensa-
tion in the form of company stock. Stock ownership guidelines have been
established by 95% of companies in the CAP 100 to ensure that executives
hold onto a pre-defined level of the company’s stock over the course of
their tenure with the company. Shareholder advisory firms and institu-
tional shareholders support ownership guidelines, viewing ownership of
company stock as a way to align management with shareholders. Most
compensation committee members also support the use of stock own-
ership guidelines, but recognize that executives may have some desire to
diversify their interests out of company stock over time.

Most stock ownership guidelines share certain characteristics, as summa-
rized below:



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 147

Stock Ownership
Guideline Feature Market Approach
Basis for Majority of companies define ownership as a multiple
Requirement of base salary (88% of CAP 100)
Minority of companies define as a number of shares
(~10%)
Requirement CEO: 5x—6x salary is most common (69% of CAP 100)

Other NEOs: 3x-4x salary is most common

Time to Comply Five years to comply is the most common (from date
of hire or promotion to executive role or for any
increase in guideline)

Shares Counted Shares owned outright

Toward Shares held in company benefit plans

Compliance i ) )
Unvested, time-vested restricted stock or restricted
stock units (in some cases on a net of tax basis)
Unvested performance shares and unexercised stock
options typically do not count toward compliance

Assessment of At least annual testing of compliance

Compliance Many companies use an average stock price over a

period of time (e.g., average for the year)

Consequence if Most companies expect executives to comply, but do
not in Compliance not have formal consequences for noncompliance

Most common “penalty” is to require that all or a
portion of shares (net of taxes) vesting be held until
guideline is achieved

In practice, most executives are able to comply with ownership guidelines
over a five-year period without making any purchases in the open market.
This is particularly true for companies that deliver a substantial portion
of their long-term incentives in restricted stock or performance shares.
Companies that use stock options as the primary long-term incentive may
inadvertently encourage early exercise of stock options if they require ex-
ecutives to comply within five years.



148 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

When a company experiences a severe decline in the stock price, execu-
tives may fall out of compliance with the ownership guidelines. Commit-
tees are often lenient in assessing compliance as long as executives do not
fall out of compliance due to the sale of shares.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:
* Are our stock ownership guidelines consistent with the levels of peers?

* Do our compensation programs deliver adequate shares so that execu-
tives will not need to purchase shares to achieve the guidelines?

* Are our executives all in compliance with the ownership guidelines? If
not, do the noncompliant executives still have sufficient time to achieve
compliance?

* What are the consequences of failing to achieve the ownership guide-
lines within the specified compliance period?

Stock Holding Requirements

Stock holding requirements are similar to stock ownership guidelines.
They require an executive to hold all or a portion of the shares delivered
at vesting of full-value shares or at exercise of stock options for a defined
period of time. Stock holding requirements first arose out of concerns that
executives may have incentives to “pump and dump” a company'’s stock.
That is, they may take actions that lead to a short-term increase in the
company'’s stock and immediately sell shares before the market recog-
nizes that the shares are overvalued. In theory, this makes sense for stock
options, since the executive has the ability to time the stock option ex-
ercise, but it is harder to make the case that stock holding requirements
are necessary for full-value shares, where executives do not control the
timing of vesting.

Key features of stock holding requirements include the following (Source:
CAP 100):



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 149

Stock Holding

Policy Feature Market Practice
Shares to be Typically applies only to net shares (i.e., net of any
Held shares used to satisfy the option exercise price or taxes

on the shares)

Application Most include option exercises
Some include vesting of restricted shares

Some also apply to payouts of performance shares

Percentage of 100% is the most common, but some companies have
Shares Held 50% of net shares
Period of Time Most companies have 1-2-year holding requirements

A few companies require the shares to be held until
retirement

Similar to their treatment of stock ownership guidelines, shareholder ad-
visory firms view stock holding requirements as an effective shareholder
alignment tool, preferring that companies adopt these policies, even if
they already have stock ownership guidelines. However, many committee
members and executives view stock holding requirements as redundant
if ownership guidelines are already in place. Approximately 60% of CAP
100 companies disclose a holding requirement. Among the few compa-
nies (5%) in the CAP 100 that do not disclose ownership guidelines, 40%
disclose a holding requirement. Some shareholders and advisory groups
have promoted the concept of holding requirements until retirement.
While this concept has not caught on to date, there is a minority of com-
panies — particularly in the financial services industry — who have imple-
mented this approach.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Will stock holding requirements encourage executives to retain com-
pany stock beyond current holding levels?

* Will stock holding requirements improve shareholder advisory views on
our compensation program?



150 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

* How are our stock holding requirements viewed by executives? Would
adopting guidelines meaningfully change executive behavior?

* How do our stock holding requirements align with our stock ownership
guidelines?

Clawbacks

A clawback provision provides the company with the ability to recoup
previously paid compensation to executives if a triggering event takes
place. Sarbanes-Oxley mandated that incentive compensation for CEOs
and CFOs be subject to clawback by the SEC in the event financial results
are restated due to misconduct. Dodd-Frank includes a clawback provi-
sion that would apply to all executive officers in the event of a financial
restatement that would have reduced incentive payments. A key distinc-
tion between the Sarbanes-Oxley clawback and the Dodd-Frank rule is
that the latter does not require executive misconduct to trigger the claw-
back. To date, the SEC has not taken action to implement the clawback
requirement under Dodd-Frank; however, approximately 98% of the CAP
100 have implemented some form of clawback.

Clawback Policy

Feature Market Practice

Triggering Event  Most common approach is financial restatement
(approximately 84% of CAP 100 companies) and/
or misconduct that would have impacted incentive
payments (74% of companies)

Some companies include violation of restrictive
covenants (e.g., non-solicitation or non-compete
agreements) as a triggering event

Application Among larger companies, typically applies to both
annual and long-term incentive plans

Period of Time 1-3 years is the most common period that companies
use when seeking to take back compensation

The underlying rationale for a clawback is that incentive payments based
on inaccurate financial statements have not been earned fairly by execu-



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 151

tives and should be returned to the company, particularly in cases where
the restatement was due to executive misconduct. This rationale is com-
pelling and is accepted as reasonable by most compensation committee
members. In addition, most shareholder advisory firms support the use of
clawbacks.

While the rationale for clawback policies is sound, in practice they are sel-
dom used to recoup compensation from executives. It is often challeng-
ing to determine how much an executive was overpaid due to a financial
restatement, particularly when the value of equity-based compensation is
not directly linked to a company'’s financial statements. There may also be
legal barriers to recovering compensation from executives.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Should we adopt a clawback? If so, what triggers are best? Do we re-
quire misconduct, or should it apply to violations of employment cov-
enants?

* |f we adopt a clawback policy, who will be responsible for informing the
committee of the occurrence of a triggering event?

* Who will be responsible for determining the amount of incentive com-
pensation that needs to be clawed back?

* How much discretion will be available to determine how a clawback
will be applied?

Hedging

Hedging is a sophisticated technique where an investor attempts to lim-
it losses created by movement in the stock price of a given security by
taking an offsetting position. Common examples of hedging vehicles in-
clude short sales, put options, and futures. Only a few years ago, hedging
of company stock by executives was mentioned rarely when discussing
executive compensation. This has changed since Dodd-Frank was imple-
mented and the proxy advisory firms began focusing on hedging. Among



152 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

CAP 100 companies, approximately 97% disclosed anti-hedging policies
in 2013 compared to only 45% in 2012.

Most committees have assumed that executives would not hedge equi-
ty-based compensation by selling company shares short or using other
strategies to protect themselves from decreases in the value of the com-
pany's stock. However, Dodd-Frank requires that companies disclose
whether or not their employees or directors were allowed to hedge their
interests in company stock. While Dodd-Frank did not fully define what
would be viewed as a hedging transaction, companies that have imple-
mented policies have generally taken a broad approach in prohibiting all
hedges on the company'’s stock.

Committees have generally embraced anti-hedging requirements as they
help ensure that equity-based compensation aligns the interests of man-
agement with those of shareholders. Most agree that allowing executives
or directors to hedge their positions in company stock undermines this
goal.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Do we have a policy prohibiting the hedging of company stock? If not,
why?

* Does our hedging policy apply to all employees and directors? If not,
which employees does it apply to?

Pledging

Pledging of company shares occurs when an executive uses shares as
collateral for a margin loan or other financial transaction. In its 2013 pol-
icy statement, ISS indicated that significant pledging of company shares
could serve as the basis for recommending a withhold vote for directors.
ISS’'s concern stems from a risk that executives may need to sell pledged
shares to satisfy their obligations, and that could undo the positive in-
centive effects of using equity as a shareholder alignment tool or limit
executives’ ability to comply with ownership guidelines. Forced sales of
company stock could also cause the executive to violate insider trading



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 153

rules. In 2013, approximately 84% of CAP 100 companies disclosed their
pledging policies in the annual proxy statement.

While pledging of shares was not a widespread practice, several high-pro-
file cases involving company founders who owned large blocks of stock
have received negative publicity. In addition, the prospect of a withhold
vote for directors encourages companies to take share pledging seriously.
As a result, 2013 saw a significant uptick in companies stating that they
prohibit management and directors from pledging company shares.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Do we have a policy prohibiting the pledging of company stock? If not,
why?

* Do any executives or directors currently engage in pledging transac-
tions?



154 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Chapter 19. CEO Pay

One of the most significant responsibilities of compensation committees
is to establish CEO compensation packages. In our experience, commit-
tees work hard to strike a balance between the need to offer attractive
compensation opportunities and the need to appease potential critics.

Employees and the press often criticize CEO pay for being too high in an
absolute sense or relative to the pay levels of the typical worker. Share-
holders and shareholder advisory firms tend to focus their criticism on
the pay-for-performance relationship. For them, the primary concern is
whether the CEO’s pay is appropriate in the context of the company’s
performance. They will raise concerns when the CEO’s pay appears to in-
crease or stay the same while the company’s performance declines. They
also may criticize the committee or board if they find that its CEO is paid
more than industry peers while the company has failed to outperform
those peers. Institutional shareholders will look beyond the amount of pay
to criticize the forms of pay. Was too much of the CEO'’s pay delivered in
salary or cash compensation relative to equity? Did the CEO receive too
much pay that did not move with performance (e.g., perquisites and re-
tirement benefits)? Was the CEO’s long-term incentive plan too conserva-
tive (e.g., mostly restricted stock) or too risky (e.g., mostly stock options)?

With all of the criticism of CEO pay, it may seem impossible to have a “bul-
letproof” CEO pay program. While that is probably true, a well-thought-
out process for addressing CEO pay can help to limit the amount of criti-
cism directed at compensation.

Process

The chair of the compensation committee normally takes the lead in
overseeing CEO pay. Management may actively participate in much of the
committee’s work, but it is rarely involved in setting CEO pay. For CEO pay
decisions, the committee chair will rely more heavily on the input of its
compensation consultant to understand market compensation levels and
pay practices. However, the ultimate judgment on what to pay the CEO
lies with the committee as a whole.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 155

In most cases, the timing of the committee’s decision on CEO pay is aligned
with the timing of pay decisions for other executive officers. The key dif-
ference is that any recommendations that are specific to the CEO (e.g.,
target pay levels, actual incentive payouts, etc.) are typically discussed in
executive session by the committee without members of management
present. The materials are most often prepared by the committee’s com-
pensation consultant with input from the compensation committee chair.
The consultant can facilitate the decisions on pay by informing the com-
mittee of competitive pay for the CEO as suggested by the market data,
the company’s compensation philosophy, as well as the company’s and
CEO's performance.

Key steps in the annual CEO pay cycle must be taken at three distinct
points:

1. The following actions should be taken at the beginning of the year:

= Establish target pay levels for the CEO (e.g., base salary, target bo-
nus, target cash compensation, long-term incentive grant value,
target total direct compensation)

= Assess competitiveness of current pay levels relative to peer group
target compensation levels

= Assess current pay levels relative to compensation philosophy (e.g.,
how positioned vs. target pay positioning)

= Determine whether to increase CEO's target pay opportunity based
on current compensation positioning

= |dentify whether the committee’s perspective on the CEO's sus-
tained performance would serve as the basis for adjusting CEO tar-
get pay levels up or down

= Establish CEO’s individual and strategic performance objectives for
the year (often done with input from the full board of directors)



156 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

2. Separate from these steps listed above, the following actions must be taken at year's end
to determine annual incentive payout and long-term incentive payouts:

= Assess company's performance relative to annual and long-term in-
centive plan objectives

= Assess CEO'’s performance relative to individual and strategic ob-
jectives

= Determine CEO annual incentive payout, potentially adjusting size
of payout based on committee’s assessment of CEO'’s performance

= Approve long-term incentive payouts for the CEO

» Anticipate outcomes of ISS and/or Glass-Lewis CEO pay-for-per-
formance tests based on anticipated proxy statement disclosure of
CEO compensation

3. Finally, after the year's end, the committee should assess the CEO’s actual pay relative to
actual performance (over multiple timeframes) through the following steps:

= Assess actual CEO pay for fiscal year relative to actual pay among
peers

= Assess actual performance on key measures relative to peers

= Assess percentile pay relative to peers vs. percentile performance
relative to peers (see diagram below)

A robust process for assessing the pay-for-performance relationship is a
critical part of whether the committee fulfills its responsibilities effective-
ly. Our preferred approach is discussed in the following section.

A formal review of the CEO's pay levels relative to peers, as well as an
assessment of how financial performance compares to the same sample
of companies, is a valuable tool to test whether the company’s actual pay
practices are consistent with the pay philosophy. This is also an important
indicator of whether the financial goals established for the company con-
tain sufficient rigor.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 157

The diagram shown below summarizes the results of the pay-for-per-
formance assessment. Four quadrants are displayed with the upper-right
quadrant showing the sweet spot: above-median performance and
above-median pay relative to peers. The diagonal lines mark the 25th and
75th percentiles on each axis. In most instances, a position within these

bounds is desirable.

CEO Pay '
Bel di . Above median
e ?w me |anb X performance and
performance bu Peer 1 above median pay
above median pay 100%, Py
Peer 2 .
.
e . .
Peer 3
¢ Peerd Overall
> . Performance
g . 50% . . Rank
2 0% L25% 50% T 5% peers 100%
] Peer 6 -
*
* Peer7 ol
5% Above median
Bel di : performance, but
elow median e below median pay
performance and " Peer8

below median pay o Peerd
eer

+ Peer 10 0%-

Financial Performance

Many committees are becoming more sophisticated in how they view the
pay-for-performance relationship and are looking at pay and performance
over a 3—-5 year period in order to base the majority of CEO compensation
on long-term performance. When looking at compensation over a multi-
year time frame, committees often shift their focus from the grant value
of long-term incentives to the “realizable” value of long-term incentives.
Realizable pay can be calculated in a number of different ways, butin all its
variations, the key difference is that the long-term incentives are revalued
at the end of the period under review to capture the most critical driver of
CEO compensation levels: changes in a company’s stock price since the
grant date.



158 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Below are several approaches to assessing the CEO pay-for-performance
relationship:

* Absolute Assessments:
= Change in SCT pay vs. change in TSR over a 1-3-year period
= Change in realizable pay vs. change in TSR over a 3—5-year period
= Change in realized pay vs. TSR over CEO tenure
* Relative Assessments:
= Compensation percentile vs. performance percentile

= Compensation may be defined as SCT pay, SCT pay excluding
change in pension value and all other compensation, realizable pay,
or realized pay.

= Performance is frequently based on TSR, but can be based on fi-
nancial performance on key metrics that are important to the com-
mittee.

ISS Approach:

As a key component of its recommendations to institutional shareholders
on how they should vote on management Say on Pay proposals, ISS as-
sesses CEO pay using three quantitative tests:

* Relative Degree of Alignment: This test compares the percentile rank of
the company on the three-year average summary compensation table
(SCT) pay of the CEO relative to peer group CEOs against the three-year
total shareholder return percentile ranking relative to the peer group. If
the pay percentile ranking is well ahead of the TSR performance per-
centile ranking, ISS may have concerns.

* Multiple of Median: This test assesses the relationship between the
one-year SCT pay of the CEO and the median SCT pay of peer group



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 159

CEO:s. If the company’s pay is well above the median of the peer group
(e.g., more than 2x), ISS may have concerns.

* Pay-TSR Alignment: This test compares the trend rate in a company’s
CEO's total compensation with the value of a $100 investment (in the
company) over the prior five-year period. If the pay trend is not aligned
with the TSR trend, ISS may have concerns.

Many committees will review simulations of ISS’s quantitative pay-for-per-
formance tests in advance of filing proxy materials to understand if they
are likely to receive a negative recommendation on Say on Pay. If a com-
pany raises concerns on the quantitative tests of performance, ISS will
evaluate numerous qualitative aspects of the company’s compensation
program before determining its recommendation.

Glass-Lewis Approach:

Similar to ISS, Glass-Lewis conducts a quantitative assessment of the rela-
tionship between pay and performance. The Glass-Lewis performance as-
sessment looks beyond TSR to include financial measures of performance.
Similar to ISS, pay is defined as SCT pay. Glass-Lewis will assign compa-
nies an A—F rating based on the degree of alignment in the pay-for-per-
formance relationship. Companies with an “A” rating have a performance
percentile above their pay percentile; companies with a “C" rating have
aligned pay and performance percentiles; companies with an “F" rating
have a pay percentile above their performance percentile. Glass-Lewis will
evaluate the pay-for-performance relationship for the CEO and all other
named executive officers disclosed in the proxy statement.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* How well do the CEO's actual pay levels align with the company'’s per-
formance relative to peers over one-year periods and over longer peri-
ods? Have we heard any comments?

* Does the actual pay reflect the leadership and strategic stewardship of
the company?



160 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

* Do we expect ISS or Glass-Lewis to raise concerns about the CEO’s
compensation?

* Do any committee members have any concerns about the compensa-
tion program for the CEO?

* Have we received any shareholder proposals that touch on CEO com-
pensation? Any publicity?

Realized and Realizable Pay

Many companies have concluded that the required Summary Com-
pensation Table (SCT) disclosure of executive pay levels is ineffective
for purposes of comparing pay and performance. The key limitation
of SCT pay is that mixes actual payments to executives (e.g., salary,
bonus payouts, long-term cash plan payouts) and pay opportunities
that will vest and be earned over time (e.g., the grant date fair values
of stock options, restricted stock, and performance share awards).
Since equity-based pay is such a large portion of CEO pay, it is the
most critical form of pay to examine when looking at the pay and
performance relationship. If we look at SCT pay, then we are missing
how the pay and performance relationship plays out over time for
the most significant part of CEO pay.

To correct for this serious shortcoming of SCT pay, most compensa-
tion committees will also evaluate the realized pay of the CEO over
time, as well as the realizable pay. Realized pay is akin to the “take
home” pay for the CEO and is similar to W-2 gross income. It in-
cludes the CEO's base salary, short-term and long-term cash incen-
tive payouts in (or for) a given year, the value realized upon stock
option exercises, the value realized upon the vesting of restricted
stock, and performance share plan payouts. Some analyses will also
include the value of other forms of compensation for a given year
(e.g., perquisite values, pension contributions).



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 161

Realizable pay is the potential value that an executive could realize at
a point in time if the executive “cashed in” on all outstanding long-
term incentives granted over a period of time, plus the salary and
bonus paid to the executive over that period. Realizable pay has be-
come popular because it demonstrates how the potential pay an ex-
ecutive could earn changes over time with movements in the stock
price. It is generally easier to use for comparisons across companies,
because it is less dependent on the timing of executive stock option
exercise decisions and the timing of equity vesting than realized pay.
Many compensation committees make it a practice to review realiz-
able pay on a relative basis compared to peers and a small minority of
companies have begun to include the results of these comparisons
in their proxy statements.



162 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Chapter 20. The Proxy Statement
and Compensation Discussion and
Analysis

In the past, the proxy statement discussion and disclosure of executive
compensation was viewed largely as a legal compliance document. Cor-
porate legal departments generally took the lead in drafting the materials
with support from the compensation function in assembling the informa-
tion required for the compensation tables. As a result, proxy statements
were often challenging to read. Technical jargon was used frequently and
the bare minimum level of disclosure required to comply with regulations
was often provided.

With the advent of the management Say on Pay vote, companies now
view the proxy statement — and particularly the Compensation Discus-
sion and Analysis (CD&A) — as a critical communications document. Rath-
er than a compliance document, the CD&A and supporting materials in
the proxy statement are the means for the company to make the case that
its executive compensation program is effective in supporting pay for per-
formance, aligning management’s interests with those of shareholders,
and retaining key executives. As a result, companies have been working to
modify their disclosure to make proxy statements more user friendly and
better communications documents.

Below is a brief summary of some of the key developments in proxy state-
ments, with a focus on the CD&A.

Use of Executive Summary

In our view, the executive summary is the most important section of the
CDG&A. It provides the company with an opportunity to boil down its com-
pensation decisions in the relevant year to the essentials. Even though the
SEC does not require an executive summary, most companies have ad-
opted this approach. While each company has a different compensation
program, well-written executive summaries of the CD&A share the same
structure:



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 163

* Company Performance: This section provides a written or graphic sum-
mary of the performance of the company. It addresses total sharehold-
er returns and key financial performance metrics (e.g., performance
on metrics used in the annual incentive and long-term incentive plan).
Companies can also include important strategic (e.g., product launches
or business acquisitions) and operating achievements (e.g., cost reduc-
tions or succession planning) from the year.

* Incentive Compensation Payouts: This section describes how the com-
pany’s performance impacted annual incentive and long-term incentive
plan payouts (e.g., above-plan financial performance led to above-tar-
get annual incentive payouts). If performance fell short of expectations,
it will demonstrate that there was an associated impact on pay.

* Target Compensation Levels: This section describes how the commit-
tee arrived at target pay decisions for the executive team, referencing
the company’s pay philosophy.

* Compensation Design Changes: This section highlights any changes
to the company’s annual or long-term incentive design, or any other
executive compensation changes. It also provides the reason for why
these changes were made.

¢ Highlight Positive Program Features ("What We Do/What We Don't
Do"): This section informs shareholders of positive aspects of the
program (e.g., ownership guidelines, stock holding requirements, an-
ti-hedging policy, etc.) and negative aspects that are absent from the
program (e.g., excise tax gross ups, single-trigger vesting of equity fol-
lowing change in control, excessive perquisites, etc.).

Assist the Reader

Proxy statements used to read like legal documents. Anyone who has ever
read a proxy statement knows that the legal style of writing is not neces-
sarily meant to ease understanding.

The SEC has encouraged companies to use plain English in describing
their compensation programs, and companies have taken this to heart.



164 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

There is a lot of jargon specific to the field of executive compensation,
and this should be avoided wherever possible. Below is an example of how
some jargon can be eliminated from disclosure:

Legalese: “To ensure compliance with IRC Section 162(m), our compen-
sation committee established an umbrella plan that insured an initial level
of funding of 0.5% of net income for each named executive officer, other
than the CFO who is not a covered employee under IRC Section 162(m)”

Plain English: “In order to make sure that incentive payments to our exec-
utives were tax deductible for the company, we established a maximum
annual incentive payment to each executive equal to 0.5% of net income.”

As part of the move toward clearer communication, companies have tried
to aid the reader by breaking up long blocks of text and calling out the
topic under discussion more clearly. In addition, many companies have
introduced tables and graphics to enhance the readability of the proxy
statement.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Does the executive summary clearly tell the company’s pay-for-perfor-
mance story?

* Does the CD&A tell the reader why we did what we did, or does it mere-
ly say what we did?

* Are there opportunities to condense the document?

e Can we avoid unnecessary jargon and use plain English?



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 165



166 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Chapter 21. Director Compensation

Oversight of director compensation can fall under the purview of either
the governance and nominating committee or the compensation com-
mittee depending on the individual company’s approach to committee
responsibilities. However, whichever committee oversees director com-
pensation, the issues will be the same. Establishing director compensation
is inherently a little awkward, as the directors are responsible for estab-
lishing their own pay levels.

Director Compensation Philosophy

To date, director compensation has not been subject to the same level of
external scrutiny as executive compensation. There are likely two main
reasons for this. First, director compensation levels are relatively modest
when compared with executive compensation levels. And second, direc-
tor compensation programs are not highly leveraged. Much of the contro-
versy surrounding executive compensation stems from concerns about
the pay-for-performance relationship or excessive levels of non-perfor-
mance-based pay. Director compensation is generally not explicitly de-
signed to link director pay levels with performance, aside from paying di-
rectors in the form of company equity. While in the past, directors often
had non-performance-based pay in the form of perquisites, insurance
benefits, or retirement plans, today’'s director compensation programs
do not generally include significant amounts of special benefits. Unlike
executives, directors are generally not participants in retirement plans or
covered by severance arrangements. Due to concerns about potential lit-
igation based on excessive director compensation, some companies have
established limits on director compensation particularly in their share-
holder-approved plans.

To manage director compensation programs effectively, the key objec-
tives that committees focus on are 1) aligning the interests of directors
with those of long-term shareholders, and 2) attracting and retaining
qualified directors to serve on the board. In practice, the first objective is
addressed by ensuring that a meaningful portion of director compensa-



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 167

tion (50% or more) is delivered in the form of company equity and often
deferred until the director retires from the board. With this kind of com-
pensation structure, directors can accumulate a meaningful ownership
level over time, which will give them a financial incentive to act in the
long-term interests of shareholders, consistent with their responsibilities
as directors or stewards of the company.

To address the second objective of attracting and retaining qualified di-
rectors, most companies ensure that they establish a competitive target
pay positioning for directors. The majority of companies use the same
peer group for establishing both director compensation and executive pay
levels. This may seem somewhat counterintuitive, as directors are typically
drawn from a broader array of backgrounds than executive talent. How-
ever, most companies opt to use the same peer group because it sends a
message that directors are being treated comparably to executives. Sim-
ilarly, if executive pay is targeted at the median of the peer group, most
companies will target director pay at the median as well to ensure that
management does not feel that directors are less rigorous in assessing
their own pay.

Director Compensation Design

Director compensation program design is simpler than executive pay, but
can have a number of different elements and may depend on the role a
director serves on the board. When we consider director pay, we often
break it down into the following components:

* Compensation for Board Service
* Compensation for Committee Service
* Compensation for Committee Leadership

e Compensation for Board Leadership (Non-Executive Chair/Lead Direc-
tor)

Compensation for Board Service



Compensation for board service consists of elements of pay that all direc-
tors will receive without regard to committee service or leadership roles.
The most common pay elements for board service are the annual retainer
(which can be delivered in cash, shares, or a combination of each), board
meeting fees, and an annual equity grant.

In the traditional model of director pay, a director would receive an annual
retainer in cash (e.g., $60,000), board meeting fees (e.g., $1,500 per meet-
ing), and an annual equity grant (e.g., $75,000). Assuming a board had 10
meetings a year, this would result in total compensation of $150,000 for
board service.

Over the past 5-10 years, many large companies have moved to simplify
their director compensation programs by eliminating board meeting fees
and/or committee meeting fees and providing a single retainer divided be-
tween cash and equity. For example, a single annual retainer of $150,000
may be delivered $75,000 in cash and $75,000 in deferred-equity shares.

Many companies will provide directors with the option to defer receipt
of all or a portion of any annual cash retainer and meeting fees until they
leave the board. This can provide directors with a useful means of manag-
ing their tax liability.

Equity compensation for directors is almost always provided in the form
of shares or stock units. In the past, companies frequently provided direc-
tors with stock options, but stock options have been heavily criticized for
incentivizing excessive risk-taking. Pay critics would prefer that directors
be paid in shares outright so they are focused on increasing the value of
the stock price while being mindful of downside risk. Similarly, very few
directors participate in long-term performance plans because they might
be conflicted in establishing goals for such plans and assessing perfor-
mance levels.

Equity grants for directors are most often established as a targeted annual
dollar value, which is converted into a number of shares at the time of
grant (often the annual meeting date). In many cases, the directors are
granted stock units that are immediately vested, but are deferred and set-



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 169

tled when the director leaves the board. The rationale for this approach is
that a vesting requirement is not critical to retain directors and the com-
pany wants to use equity primarily to align directors with shareholders
over the long term.

Compensation for Committee Service

Under the traditional model of director compensation, all members of a
committee would receive a fee for participating in meetings (e.g., $1,500
per meeting). The rationale for this approach was that the number of meet-
ings held was a good proxy for the committee workload and time com-
mitment. Historically, the audit committee tended to have more meetings
than other committees and often had a heavier workload. In years where
the committee had more meetings, compensation would rise, and in years
of lower activity, compensation would fall. In addition, board members
who serve on multiple committees may be paid more than members who
serve on only one committee. A minority of companies provide a commit-
tee service retainer in lieu of committee meeting fees.

As mentioned in the compensation for board service section above, many
large companies have decided to eliminate board and committee meet-
ing fees. For many of these companies, the rationale is that over time, all
board members will make similar contributions through board and com-
mittee service and, even if not they are not attending meetings in person,
directors will review materials and provide input prior to meetings. Addi-
tionally, these companies would rather have equitable compensation for
all board members. However, even among these companies, they gener-
ally differentiate compensation for committee or board leadership roles.

Compensation for Committee Leadership

Most boards recognize that serving as the chair of a committee is a sig-
nificant step up in terms of responsibility and workload. The chair will
typically spend more time working with management or outside advisors
to develop meeting agendas and reviewing meeting materials, and may
be called upon to vet ideas with other committee members in advance
of meetings. In addition, chairs are occasionally required to interact with



170 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

shareholders. The typical form of incremental compensation for commit-
tee chairs is a supplemental retainer to recognize their additional role. The
audit committee chair tends to receive the highest incremental compen-
sation among all committee chairs, followed closely by the compensation
committee chair. The table below provides typical retainers among For-
tune 100 companies:

m Compensation m Governance

75™ Percentile $25,000 $20,000 $17,500 $20,000
50t Percentile ~ $20,000 $20,000 $15,000 $15,000
25% Percentile $15,000 $15,000 $10,000 $10,000

Compensation for Board Leadership

Depending on the company’'s management structure, non-executive
board leadership roles can be one of the following:

* Non-Executive Chairperson

* Lead Director (Fixed Individual)

* Lead Director (Rotating)

Non-Executive Chairperson Compensation

In companies where there is not a combined chairperson and CEO, the
non-executive chairperson serves as the leader of the board. Given the
expansive responsibilities of this position (e.g., has authority to call board
meetings, chairs board meetings, shapes board agendas, and represents
the organization externally), the compensation levels are often close to
2x that of a typical director. The market range of compensation for this
role is broad, reflecting the differences in the scope of the role at different
companies.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 171

Total Non-Exec
Total Board Total Non-Ex- Chair Comp

Compensation

ecutive Chair (as a multiple of

(Cash + Equity) Compensation | total board comp)
75" Percentile $298,750 $287,500 1.95x
50t Percentile $275,000 $225,000 1.85x
25t Percentile $253,750 $200,000 1.50x

Lead Director Compensation

In companies where there is a combined chairperson and CEO role or
an executive chairperson, the lead director is responsible for leading the
executive sessions of the board outside the presence of the CEO. In most
companies, a single director is charged with the role of functioning as the
lead director for all executive sessions; in other companies, different di-
rectors may take the role in different meetings on a rotating basis. In cases
where a single director is charged with the role, they are typically provided
with additional compensation to reflect their responsibilities.

The incremental compensation for the lead director is typically provided
in the form of a supplemental retainer with the amount of compensation
comparable to what is provided to the chair of a major committee (e.g.,
audit or compensation).

Lead Director Compensation for Fortune 100:

25t Percentile 50t Percentile 75t Percentile

$23,750 $25,000 $30,000

Director Stock Ownership Guidelines

To help to ensure that directors have a meaningful financial stake by which
their interests are aligned with the interests of the company’s sharehold-
ers, many large companies have established director stock ownership



172 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

guidelines. In practice, most directors find it relatively easy to comply with
these guidelines because a substantial portion of their annual compen-
sation opportunity is provided in the form of company equity. The table
below summarizes the typical elements of director stock ownership re-

quirements:

Program Element Market Approach

Basis for
Requirement

Requirement
Time to Comply
Shares Counted

Toward
Compliance

Assessment of
Compliance

Consequence if
Noncompliant

Majority of companies define as a multiple of annual
retainer

Minority of companies define as a number of shares or
as a dollar amount

3x—-5x annual retainer is common
Five years to comply from joining the board

Shares owned outright

Unvested restricted stock or restricted stock units (in
some cases on a net-of-tax basis)

Annual testing of compliance

Many companies use an average stock price over a
period of time (e.g., average for the year)

Most companies expect directors to comply, but do not
have formal consequences for noncompliance

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

¢ Is our compensation philosophy (e.g., peer group, target pay position-
ing, etc.) for director compensation consistent with our approach for
executive compensation? If not, why?

* Could our director compensation program be improved through sim-

plification?

* Does our director compensation adequately recognize the contribu-
tions of board members who take on leadership responsibility?

* Does our director compensation program provide a sufficiently high
proportion of compensation in the form of company stock?



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 173



174 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Chapter 22. Compensation Risk
Review

In 2009, the SEC began requiring companies to disclose material risks
arising from the compensation programs for all employees. The rationale
for this new risk disclosure requirement was the perception that certain
forms of compensation arrangements (e.g., uncapped bonus plans, stock
options, or commission plans) could create incentives for management
to expose the company to risk in the hopes of getting outsized returns.
It should be noted that while the disclosure requirement is triggered
only when material risks are identified, all companies are also required to
search for such risks proactively.

Since 2009, there have been almost no examples of companies disclos-
ing that their compensation programs raise meaningful risk concerns. To
date, most companies instead disclose that the company has reviewed
its compensation programs and determined that they do not generate a
meaningful risk for the company.

What does this mean for you as a compensation committee member? In
practical terms, it should mean that some time prior to filing your annual
proxy statement, the company should provide the committee with a risk
assessment of the company’s compensation programs. This is most often
done by a company’s HR and risk staff, often in conjunction with outside
compensation advisors. Critical to this assessment is ensuring that the
compensation program does not encourage employees (individually or as
a group) to make decisions or take actions that will expose the company
to significant risk. Most companies address this concern by demonstrating
that their compensation programs balance different performance mea-
sures over different time frames. Additionally, they demonstrate that there
are supporting design features and operational and governance process-
es to help ensure that undesirable behavior (from a risk perspective) will
not result in outsized compensation payments. There are a variety of ap-
proaches used to conduct the risk review, but they all tend to incorporate
several key features as summarized in the table below:



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

175

Summarize
Plans

Pay-Mix
Analysis

Risk-Mitigating
Design Features

Internal
Controls

» Number of participants

e Time Frame

» Performance Measures

» Total Spend

» Low/Median/Max payouts

» Percentage of pay
delivered as salary, bonus,
and LTl vehicle (at target
and based on actual pay)

* Broken out by employee
level/area of the business

» Aspects in aggregate or
by plan that mitigate risk
(e.g., bonus caps, multiple
measures, deferrals,
ability to exercise negative
discretion, stock retention
requirements, stock
ownership guidelines,
clawbacks, etc.)

* Process for calculating
performance results for
plans and determining
payouts

Auditing Process

Potential conflicts of
interests in control
functions, if any

¢ Ensures that
compensation
committee knows
relative scope of the
various compensation
plans

« Demonstrates
degree of balance in
compensation program
across different
measures and different
time frames

« Demonstrates how
pay mix varies with
employee’s ability to
impact performance

» Ensures compensation
committee that plan
has “built-in" risk
mitigators that reduce
the likelihood of risky
behavior resulting in
outsized compensation

» Ensures compensation
committee of accuracy
of plan payouts and
addresses concerns
about self-interested
parties biasing results



Plan » Role of control function * Provides comfort to
Governance staff not participating in the committee that
plan in design process there is adequate

oversight of plans up

* Role of compensation ¢ .
front in the design

commiittee in approving

plan designs and overall [ and at year-
payouts end in determining
payouts

For most compensation committees, the compensation risk review tends
to be addressed in a brief discussion, as most companies have few risk
concerns related to compensation. However, for compensation commit-
tee members operating in the financial services industry, the risk review
can involve significant time and effort because these companies are sub-
ject to considerable regulatory scrutiny. Because of the severity of the
financial crisis and the view that inappropriate incentive compensation
design contributed to undesirable employee behavior, large financial ser-
vices companies (primarily banks) have been required to change process-
es around incentive compensation design significantly.

At this point, it is unclear if the type of regulatory scrutiny around com-
pensation and risk applied to the financial sector will ever be applied to
other industries, as most industries do not have the same potential for
systematic risk as financial services.

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

* Do participants in the design play a critical role in assessing perfor-
mance and determining payouts? If so, what controls are in place to
ensure that they act in the company'’s interests?

* Do we have any uncapped incentive payments? If so, what processes
are in place to avoid windfall compensation for participants in these
plans?



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 177

What ability do we have to reduce incentive compensation payments
or recover payments already made in the event that an executive has
engaged in inappropriate risk-taking?



178 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 179

Chapter 23. Leadership Development
and Succession Planning

In our interviews with directors, several pointed out that the responsibili-
ties of their committees in many cases have expanded beyond compensa-
tion to include oversight of leadership development, succession planning,
and/or employee diversity. In fact, many compensation committees have
been renamed to incorporate human resources, human capital, or orga-
nization into the name of the committee to recognize the committee'’s
broader role in human capital management.

In some ways, it is a natural fit for leadership development and succes-
sion planning to fall under the purview of the compensation committee.
Two of the key compensation objectives — the attraction and retention of
talent and ensuring pay for performance — are each critical to the com-
pany’s leadership development and strategic planning. Given the role of
the compensation committee in overseeing the compensation design and
in reviewing the CEO's assessment of his or her direct reporters’ perfor-
mance, the compensation committee is well informed about the strengths
and weaknesses of the senior executive team and what compensation
structures are in place to support their retention.

Where the compensation committee does have oversight of leadership
development and succession planning, significant time will be dedicated
over the course of the year to talent reviews and a current understanding
of the succession plans. Talent reviews are frequently conducted for each
area of the organization and typically cascade down from the top of the
organization. For example, the CEO may conduct a talent review of each
of his or her direct reporters, or the general counsel may conduct a talent
review of the legal function, identifying potential successors to the gen-
eral counsel role, as well as second-level legal succession candidates. The
goal of the talent review should be to identify the strengths of the current
staff, as well as where there are needs to develop current staff further or
recruit externally to supplement existing staff. The talent review also feeds
directly into succession planning by identifying individuals as potential



successors to more senior executives, citing development needs they may
have before they are ready to move to the next level.

Several directors pointed out to us that leadership development and suc-
cession planning are areas where members of the existing management
team may feel somewhat conflicted. For example, a CEO has an obliga-
tion to the organization to identify those employees that may be able to
function as a suitable replacement for him or her in the near term and
long term. Identifying and developing a strong successor can yield great
benefits for the organization at the time that a CEO transition occurs. Un-
fortunately, from the perspective of the CEO, identifying a successor is
likely a low priority. By identifying and developing a strong candidate to
succeed him or her, the CEO may be helping the board and the company,
but is also harming the CEO’s own job security. If the board knows that
the company has a strong succession candidate, they may be more likely
to terminate the CEO or accelerate any transition plans if the company’s
performance is weak. When it comes to the management team that sup-
ports him or her, the CEO may have a stronger incentive to identify and
develop succession candidates, but the management team will likely be
more conflicted about the benefits of identifying successors that might
potentially replace them in their own roles.

In this context, it is critical that the board members take leadership devel-
opment and succession planning seriously, as they have the most to lose
if the process does not work well. As discussed earlier, when boards have
to look outside of the company to find a successor to the CEO, it typically
costs the company more money and is more likely to be a risky transition.
Turnover below the CEO level is similarly expensive and can be disruptive
to the functioning of the management team.

When the board prioritizes leadership development and succession plan-
ning, it can become a priority for the CEO and the management team
as well. If management understands that their individual performance as-
sessment will include an evaluation of the progress they have made in de-
veloping and implementing a succession plan, they will pay attention to it.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 181

In our experience, we have found that compensation committees that
take leadership development seriously dedicate significant time to the ef-
fort and incorporate one of two processes:

* Annual Meeting: Dedicated to leadership development and succession
planning across the organization (typically held in the summer)

¢ Periodic Reviews: Review of talent within a functional area (e.g., fi-
nance, HR, etc.) of the organization at each meeting of the committee

During the course of the year, board members often get exposure to the
senior management team to contribute to executives’ development, as
well as to gain a greater ability to assess future executive talent within the
organization.

From a compensation perspective, it is also critical to periodically review
the equity holdings of senior management to understand what the com-
pany has in place in terms of unvested equity value that serves as “hand-
cuffs” by increasing the cost to the executive of voluntarily leaving the or-
ganization or the cost to another organization of recruiting the executive.

Beyond leadership development and succession planning, some commit-
tees also have responsibility for oversight of employee diversity. In these
cases, it is common for management to provide the committee with pe-
riodic reports on employee demographics by different areas of the orga-
nization. For example, management may provide information about the
percentage of the employee population that is female or a racial minority,
and it may supplement this report with similar information for specific lev-
els of the company.

Ideally, management will provide the committee with some sort of bench-
marking of the above percentages. There are several perspectives that
should be of interest to the committee to the extent they are available:

* Changes in demographics over time

* Comparison to relevant benchmarks (e.g., typical representation in the
industry/profession)



182 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

Comparison to company’s own long-term goals for diversity

Key Questions for Committee Members to Ask:

What are the compensation committee’s responsibilities for the over-
sight of leadership development and succession planning?

How will management support the committee in fulfilling our leader-
ship development and succession planning responsibilities?

What is our plan if the CEO suddenly departs the organization? Our
CFO? Our general counsel?

Does our current level of employee diversity expose us to potential crit-
icism? Legal action?



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 183

Chapter 24. Conclusions

While executive compensation is subject to considerable external scruti-
ny, and any compensation committee is potentially at risk for criticism of
decisions they make, it is our view that executive compensation is a key
tool that — when used correctly — can help an organization achieve its
goals. When the pay design goes awry, however, pay levels can become a
distraction for members of the board and the management team.

Key Lessons

Our position as compensation advisors has provided us with a unique van-
tage point to view the evolution of the role of the compensation commit-
tee. While in the past, the committee may have been too closely aligned
with management, today’s committees take their independence and ob-
jectivity seriously. What many critics of executive compensation prac-
tices fail to understand is that even with the best intentions, it is almost
impossible to create an effective compensation design that will not be
criticized by someone. Compensation committees have to balance com-
peting objectives in compensation design and have to be able to prioritize
the concerns of the many different constituencies that will weigh in on the
compensation design, whether their input is solicited or not.

Some of our peers in the consulting profession have raised concerns that
executive compensation practices run the risk of evolving over time to a
“one-size-fits-all” approach. They fear that due to the disproportional in-
fluence of shareholder advisory firms on executive compensation design,
compensation committees will cave to compensation designs dictated by
the policies of these firms. For example, since ISS uses total shareholder
return (TSR) as a key component in its pay-for-performance model, there
is a risk that compensation committees may move to long-term incentive
designs based on relative TSR to mimic ISS’s quantitative tests. Similarly,
a compensation committee that is overly concerned with ISS may select
peers based less on their own definition of the competitive market for tal-
ent and more on the basis of who ISS views as the right peers.



184 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

We believe these fears are overstated. We agree that ISS and Glass-Lewis
tend to evaluate compensation programs using a “one-size-fits-all” ap-
proach that may fail to recognize that different organizations have very
good reasons for using compensation designs that do not comply with
their policies. However, in our experience, compensation committees
function as an effective bastion against the prescriptive policies of share-
holder advisors. Most of the committees we see in action recognize that
ISS and Glass-Lewis are influential over a portion of the company’s shares,
but in most cases only influence the voting of a minority of shareholders.
The committee understands that doing something only for the purposes
of pleasing ISS can significantly diminish the effectiveness of the compen-
sation program in achieving its objectives as an overall management tool.

For example, many companies continue to use the same performance
goals in their short-term incentive plan and long-term performance plan.
ISS and Glass-Lewis each view this as a problematic pay practice that
they consider putting excessive weight on a single performance mea-
sure. However, compensation committees recognize that while ISS and
Glass-Lewis may have a point in certain circumstances, there are plenty
of situations where using a single measure for the short-term and long-
term performance plans makes a great deal of sense. For example, many
companies that use economic profit as a performance measure will use it
in both the annual and long-term performance plans. Organizations that
use economic profit effectively understand that using other performance
measures will dilute the company’s focus on its true definition of perfor-
mance. Compensation committees in such an organization would need to
work to ensure that other aspects of the compensation program address
the concerns of shareholder advisors.

Successful committees do a great job of balancing the concerns of the
different constituencies. They will pick their battles with shareholder ad-
visers or with management over fundamental principles that the commit-
tee views as critical to the compensation design. Wisely, committees will
cede ground on more minor points that may run against the committee’s
preferred approach, but will help the committee to win other battles with
management or shareholder advisers elsewhere.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 185

Looking Forward

If we scroll forward to what the next few years hold for compensation
committees, we expect to see a continued movement toward more effec-
tive review and refinement of the pay-for-performance relationship. We
expect that it will be standard practice for compensation committees to
conduct an annual evaluation of the prior year's compensation to see how
well the company'’s pay levels aligned with the company’s performance.
While many compensation committees already do this today, we expect
to see a higher degree of sophistication in the future with compensation
reviewed not just from the perspective of the Summary Compensation Ta-
ble, but also from the perspective of realizable pay. We also expect com-
mittees to review the pay-for-performance relationship over a 3—5-year
period, in addition to a year-over-year look at compensation changes.
Sophisticated committees will review the company’s performance from
multiple perspectives beyond total shareholder returns to examine top-
line and bottom-line growth as well as financial returns on capital.

While a retrospective review is important for understanding how well
the pay program has worked in the past, in order to ensure the program
works well going forward, the selection of performance measures linked
to strategic objectives and shareholder value creation will be critical.
Compensation committees need to make certain that management uses
performance measures in the annual and long-term incentive designs that
effectively measure success against strategic objectives and implementa-
tion of such objectives.

Beyond selecting the right performance measures, the committee and
management have to work together to make sure that goals are set at
the right level. Many companies rely heavily on an internal budgeting pro-
cess to establish performance objectives. This approach can lead to goals
that fall short of external expectations for performance. Management and
the compensation committee should review shareholder expectations for
performance along with peer historical performance levels to assess the
rigor of budgeted performance levels. Shareholders are likely to be under-
whelmed if the company achieves its internal performance objectives but
falls short of industry standards. Setting performance goals with adequate



186 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field

rigor will be a leading contributor to appropriate pay-for-performance
connections in the future, along with incentive vehicles that provide ap-
propriate linkages to shareholder value creation.

To date, the annual Say on Pay vote has been a non-issue for most compa-
nies with very high approval rates. However, there has been an enhanced
focus on shareholder outreach and engagement with shareholders on the
subject of executive compensation. We expect this trend to continue in
the future. At times, committee chairs will be called upon to speak di-
rectly with shareholders to explain the rationale for the company’'s com-
pensation decisions. This type of communication, when combined with
the clear disclosure in the CD&A, can help to keep the Say on Pay vote a
non-issue.

We hope that this book has provided some helpful guidance in terms of
compensation committee processes that can help you to be successful
in your committee service. In addition, we believe that it can serve as a
valuable reference tool to provide you with a baseline understanding of
key aspects of compensation design.



A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field 187



188 A Practical Guide to Compensation Committee Service: Lessons from the Field



Compensation
Advisory Partners

Cca

Please contact us at (212) 921-9350 if you have any
questions about the issues discussed in this book or would
like to discuss your own executive compensation issues.
You can access our website at www.capartners.com for
more information on executive compensation.



